

UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS Faculdade de Engenharia Elétrica e de Computação

Rafael Oliveira Nunes

Study of Electromigration in Integrated Circuits at Design Level

Estudo da Eletromigração em Circuitos Integrados na Fase de Projeto

Campinas

2020

Rafael Oliveira Nunes

Study of Electromigration in Integrated Circuits at Design Level

Estudo da Eletromigração em Circuitos Integrados na Fase de Projeto

Thesis presented to the School of Electrical and Computer Engineering of the University of Campinas in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Electrical Engineer, in the area of Electronics, Microelectronics and Optoelectronics.

Tese apresentada à Faculdade de Engenharia Elétrica e de Computação da Universidade Estadual de Campinas como parte dos requisitos exigidos para a obtenção do título de Doutor em Engenharia Elétrica, na Área de Eletrônica, Microeletrônica e Optoeletrônica

Supervisor/Orientador: Dr. Roberto Lacerda de Orio

Co-supervisor/Coorientador: Dr. Leandro Tiago Manera

Este trabalho corresponde à versão final da tese defendida pelo aluno Rafael Oliveira Nunes, orientado pelo Prof. Dr. Roberto Lacerda de Orio e coorientado pelo Prof. Dr. Leandro Tiago Manera.

Campinas

2020

Ficha catalográfica Universidade Estadual de Campinas Biblioteca da Área de Engenharia e Arquitetura Rose Meire da Silva - CRB 8/5974

 Nunes, Rafael Oliveira, 1983-Study of electromigration in integrated circuits at design level / Rafael Oliveira Nunes. – Campinas, SP : [s.n.], 2020.
 Orientador: Roberto Lacerda de Orio. Coorientador: Leandro Tiago Manera. Tese (doutorado) – Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Faculdade de Engenharia Elétrica e de Computação.
 1. Eletromigração. 2. Circuitos integrados. 3. Microeletônica. 4. Confiabilidade (Engenharia). 5. Circuitos eletrônicos. I. Orio, Roberto Lacerda de, 1984-. II. Manera, Leandro Tiago, 1977-. III. Universidade Estadual de Campinas. Faculdade de Engenharia Elétrica e de Computação. IV. Título.

Informações para Biblioteca Digital

Título em outro idioma: Estudo da eletromigração em circuitos integrados na fase de projeto Palavras-chave em inglês: Electromigration Integrated circuits **Microelectronics** Reliability (Engineering) Elecronic circuits Área de concentração: Eletrônica, Microeletrônica e Optoeletrônica Titulação: Doutor em Engenharia Elétrica Banca examinadora: Leandro Tiago Manera [Coorientador] José Alexandre Diniz Leonardo Breseghello Zoccal Pietro Maris Ferreira Michelly de Souza Data de defesa: 05-06-2020 Programa de Pós-Graduação: Engenharia Elétrica

Identificação e informações acadêmicas do(a) aluno(a) - ORCID do autor: 0000-0001-6105-9100

⁻ Currículo Lattes do autor: http://lattes.cnpq.br/1309786111812453

Comissão Julgadora – Tese de Doutorado

Candidato: Rafael Oliveira Nunes RA: 143170

Data da defesa: 05 de junho de 2020

Título da Tese: "Study of Electromigration in Integrated Circuits at Design Level (Estudo da Eletromigração em Circuitos Integrados na Fase de Projeto)"

- Prof. Dr. Leandro Tiago Manera (Presidente)
- Prof. Dr. José Alexandre Diniz
- Prof. Dr. Leonardo Breseghello Zoccal
- Prof. Dr. Pietro Maris Ferreira
- Profa. Dra. Michelly de Souza

A Ata de Defesa, com as respectivas assinaturas dos membros da Comissão Julgadora, encontra-se no SIGA (Sistema de Fluxo de Dissertação/Tese) e na Secretaria de Pós-Graduação da Faculdade de Engenharia Elétrica e de Computação.

To my wife Tamare Kazume without whose never-failing sympathy and encouragement this thesis would have been finished in half the time.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank God Almighty for giving me the strength, knowledge, ability and opportunity to undertake this research study and to persevere and complete it satisfactorily. Without his blessings, this achievement would not have been possible.

I would like to express my gratitude to Prof. Roberto Orio for the opportunity to study for a doctorate under his supervision, for his guidance, and all support throughout my work. Sincerely, the dedication and hours invested in this work give me the conviction that I had an exceptional advisor.

I would like to thanks to my uncle José Edimar Barbosa Oliveira for giving me inspiration and motivation in 2011 to go from Maranhão to Campinas to study at CTI – Centro de Tecnologia da Informação Renato Archer and then at University of Campinas UNICAMP. If he had not given me thought of wisdom, I wouldn't have studied to this level and with this dedication

I thank the staff of the FEEC - Faculdade de Engenharia Elétrica e Computação for keeping a perfect environment of work.

I would like to thank all my colleagues from DSIF, for the moments of technical discussion and of friendship, in special José Ramirez, Orlando Trindade, Júlio Cesar, Elvis Alegria, Jean Pierre, Guilherme Martins, Angie Forero, Jorge Andrés, Marlene Charagua, Clarissa Loureiro, Felipe Fonseca, Leonardo Queiroz, and Estevão Magro.

I would like to thank the dozens of friends that I knew in Barão Geraldo, in special the friends fom ADBarão. The days with these friends made this period easier.

I wish to acknowledge the support and great love of my family, my wife, Tamare; my mother, Ana; my father, Dino; my sister, Adriana; and my brother Tiago. They kept me going on and this work would not have been possible without their input.

This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) - Finance Code 001.

"And without faith it is impossible to please God, because anyone who comes to him must believe that he exists and that he rewards those who earnestly seek him." (Hebrews 11:6)

Abstract

Electromigration damage in interconnects is a well-known bottleneck of integrated circuits, because it causes reliability problems. Operation at high temperatures and current densities accelerates the damage, increasing the interconnect resistance and, therefore, reducing the circuit lifetime. This issue has been accentuated with the technology downscaling. To guarantee the interconnect reliability and, as a consequence, the integrated circuit reliability, traditional methods based on the so-called Blech Effect and on the maximum allowed current density are implemented during interconnect design. These methods, however, do not take into account the impact of the electromigration on the circuit performance.

In this work the traditional approach is extended and a method to evaluate the effect of the electromigration in an integrated circuit performance is developed. The method is implemented in a tool which identifies the critical interconnect lines of an integrated circuit and suggests the proper interconnect width based on different criteria to mitigate the electromigration damage and to increase the reliability. In addition, the variation of performance parameters of the circuit as an interconnect resistance changes is determined. The tool is incorporated into the design flow of the integrated circuit and uses the data from design kits and reports directly available from the design environment.

An accurate analysis of the temperature distribution on the interconnect structure is essential to a better assessment of the interconnect reliability. Therefore, a model to compute the temperature on each metallization level of the interconnect structure is implemented. The temperature distribution on the metallization layers of different technologies is investigated. It is shown that the temperature in the Metal 1 of the Intel 10 nm can increase by 75 K, 12 K higher than in the Metal 2. As expected, the layers that are closer to the transistors undergo a more significant temperature increase.

The tool is applied to evaluate the interconnects and the robustness of different circuits, namely a ring oscillator, a bandgap voltage reference circuit, and an operational amplifier, against electromigration. The operational amplifier, in particular, is thoroughly studied. The proposed methodology identifies critical interconnects which under electromigration cause large variations in the performance of the circuit. In a worst-case scenario, the cutoff frequency of the circuit varies by 65% in 5 years of operation. An interesting finding is that the proposed methodology identifies critical interconnects which would not be identified by the traditional criteria. These interconnects have current densities below the limit recommended by the design rules. Nevertheless, one of such an interconnect leads to a variation of 30% in the gain of the operational amplifier. In summary, the proposed

tool verified that from the 20% paths with a critical current density, only 3% degrades significantly the circuit performance.

This work brings the study of the reliability of the interconnects and of integrated circuits to the design phase, which provides the assessment of a circuit performance degradation at an early stage of development. The developed tool allows the designer to identify critical interconnects which would not be detected using the maximum current density criterion, leading to more accurate analysis of the robustness of integrated circuits.

Keywords: electromigration; interconnect; reliability; integrated circuit design.

Resumo

O dano por eletromigração nas interconexões é um gargalo bem conhecido dos circuitos integrados, pois causam problemas de confiabilidade. A operação em temperaturas e densidades de corrente elevadas acelera os danos, aumentando a resistência da interconexão e, portanto, reduzindo a vida útil do circuito. Este problema tem se acentuado com o escalonamento da tecnologia. Para garantir a confiabilidade da interconexão e, como consequência, a confiabilidade do circuito integrado, métodos tradicionais baseados no chamado Efeito Blech e numa densidade de corrente máxima permitida são implementados durante o projeto da interconexão. Esses métodos, no entanto, não levam em consideração o impacto da eletromigração no desempenho do circuito.

Neste trabalho, a abordagem tradicional é estendida e um método para avaliar o efeito da eletromigração no desempenho de circuito integrado é desenvolvido. O método é implementado em uma ferramenta que identifica as interconexões críticas em um circuito integrado e sugere larguras adequadas com base em diferentes critérios para mitigar os danos à eletromigração e aumentar a confiabilidade. Além disso, é determinada a variação dos parâmetros de desempenho do circuito conforme a resistência das interconexões aumenta. A ferramenta é incorporada ao fluxo de projeto do circuito integrado e usa os dados dos *kits* de projeto e relatórios diretamente disponíveis no ambiente de projeto.

Uma análise precisa da distribuição de temperatura na estrutura de interconexão é essencial para uma melhor avaliação da confiabilidade da interconexão. Portanto, é implementado um modelo para calcular a temperatura em cada nível de metalização da estrutura de interconexão. A distribuição de temperatura nas camadas de metalização de diferentes tecnologias é investigada. É mostrado que a temperatura no Metal 1 da tecnologia Intel 10 nm aumenta 75 K, 12 K mais alta que no Metal 2. Como esperado, as camadas mais próximas dos transistores sofrem um aumento de temperatura mais significativo.

A ferramenta é aplicada para avaliar eletromigração nas interconexões e na robustez de diferentes circuitos, como um oscilador em anel, um circuito gerador de tensão de referência tipo *bandgap* e um amplificador operacional. O amplificador operacional, em particular, é cuidadosamente estudado. A metodologia proposta identifica interconexões críticas que quando danificadas por eletromigração causam grandes variações no desempenho do circuito. No pior cenário, a frequência de corte do circuito varia 65% em 5 anos de operação. Uma descoberta interessante é que a metodologia proposta identifica interconexões críticas que não seriam identificadas pelos critérios tradicionais. Essas interconexões operam com densidades de corrente abaixo do limite recomendado pelas regras de projeto. No entanto, uma dessas interconexões leva a uma variação de 30% no ganho do amplificador operacional. Em resumo, a ferramenta proposta verificou que dos 20% de caminhos com uma densidade crítica de corrente, apenas 3% degradam significativamente o desempenho do circuito.

Este trabalho traz o estudo da confiabilidade das interconexões e de circuitos integrados para a fase de projeto, o que permite avaliar a degradação do desempenho do circuito antecipadamente durante o seu desenvolvimento. A ferramenta desenvolvida permite ao projetista identificar interconexões críticas que não seriam detectadas usando o critério de densidade máxima de corrente, levando a uma análise mais ampla e precisa da robustez de circuitos integrados.

Palavras-chaves: eletromigração; interconexão; confiabilidade; projeto de circuito integrado.

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 -	- Electronic circuit before (a) and after (b) be evaluated under harsh	
	conditions similar to Venus.	28
Figure 1.2 -	- Reliability bathtub curves of a chip for different applications	29
Figure 1.3 -	- Bathtub curve change with introduction of a new technology node	29
Figure 1.4 -	- Costs of transistors and EDA tools for different technology nodes	30
Figure 1.5 -	- Number of papers published in leading journal and conferences related	
	to IC reliability	31
Figure 1.6 -	- Evolution of the minimum interconnect width in five decades based on	
	Intel processors, from the 10 $\mu {\rm m}$ until the 10 nm technology node	32
Figure 1.7 -	- Evolution of power, frequency and number of transistors in micropro-	
	cessors with the technology evolution	33
Figure 1.8 -	- FEOL and BEOL of a CMOS chip structure.	34
Figure 1.9 -	- Illustration of a void formed in an interconnect line under EM	35
Figure 1.10	–Typical Cu interconnect made of a TaN diffusion barrier and a Ta	
	adhesion liner	36
Figure 2.1 -	- Different diffusion paths in a line: through lattice, grain boundaries,	
	along interfaces and surfaces.	41
Figure 2.2 -	- Wire under EM. (a) Void below a via. (b) Voids and hillocks formed at	
	the cathode and anode end of the line. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	42
Figure 2.3 -	-Schematic of void formation in Cu during an EM stress for kinetics	
	limited by (a) void nucleation and (b) void growth and migration	43
Figure 2.4 -	- Diffusivity variation with the temperature for 4 different metals	47
Figure 2.5 -	- Heat flow through the BEOL and the FEOL due to power dissipation	
	of the transistors' operation	47
Figure 2.6 -	- A schematic diagram of the combined effect of transistor self-heating	
	(SH) and Joule heating (JH) heats up metal line, with the heat flowing	
	mainly through the metal and the substrate	49
Figure 2.7 -	- Typical Cu interconnect structure	51
Figure 2.8 -	- Cross section of an interconnect. In (a), the growing void has not	
	reached the wire barrier and the current passes throught the Cu. In	
	(b), the void reaches the barrier and the current begins to flow through	
	part of the barrier.	52
Figure 2.9 -	- Resistance change of an interconnect during the phases of nucleation	
	and growth.	53

Figure 2.10	-Resistance ratio variation as a function of time according to (2.14) for	
	XFAB 180 nm technology	53
Figure 2.11	-Different crystal lattice structures in metallic interconnects (a) poly-	
	crystalline, (b) near-bamboo and (c) bamboo	54
Figure 2.12	–Time for a wire resistance variation of 10% as a function of the tem–	
	perature for three activation energies operating with a current of 1.1	
	mA, and a width of 60 nm, thickness of 170 nm and length of 125 $\mu \mathrm{m}.$	56
Figure 2.13	$-\beta$ change with T_{use} variation from 300 K to 398 K, for T_{acel} of 500 K	
	and 600 K, and $T_0 = 293$ K	57
Figure 2.14	–Different interconnect structures and possible equivalent representation	
	with resistances.	59
Figure 3.1 -	- Layout top view of an interconnect line with paths made of Metal 1,	
	Metal 2, and Metal 3 and the corresponding currents flowing through	
	them	61
Figure 3.2 –	(a) Proposed methodology flow to calculate the resistance change of	
	interconnects due to EM. (b) Main procedures to calculate the EM	
	resistance change.	63
Figure 3.3 -	(a) Methodology flow to calculate the ΔT_{PT} of the interconnects. (b)	
	Main procedures to calculate the ΔT_{PT}	66
Figure 3.4 -	Performance parameters P1 (a), P2 (b) and P3 (c) variation due to EM	
	on one wire. In (d) P1, P2 and P3 reduction after t_1 and t_2	67
Figure 3.5 -	Classification of the critical lines due to EM based on $\Delta R/R_0$	68
Figure 3.6 -	Example of the EM criteria applied to evaluate four interconnects L1,	
	L2, L3, and L4. (a) Blech product. (b) Maximum current density. (c)	
	Resistance degradation. (d) Venn Diagram	69
Figure 3.7 –	Sizing the width of the lines L1 and L2 following EM criteria. (a) Based	
	on the maximum current density. (b) Based on the Blech product. (c)	
	Based on the resistance degradation. (d) Comparison between the three	
	criteria.	71
Figure 3.8 -	- Methodology flow to evaluate the EM critical blocks in a chip	72
Figure 3.9 -	- Full methodology to evaluate the EM on chips. Cadence tools are used	
	complemented by tools to calculate the ΔR_{EM} , ΔT_{PT} , the width of the	
	lines, and to determine the critical lines, which were developed during	
	this work.	74
Figure 4.1 -	Top view of the temperature distribution on a chip with a primary heat	
	source in the center.	75
Figure 4.2 –	- Cross section of the BEOL and FEOL structure model used to simulate	
	the temperature in metal layers	76

Figure 4.3 – Temperature on the BEOL with the heat source in the center of the
chip at $x = 400 \ \mu m$ and the power dissipation of 400 W/m
Figure 4.4 – Temperature distribution with the primary heat source near the corners
of the chip. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $.$
Figure 4.5 – Temperature on the BEOL with the primary heat source near the corner
A of the chip at x = 280 μm and the power dissipation of 400 W/m 78
Figure 4.6 – Temperature distribution with heat sources at the center and near the
corners of the chip. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $.79$
Figure 4.7 – Temperature on the BEOL with the primary heat source near the cor-
ners A and D at $x = 280 \ \mu m$ and $x = 520 \ \mu m$, respectively and in the
center of the chip at $x = 520 \ \mu m$, with $P_T = 400 \ W/m$
Figure 4.8 – Comparison between the maximum ΔT_{PT} estimated with (2.8) and
simulated in Figure 4.3 and 4.5.
Figure 4.9 – Parameters to evaluate the lines of an operational amplifier: (a) Length.
(b) Width. (c) Metal layer. (d) Resistance. (e) Current density ratio in
DC operation. (f) Current density ratio in static operation 81
Figure 4.10–(a) ΔT_{PT} in metal layers. (b) Temperature estimated in the metal layers. 82
Figure 4.11–(a) Time to the resistance of the lines increase 10% with a ΔT_{PT} vari-
ation from -3% to 3% . (b) Similar analysis with the critical resistance
of the lines of 40% . \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 32
Figure 4.12– $(\Delta R/R_0)_V$ of the lines with the ΔT_V from 0 to 3 K
Figure 4.13–(a) Power dissipation of the six blocks. (b) Temperature map of the chip. 84
Figure 4.14–Histograms from parameters of the 1000 lines. (a) Length. (b)
$(\Delta R/R_0)_{MAX}$
Figure 4.15– ΔT_{PT} in the layers from the blocks B1 to B6
Figure 4.16– T and T_{max} of the Metal 1 lines from B1 to B6
Figure $5.1 - Vdd$ line of an operational amplifier designed with three metal layers.
The interconnect paths are enumerated from 1 to 70. $\ldots \ldots \ldots 90$
Figure 5.2 – Critical paths from the Vdd line according to: (a) j_{max} . (b) jL. (c)
$\Delta R/R_0$. (d) LPF. (e) LPF and $\Delta R/R_0$. (f) LPF or $\Delta R/R_0$
Figure 5.3 – Venn diagram with the critical paths of the Vdd line. $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 99
Figure 5.4 – Interconnects with 177 paths of the operational amplifier 100 $$
Figure 5.5 – Critical lines from the operational amplifier according to: (a) j_{max} . (b)
jL. (c) $\Delta R/R_0$. (d) LPF. (e) LPF and $\Delta R/R_0$. (f) LPF or $\Delta R/R_0$ 100
Figure 5.6 – Veen diagram with the critical paths of the operational amplifier. $$ 101
Figure 5.7 – Comparison of the width of the lines and the suggested width 101 $$
Figure $6.1 - \text{Ring}$ oscillator layout and detailed view showing the evaluated lines 102
Figure 6.2 – Testbench for lines of a ring oscillator under EM. $\ldots \ldots \ldots$

Figure 6.3 – De	elay change of the oscillator as a function of the resistance increase. $% \left[103,100,100,100,100,100,100,100,100,100,$
Figure 6.4 – Fr	requency change in oscillator as a function of the resistance increase 104
Figure $6.5 - La$	ayout of the bandgap voltage circuit
Figure 6.6 – Cu	urrent density through lines connected to the drain and source of the
tra	ansistors. $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
Figure $6.7 - V$	BG change due to EM in the drain interconnects for different opera-
tic	on times. \ldots
Figure 6.8 – Cu	urrent density though the lines with the designed width and the
m	inimum width. $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
Figure 6.9 – VI	BG change for the lines with the minimum width
Figure 6.10–V	BG variation when all lines are assumed to be under EM 109 $$
Figure 6.11–O	perational amplifier used to evaluate the EM effect of the lines resis-
ta	nce variation on the circuit performance degradation
Figure 6.12–La	ayout extract from the evaluated differential amplifier with the avdd
lir	ne highlighted
Figure 6.13–Vo	bid length relative to the line length and the line resistance increase
as	a function of time for 353 K (80°C) and 398 K (125°C) 111
Figure 6.14–Vo	bid length relative to the line length variation with temperature and
lir	ne resistance change after 1 year
Figure 6.15–Tr	cansconductance variation for the 20 Opamp transistors due to the
EI	M in several lines for 125 °C. $\dots \dots \dots$
Figure 6.16– V_T	T_{TH} variation for the 20 Opamp transistors due to the EM in several
lir	nes for 5 year operating at 125 °C
Figure 6.17–U	nit gain frequency variation with time for different interconnects un-
de	er EM at 125 °C
Figure 6.18–U	GF variation with temperature after 7 years
Figure 6.19–Ga	ain variation in 5 years of operation at $125 ^{\circ}C$ 115
Figure 6.20–Ct	utoff frequency variation in 5 years of operation at 125 °C 115
Figure 6.21–Sv	ving voltage variation in 5 years of operation at 125 °C 116
Figure 6.22–Se	ettling time variation in 5 years of operation at 125 °C. $\dots \dots \dots$
Figure 6.23–Ga	ain and UGF variation considering all interconnects under EM simul-
ta	neously
Figure 6.24–Se	ettling time and swing voltage variation for all lines affected simulta-
ne	ously by EM
Figure 6.25–(a) Structure used to evaluate the temperature change in local layers
wi	th the changes in: (b) metal volume fraction in $V_{INT}M2$ from 10% to
50	% and (c) via volume fraction in $V_{VIA}23$ from 1% to 4%
Figure 6.26– Δ	T_{PT} in local layers for different V _{INT} M2 for $P_T = 500$ W/m 120

Figure 6.27– ΔT_{PT}	$_{T}$ in local layers for different fractions of V _{VIA} 23 for $P_{T}=500$ W/m.121
Figure 6.28–Effect	tive thermal conductivity variation of the via layers as a function
of the	e via volume fraction
Figure 6.29–Effect	tive thermal conductivity variation of the interconnect layers as a
funct	ion of volume fraction. $\ldots \ldots 122$
Figure 6.30–Effect	tive thermal conductivity variation of the BEOL as a function of
interc	connect layer volume fraction for various via layer volume fraction. 123
Figure 6.31–Temp	perature variation in the BEOL layers for a 45 nm technology due
transi	istors self-heating for a dissipated power of 500 W/m 124
Figure 6.32–Temp	perature variation difference in the BEOL layers for two cases of
volum	ne via and interconnect variation for $P_T = 500$ W/m
Figure 6.33–Minir	num interconnect pitch of modern technologies
Figure 6.34–Minir	num interconnect cross-sectional area of modern technologies. $\ . \ . \ 126$
Figure 6.35–Temp	erature change of the metallic layers for different technologies. A
power	r dissipation of 200 W/m is considered
Figure 6.36– $\Delta R/R$	R_0 variation of the Metal 1 lines of modern technologies consider-
ing th	ne temperature increase from Figure 6.35
Figure 6.37–Mean	-time-to-failure of interconnects of modern technologies under a
curre	nt density of 2 MA/cm ²
Figure A.1–Void	growth in a interconnect. (a) Initial nucleated void. (b), (c), and
(d) V	oid growth through the metal until it reached the barrier layer $.\ 156$
Figure B.1–Illust	ration of electrostatic and "electron wind" forces on a metal 159 $$
Figure B.2–The s	stress difference $\Delta \sigma_c$ in a segment of length L. The arrows in the
line ir	ndicates the tensile stress in the cathode and the compressive stress
in the	e anode. Electron flow direction is from cathode to anode 161
Figure C.1–Maxim	mum allowed current density prediction of different technologies 162
Figure C.2–Maxin	mum allowed current density prediction converted to design
nome	nclature. \ldots
Figure C.3-Effect	tive resistivity of the metal lines estimated from 2012 to 2026. $$ 164
Figure C.4–Total	interconnect length evolution estimated for MPU
Figure C.5–Pitch	evolution of the intermediate lines estimated from 2012 to 2026 165
Figure C.6–Barrie	er and cladding thickness evolution estimated from 2012 to 2026. . 165
Figure E.1–Coop	er dual-damascene process: nucleation in (a) via and trench pat-
ternir	ng, (b) barrier layer deposition, (c) Cu electroplating and excess
remov	val by CMP, and (d) capping layer deposition
Figure F.1 – Parar	neters β and η as a function of the average aspect ratio a_r 191
Figure F.2-Effect	tive thermal conductivity of the Metal 1 layer as a function of the
avera	ge aspect ratio (a_r) for $h_0 = 11720$ nm and $L_1^{int} = 130$ nm 191

- Figure F.3 Effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL as a function of the average aspect ratio (a_r) with L_n^{int} and L_n^{via} dimensions from a 45 nm technology.192

List of Tables

Table 2.1 – Typical activation energies (E_a) for different EM diffusion paths in Al	
and Cu lines.	41
Table 2.2 – Parameters for Cu, Al, Co and Ru.	46
Table 2.3 – Parameters of the interconnects based on the ITRS reports	51
Table 2.4 – Parameters based on the XFAB 180 nm technology used to calculate	
the $\Delta R/R_0$ ratio from (2.14) [1]	54
Table 3.1 – Parameters from the interconnect of Figure 3.1.	62
Table 4.1 – Parameters used in the BEOL model simulated in the COMSOL [2]	77
Table 4.2 – Normalized values for current and width of the six blocks.	85
Table 4.3 – Thickness of the lines and via layers from GPDK 45 nm	85
Table $4.4 - EM$ evaluation of the blocks B1 to B6	86
Table 5.1 – EDA data of the Vdd paths enumerated from 1 to 40. \ldots . \ldots . \ldots	91
Table 5.2 – EDA data of the Vdd paths enumerated from 41 to 70	92
Table 5.3 – Parameters to estimate the resistance and the temperature change	92
Table 5.4 – Parameters of the metal layers to calculate k_{eff}^{int}	93
Table 5.5 – Parameters of the via layers to calculate k_{eff}^{via}	93
Table 5.6 – Temperature of the metal layers. \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	93
Table 5.7 – Evaluation of the critical paths 1 to 40 with the EM criteria. \ldots	94
Table 5.8 – Evaluation of the critical paths 41 to 70 with the EM criteria	95
Table 5.9 – Dimensions of the paths 1 to 40 of the Vdd interconnect. \ldots \ldots \ldots	96
Table 5.10–Dimensions of the paths 41 to 70 of the Vdd interconnect	97
Table $6.1 - Parameters$ based on the XFAB 180 nm technology used to calculate	
the $\Delta R/R_0$ ratio from (2.14).	104
Table 6.2 – Oscillator performance for $\Delta R/R_0$ of 100% and 200% at 353 K	104
Table 6.3 – Parameters used to evalute the Al lines of the bandgap circuit. \ldots	106
Table 6.4 – VDD line evaluation for the bandgap circuit. $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	106
Table 6.5 – Summary of performance parameters indicating the most critical inter-	
connect and the line condition from the traditional evaluation. \ldots	118
Table 6.6 – Thickness and width of the lines and via layers from FreePDK45 tech-	
nology.	119
Table 6.7 – The modes A, B, C and D used to evaluate the ΔT_{PT}	124
Table C.1 – A spect ratio, minimum wire width, and metal thickness of different tech-	
nologies.	162
Table G.1–EDA data of the Opamp paths. .	193

Table	G.2-	EDA	data	of the	Opamp	paths.			•	 •		 	•	 •	•		•	194
Table	G.3-	EDA	data	of the	Opamp	paths.	• •		•	 •	•	 	•		•		•	195
Table	G.4-	EDA	data	of the	Opamp	paths.			•	 •		 	•	 •	•		•	196

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

ADE	Analog design environment
BEOL	Back-end-of-line
CMOS	Complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor
CPU	Central processing unit
$C.\Delta R/R_0$	evaluation of the paths for the maximum resistance change
$\mathrm{C.}j$	evaluation of the paths for the maximum current density
$\mathrm{C.}jL$	evaluation of the paths for the Blech product
DRC	Design ruler checker
DUT	Device under test
EAD	Electrically aware design
EM	Electromigration
ESD	Electrostatic discharge
Fc	Cut-off frequency
\mathbf{FC}	Flip chip
FreePDK45	Open-Access-based PDK for the 45nm technology node
FEM	Finite element method
FEOL	Front-end-of-line
GPDK	Generic process design kit
GPU	Graphics processing unit
HCI	Hot carrier injection
HDL	Hardware description languages
IC	Integrated circuit
IP	Intellectual property

ITRS	International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors
JH	Joule heating
LPF	Lines prone to failure
LVS	Layout Versus Schematic
MTTF	Mean time-to-failure
NBTI	Negative bias temperature instability
PBTI	Positive bias temperature instability
PPF	Paths prone to failure
REF	Reference
SM	Stressmigration
SoC	System on a chip
SPICE	Simulation Program with Integrated Circuit Emphasis
ST	Settling time
TDDB	Time-dependent dielectric breakdown
TM	Thermomigration
TTF	Time-to-failure
UGF	Unit gain frequency
ULK	Ultra low-k dielectric
ULSI	Ultra large-scale integration
VBG	Voltage bandgap
VHDL	VHSIC Hardware Description Language
XFAB	X-FAB Silicon Foundries

List of Symbols

A	Corss-sectional area of the interconnect metal
A_b	Cross-sectional area of the barrier layer
A_{int}	Area occupied by the metals in a layer
A_m	Constant which comprises the material properties and the geometry of the interconnect
a_r	Aspect ratio, the average ratio of the length and the thickness of the interconnect lines
A_{via}	Area occupied by the vias in a layer
С	Concentration of atoms
D	Diffusivity
D_0	Pre-exponential factor dependent on the diffusion mechanisms
e	Elementary charge
E_a	Activation energy
F	Fraction of diffusing atoms for the various diffusion paths
f_c	Cutoff frequency
g_m	Transconductance
h	Thickness of the interconnect lines
h_0	BEOL total thickness
Ι	Electrical current
j	Current density
j_{acel}	Current density used in accelerated tests
j_{max}	Maximum current density
J_E	Flux of metal atoms due to EM
jL	Blech product

jL_c	Blech product threshold
k	Boltzmann's constant
k_i	Thermal conductivity of the insulator
k_m	Thermal conductivity of the metal
k_{eff}^{beol}	Effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL
k_{eff}^{int}	Effective thermal conductivity of the metal
k_{eff}^{via}	Effective thermal conductivity of the via
L	Length of the interconnect lines
L_n^{int}	Height of the interconnects for a particular layer \boldsymbol{n}
L_n^{via}	Height of the vias for a particular layer n
l_v	Length of the void
m	Total number of interconnect layers
$MTTF_{acel}$	Interconnect lifetime considering the results obtained from accelerated
ucci	tests
$MTTF_{use}$	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions
$MTTF_{use}$	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via}	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Number of vias
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T T	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors Temperature
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T T T_0	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors Temperature Reference temperature
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T T T_0 T_{acel}	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors Pomerature Reference temperature Temperature used in accelerated tests
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T T T_0 T_{acel} T_{max}	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors Temperature Reference temperature Temperature used in accelerated tests Maximum temperature in the interconnect lines
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T T T_0 T_{acel} T_{max} t_b	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors Power dissipated by transistors Temperature Reference temperature Temperature used in accelerated tests Maximum temperature in the interconnect lines Diffusion barrier thicknesses
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T T T_0 T_{acel} T_{max} t_b v_{EM}	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors Power dissipated by transistors Temperature Reference temperature Temperature used in accelerated tests Maximum temperature in the interconnect lines Diffusion barrier thicknesses Atomic drift velocity due to the EM driving force
$MTTF_{use}$ n N_{via} P_T T T_0 T_{acel} T_{max} t_b v_{EM} V_{int}	tests Interconnect lifetime estimated for normal use conditions Current density exponent Current density exponent Number of vias Power dissipated by transistors Power dissipated by transistors Temperature Reference temperature Temperature used in accelerated tests Maximum temperature in the interconnect lines Diffusion barrier thicknesses Atomic drift velocity due to the EM driving force Volume fraction of the metal lines

V_{via}	Volume fraction of the vias
w	Width of the interconnect lines
W_{j}	Calculated width of the metal lines for the maximum current density
W_{jL}	Calculated width of the metal lines for the Blech product
W_r	Calculated width of the metal lines for the maximum resistance change
w_{min}	Minimum width of the technology
W_{via}	Width of the vias
w_b	Width of the diffusion barrier
z	Distance in the BEOL from heat source
Z^*	Represents the sign and the magnitude of the momentum transfer be- tween the conducting electrons and the metal atoms
α	Linear temperature coefficient of the metal
$lpha_b$	Linear temperature coefficient of the barrier layer resistivity
η	Dimensionless parameter used to estimate the k_{eff}^{int}
β	Dimensionless parameter used to estimate the k_{eff}^{int}
ΔR	Resistance variation
$\Delta R/R_0$	Resistance change ratio
$(\Delta R/R_0)_{crit}$	Critical resistance change ratio
Δt	Time variation
ΔT_{acel}	T_{acel} variation in relation to the reference temperature
ΔT_{PT}	temperature change in metallic layer due to the P_T
ΔT_{use}	T_{use} variation in relation to the reference temperature
Ω	Atomic volume
ϕ_{int}	Volume fraction of the metal layers
ϕ_{via}	Volume fraction of the via layers
$ ho_b$	Resistivity of the barrier layer

ρ	Resistivity of the interconnect metal
$ ho_0$	Resistivity at the reference temperature
σ_0	Initial stress in the metal line
σ_{th}	Maximum stress the metal line can withstand

Contents

Lis	st of	Figures	12
Lis	st of	Tables	18
1	Intr	oduction	28
	1.1	Brief Overview of Integrated Circuits' Reliability	28
	1.2	Integrated Circuit Scaling	33
	1.3	Back-end-of-line and Front-end-of-line Structures	33
	1.4	Electromigration Damage on the Wires	35
	1.5	State of the Art of Interconnects and Electromigration	36
	1.6	Thesis Statement and Contributions	38
	1.7	Outline of the Thesis	39
2	Fun	damentals of Electromigration	40
	2.1	The Electromigration Phenomenon	40
	2.2	Impact of the Current Density	44
	2.3	Impact of the Temperature	46
		2.3.1 Self-Heating from Transistors	47
		2.3.2 Joule Heating in the Interconnects	48
	2.4	Impact of Electromigration on Wire Resistance	49
		2.4.1 Interconnect Structure	50
		2.4.2 Interconnect Resistance Variation	52
	2.5	Interconnect Lifetime	54
		2.5.1 Time-to-Failure of Interconnects	55
		2.5.2 Electromigration Statistical Distribution	58
	2.6	Parasitic Extraction of the Interconnects	58
3	Met	thodology to Evaluate the Impact of Electromigration on Chips during	
	Des	ign	61
	3.1	Traditional EM Methodology	61
	3.2	Estimation of an Interconnect Resistance Change due to EM $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	63
	3.3	Description of an IC Performance Change under EM $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	66
	3.4	Identification of the Critical Lines based on EM Criteria \ldots	68
	3.5	Evaluation of Interconnects' Dimensions	70
	3.6	Evaluation of the EM Critical Blocks	72
	3.7	EM Methodology Flow	73
4	Ana	lysis of the Temperature Estimation	75
	4.1	Temperature Distribution on BEOL Interconnects	75

	4.2	Impact of the Temperature Estimation on $\Delta R/R_0$	
	4.3	Evaluation of Critical Blocks based on the Temperature	
5	Electromigration Evaluation Tool		
	5.1	Tool Description	
	5.2	Tool Application for a Line of an Operational Amplifier	
	5.3	Tool Application for an Operational Amplifier	
6 Electromigration Impact on Circuits and Technology: Study Case		stromigration Impact on Circuits and Technology: Study Cases \ldots 102	
	6.1	Evaluation of a Ring Oscillator under Electromigration \hdots	
	6.2	Evaluation of a Bandgap Circuit under Electromigration $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $	
	6.3	Evaluation of an Operational Amplifier under Electromigration 109	
	6.4	Evaluation of the Temperature in a 45nm Technology	
		6.4.1 Temperature Change of the Local Layers with Volume Fraction	
		Variation on a Single Layer	
		6.4.2 Effective Thermal Conductivity of the BEOL	
		6.4.3 Temperature Change of the Local Layers with Volume Fraction	
		Variation on All Layers	
	6.5	Comparision of Technologies and the State of the Art $\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .$	
7	Con	nclusion and Outlook	
	7.1	Future work perspectives	
	7.2	Publications	
Bi	bliog	raphy	
ΔF		JDIX A Resistance Change of a Metal Line due to EM	
AF		VDIX B Blech Product	
AF		$NDIX \ C \ ITRS \ Roadmap \ \ldots \ $	
AF		VDIX D Algorithm	
AF		VDIX E Dual-Damascene Fabrication Process	
AF	PEN	NDIX F n and β for ΔT_{PT}	
AF		NDIX G Interconnects of the Opamp $\dots \dots \dots$	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

1 Introduction

In this chapter, the aspects that lead the electromigration (EM) to be a critical issue for integrated circuits (ICs) is presented. The increased importance of the EM with the technology development is described based on the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) reports. These reports have motivated the EM research resulting in an increased number of publications in leading IC magazines and conferences. As a consequence, the reliability analysis of ICs becomes more accurate at each new technology node.

1.1 Brief Overview of Integrated Circuits' Reliability

Reliability is the quality of being trustworthy or of performing consistently well [3]. The reliability evaluation of an IC is a complex task and should be taken into account during the design, fabrication, and test procedures. The continuous improvement of the failure rates to extend the chip lifetime intensifies the reliability evaluation complexity [4]. The semiconductor industry considers new procedures to maintain the IC reliability at each new technology node, as the EM effects and other issues become more relevant in a smaller chip with a higher density of devices [5–7].

Extreme environmental conditions of radiation, pressure and temperature affect the reliability of ICs and shorten the chip lifetime. In 2016, NASA engineers evaluated an IC under a temperature (460 °C) and a pressure (9.4 MPa) similar to Venus [8]. Figure 1.1 shows that the IC was significantly deteriorated after 521 hours, but still maintained its functionality at the end of the test. The success of the interplanetary expeditions is highly dependent on the reliability of ICs.



Figure 1.1 – Electronic circuit before (a) and after (b) be evaluated under harsh conditions similar to Venus [8].

Figure 1.2 shows the three typical stages of a reliability bathtub curve of a chip. At the infant mortality stage, the failure rate increases, reaches a maximum value and then decreases [9]. During the regular operation stage, the chip suffers random failures and the failure rate is normally insignificant. It is important to note that the regular phase is longer for military and space than for commercial applications. At the wearout stage, the failure rate increases due to the aging effects. With the introduction of new technology nodes, the wear-out failure curve moves to the left, which means earlier device degradation and reduced chip lifetime, as shown in Figure 1.3 [9].

The aging effects of a chip is a consequence of different stress sources, mainly mechanical, thermal, and electrical. Nevertheless, improvements in the fabrication and design methodology minimize these effects [10–12]. In the design phase, the designer analyzes the aging effects and adjust the circuit using electronic design automation (EDA) tools. In practice, these tools allow the designer to choose the devices, architectures, geometries of the interconnects and transistors and, most fundamentally, to simulate the voltage, current, temperature and other stimuli applied to the circuit during operation. As long as the EDA tools are systematically released to incorporate new methods and models, the IC designer considers different aging effects in the circuit analysis.



Figure 1.2 – Reliability bathtub curves of a chip for different applications [9].



Figure 1.3 – Bathtub curve change with the introduction of a new technology node [9].

Although the cost of chip production, including the expenses with wafer, mask, test, and package increased with the technology downscaling, the relative cost to produce a transistor decreased. Figure 1.4 shows the chip cost per transistor evolution with the technology [13, 14]. Observe that the transistor cost in an advanced circuit, such as graphics processing unit (GPU), central processing unit (CPU), or system on a chip (SoC), reduced 12.5 times from 65 nm to 10 nm technology. The higher density of transistors in the new technologies compensates for the increased cost to create a new advanced circuit. As a result, the relation dollar per transistor, named relative cost, reduces in each new technology node.

The IC design corresponds to a significant percentage of the cost to create a new advanced circuit. Figure 1.4 shows the IC design evolution in four groups: software, verification, physical and other [13]. The group named other involves the prototype, validation, architecture, and intellectual property (IP) qualification. Note that the investment to design a chip depends on the technology used. While the cost to design in 40 nm is 37.7 million dollars, in 10 nm, this value increases to 174.4 million, 4.6 times more expensive. The increased investments are due to the need to guarantee the reliability of the circuits in modern technologies.

The number of publications in the leading microelectronic journals and conferences denotes the relevance of the research on IC reliability. Figure 1.5 shows the number of publications in the IC reliability field in three periods organized into three groups: device, interconnect, and the other, the latter referring to circuit-level reliability and electrostatic discharge (ESD) reliability, for example [15]. Together with the significant increase in the number of publications regarding IC reliability, the reliability of interconnects became the



Figure 1.4 – Costs of transistors and EDA tools for different technology nodes [13, 14].



Figure 1.5 – Number of papers published in leading journal and conferences related to IC reliability [15].

most studied subject, with 38% of the publications in the period 2011 to 2017.

Hot carrier injection (HCI), negative bias temperature instability (NBTI), in addition to positive bias temperature instability (PBTI) and time-dependent dielectric breakdown (TDDB) are degradation effects that cause aging in the transistors. Below 90 nm, the analysis of these effects is a requisite for design flows targeting quality and reliability [16]. These reliability effects modify essential parameters, such as the threshold voltage and the mobility factor [17]. These changes affect timing delays, power, frequency, leakage, linearity, gain, and every possible specification that may appear in digital, analog, or RF design.

Electromigration, stressmigration, and thermomigration are aging effects in interconnects. Discovered by Gerardin in 1861, the electromigration became well-known in the 1960s, when on-chip aluminum (Al) interconnects were observed to fail in the presence of electric current [18, 19]. In the 1980s, the degradation of the interconnects due to the stress gradients became an important issue [20]. This failure mechanism, named stressmigration, is driven by the hydrostatic stress gradient generated in the lines and does not require electron flow to occur. In turn, the thermomigration is the failure mechanism due to the presence of a thermal gradient [21]. In general, the combinational effect of stressmigration, thermomigration, and electromigration cause line failure.

The semiconductor industry used different materials in the integrated circuit to boost circuit performance and reliability. Al lines were the industry standard until 1997, when IBM introduced the copper (Cu) interconnect technology [22]. With the reduction



Figure 1.6 – Evolution of the minimum interconnect width in five decades based on Intel processors, from the 10 μ m until the 10 nm technology node [24].

of the interconnect dimensions, Cu interconnects became more appropriate, since Cu is a better conductor than Al. Cu lines reduce the propagation delays and power consumption leading to ICs with better performance. The transition from Al to Cu leads to significant developments of the fabrication techniques, including the introduction of tantalum (Ta) and tantalum nitride (TaN) barrier metal layers to isolate the silicon from the Cu atoms [23].

Figure 1.6 shows the evolution of the minimum interconnect width in five decades based on Intel processors, from the 10 μ m until the 10 nm technology node [24]. As the metal line width was reduced, the current density through them increased. The maximum current density estimated by ITRS was 1.32 MA/cm² for 22 nm technology. For 14 nm, the maximum current density increased to 1.68 MA/cm² [25]. Although the IC's became more compact with better performance, the interconnect shrinking resulted in a more severe EM, as the elevated current density accelerates the EM damage [26–28].

The high compatibility and gain of performance with the interconnect and transistor shrinking is better observed in advanced circuits, like microprocessors. Figure 1.7 illustrates the power, frequency and number of transistors in microprocessors with the technology evolution [29]. There are two interesting points to note. First, power and frequency change became flat after 2005, with the development of the multi-core processors, an essential condition to maintain a lower temperature and improve chip reliability. Second, the transistor count still follows the exponential growth line, following Moore's Law for five decades with some adjustments.



Figure 1.7 – Evolution of power, frequency and number of transistors in microprocessors with the technology evolution [29].

1.2 Integrated Circuit Scaling

The interconnect resistance increase with the metal line shrinking degrades the RC delay and the signal propagation. As the RC delay of the interconnect becomes longer than the gate delay for technologies below 100 nm, the reduction of the capacitance of the interconnects becomes a priority [30]. In order to reduce the capacitance and to achieve an RC delay target, the recent technologies employ insulators with lower dielectric constants. Ultra low-k (ULK) dielectrics applied in high-performance circuits below the 65 nm technology minimize the capacitance and, as a consequence, the RC delay and the cross-talk [31].

Besides the dielectric constant reduction, the attenuation of the RC delay increase includes the use of thinner barriers, the reduction of the line sheet resistance and the improvement in circuit design. A thinner barrier maximizes the copper volume and minimizes the line resistance increase. In turn, the use of copper alloy reduces sheet resistance in comparison to aluminum alloy. In terms of circuit design, the signal propagation along the line improves with the introduction of repeaters within the interconnects and the use of interconnect line shielding techniques [32].

1.3 Back-end-of-line and Front-end-of-line Structures

Figure 1.8 shows the front-end-of-line (FEOL) and back-end-of-line (BEOL) of a chip structure [33]. The BEOL composes the solder bump used for flip-chip (FC)



Figure 1.8 – FEOL and BEOL of a CMOS chip structure [33].

bonding, connecting the chip and substrate and also providing a heat dissipation path from the chip. Below the solder bump, a more extensive passivation layer protects the chip from the moisture and external impact. The BEOL corresponds to the region forming the interconnects layers, including dielectric insulators and metal/via layers. The FEOL corresponds to the devices in the substrate, transistors, capacitors, resistors, and inductors. The primary purpose of the BEOL is to realize the interconnection of the devices in the FEOL.

Advanced BEOL processes generally prescribe a maximum number of metalization layers, including the local, intermediate, and global lines. Each of these lines have different thicknesses based on their electrical functions. The local lines connect the circuit elements that are close to each other, and have the tightest linewidths and the roughest topography [30]. The local lines are generally subjected to the highest temperatures, since they are the nearest from the active area. In turn, the global layers distribute the supply voltage and transmit the clock and global signals of the chip. As the global lines conduct the highest currents of the circuit, these lines are fabricated with larger dimensions to avoid the EM. While the vias connect the different metalization layers, the contact plugs connect the device in the substrate to the first metal layer. In Figure 1.8, tungsten (W) and Cu fill the contact plugs and vias, respectively. Tungsten is used to fill plugs due to the high thermal conductivity and low thermal expansion [34]. As the contact plugs are filled with a material different from the Cu interconnects, a separate step is required to fill the contact plugs. Besides via and contact layers, the BEOL contains interlayer dielectrics, barrier layers, adhesion layers, plug layers, and a passivation layer.

1.4 Electromigration Damage on the Wires

As described in the last section, the aging effects on the interconnect wires are of main concern for IC reliability. The understanding of EM is crucial for designing reliable IC's in modern technologies. Under EM, the wire is affected by hillocks and voids, where the first leads to short circuits and the last in an increased interconnect resistance or even open circuits [35].

Figure 1.9 illustrates an interconnect line under EM. The electrons through the line displace the Cu atoms to the anode end of the line creating a void on the cathode end of the line. With the continuous electron flow, the void size increases and the current path becomes more resistive. Depending on the affected line, the resistance increase affects the circuit performance seriously.

The resistance change of an interconnect due to EM can be described by two phases: a step and a linear phase [36]. In the step phase, the current initially flows through the Cu, until the void spans the line thickness and forces the current to pass through the more resistive barrier layer, generally made from Ta/TaN. In the linear phase, the current flows through a larger length in the barrier, as the void grows along the line. Since the line resistance continues to increase, a critical resistance change is used to determine the line failure.



Figure 1.9 – Illustration of a void formed in an interconnect line under EM [36].

1.5 State of the Art of Interconnects and Electromigration

The continuous shrinking of IC's challenges the semiconductor industry to meet the interconnect scaling roadmap. First, the scaling of interconnect dimensions raises the conductor resistance as well as the capacitance to adjacent lines, thus affecting the chip performance [37–39]. Also, the Cu line resistivity is expected to increase significantly because of electron scattering at the interfaces and grain boundaries [40–42]. Second, in the traditional Cu dual-damascene technology [43], Cu requires a TaN/Ta diffusion barrier [44–46]. The presence of the barrier reduces the Cu fill area since it is difficult to further scale the diffusion barrier at such small dimensions [47, 48]. Third, scaled wires operate under higher current densities, accelerating the effect of EM. Therefore, alternative conductors are currently under investigation to replace Cu and further boost the performance demanded by advanced technology nodes [37, 49–51].

Figure 1.10 illustrates a typical Cu interconnect made of TaN diffusion barrier and Ta adhesion liner extensively used in modern technologies. According to the ITRS roadmap, the wire has the width, spacing, pitch and thickness dimensions fabricated 0.7 times smaller at each new technology node [53]. Since the Ta/TaN barrier and liner layers reach thicknesses below 2 nm, following the estimated ITRS scaling for technologies below 10 nm become extremely difficult, as the thinner barrier reduces its blocking capability to avoid Cu diffusion into the Si substrate. In addition, the Cu lines have larger resistances for interconnects below 10 nm technology, resulting in a high voltage drop along the interconnect [54, 55]. Also, the Cu lines are more susceptible to EM in modern technologies, as the current density increases with the technology evolution. As the wires shrinking exposes Cu and TaN/Ta limitations, the semiconductor industry has evaluated potential replacements.



Figure 1.10 – Typical Cu interconnect made of a TaN diffusion barrier and a Ta adhesion liner [52].
Ruthenium (Ru) and cobalt (Co) are candidate materials to replace the Cu filling in interconnects and vias and also in TaN diffusion barriers and Ta liners [56– 59]. In 2018, Intel adopted Co to replace Cu lines in local interconnects of a 10 nm technology. Co lines support larger current densities without reliability degradation [60– 63], resulting in a significant improvement for EM. Also, Co has been used in recent studies as a replacement for tungsten (W) in the vias, which yields a less resistive path [40]. In turn, Ru interconnects have demonstrated potential for thinner barrier or barrierless integration [43, 64]. The TaN/Ta occupies a larger proportional area of the interconnect section with the technology scaling. Therefore, the substitution of Cu to Co allows using a barrier with smaller dimensions. Ru and Co have been evaluated to replace the Ta as liner materials as they have excellent adhesion to Cu and are thermodynamically stable [56, 65].

In addition to the improvements in interconnect manufacturing, some studies evaluate aspects that affect the EM at the design level. Ref. [66] shows that the lines can be structured into different layout topologies to reduce the EM . Ref. [67] shows that pin positions in a standard cell can be optimized to increase cell lifetime concerning EM. In a benchmark circuit test, the lifetime has increased more than twice [67]. Ref. [68] shows that the impedance mismatch of a driver complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) and driven transmission lines substantially aggravates EM and Joule heating on these lines. Ref. [69] evaluates the impact of cross noise between two adjacent lines under EM and Joule-heating on ultra large-scale integration (ULSI) chip. The cross noise becomes more critical in the today's circuits, which are more compact, with a more significant number of interconnections and a shorter distance between them. All of these analyzes allow the designer to understand how to improve integrated circuit design to mitigate the EM risks.

The methodologies to evaluate EM in the digital and analog designs are different. The digital tools automize all the design flow generating the layout automatically based on the performance expected to the circuit. In turn, the analog tools are semiautomatic and require from the designer the know-how from the physical characteristics of the circuit. The analog designer sizes manually the interconnects in the construction of the layout as also choose different metal layers.

Lines that carry AC and DC currents present differences in the intensity of the EM. The EM is more significant in the lines that supply DC voltage, which generally carry the highest current. Due to their mostly unidirectional currents, the DC lines not suffer the self-healing, a beneficial process where a current change the direction, retarding the EM effects. Signal and clock lines that transport AC signal takes advantage of the self-healing process. Nonetheless, with the current density increase, all the lines carrying AC or DC signal are subject to the EM.

Many studies describe the need for physics-based models considering the particularities of the circuit, not just current density-based models [70–74]. The physical models which take into account variations in temperature and process in the chip, improve the reliability evaluation accuracy compared with the traditional models. [70]. Traditional EM models have two disadvantages. First, they do not accurately model the degradation of the line, and second, they do not consider the resilience in a circuit that can continue to function even after some wires fail [75, 76].

1.6 Thesis Statement and Contributions

To guarantee the interconnect reliability and, as a consequence, the IC reliability, the EDA tools use traditional methods based on the Blech Effect and on the maximum allowed current density during interconnect design [77–81]. The Blech Effect refers to the back flow of atoms due to mechanical stress gradients, which reduces or even compensates the flow due to EM. The base of these methods generally proceeds from the EM tests results with single lines under extreme conditions of temperature and current density. These results are used to define the maximum current density a line can carry for a given technology, and the threshold is considered in the process of chip design and interconnect sizing. However, these conventional methods do not take into account the impact of EM on the circuit performance.

Limitations in the traditional methods motivated the creation of different procedures to turn the EM analysis more accurate [79, 82–84].Nonetheless, these procedures are extensions of the Blech Effect and the current density thresholds and do not focus on IC performance. As a complement to the traditional methods, a method based on the circuit performance improves the EM analysis accuracy, helping the designer to identify the critical lines and resize those to guarantee adequate circuit performance and reliability.

In the scope of this work, we develop a method to identify the critical lines due to EM in an IC at design level. In this way, it is possible to evaluate the metal lines during the design and it allows the designer to resize the lines that are prone to failure. The method is based on the traditional and the resistance change criteria. The principal contributions of this thesis are:

• A method to evaluate the IC performance degradation due to void growth in the lines is provided. The method complements the traditional methods, which relies only on the current density through the lines.

• A method to identify the critical lines in an IC is proposed.

• A method to size the lines based on the traditional and the resistance change criteria is provided. Generally, the designer uses the current density threshold to design the lines.

• The time to failure of the lines based on the maximum resistance change is used to evaluate the circuit performance degradation at design level.

• A method to identify the critical blocks of a circuit considering the temperature distribution on the metal layers is developed.

1.7 Outline of the Thesis

In Chapter 2, the main concepts related to the EM is explained. Initially, the current density and the temperature influence on the EM-induced resistance change of the interconnects is described. Then, the resistance change is used to evaluate the time to an interconnect line failure. The last section briefly describes the statistical distribution related to the EM failure.

In Chapter 3, the methodology to evaluate the EM impact on an IC at the design level is explained. First, the procedures to calculate the resistance change of the lines due to EM is described. Then, the effect of the EM on the performance parameters of an IC is discussed, followed by the description of methods to identify the critical interconnect lines as well as to estimate their widths based on the EM criteria. Finally, the full methodology flow to evaluate the EM impact on an IC and size the interconnect is presented.

In Chapter 4, the temperature change of the interconnect lines due to the transistor operation is investigated. First, the estimated temperature is compared with the temperature simulated with a finite element method (FEM) 2-D model. After, it shows the relation of the estimated temperature inaccuracies in the resistance ratio of the lines. The last session shows the evaluation of the critical circuits based on the temperature.

In Chapter 5, the EM computational tool is described, explaining the procedures to identify the critical lines, to classify the lines as oversized and undersized, and to estimate the width of the lines. The tool is used to evaluate the interconnects from an operational amplifier.

In Chapter 6, the performance of an operational amplifier, a bandgap voltage reference and a ring oscillator circuits under EM is evaluated. After it shows the mean time-to-failure (MTTF) model of a metal line based on the maximum resistance change. In the end, the EM on the 45 nm and state of the art technologies is evaluated. Finally, conclusions and future work perspectives are presented in the Chapter 7.

2 Fundamentals of Electromigration

In this chapter, the main concepts related to the EM is explained. Initially, the current density and the temperature influence on the EM-induced resistance change of the interconnects is described. Then, the resistance change is used to evaluate the time to an interconnect line failure. The last section briefly describes the statistical distribution related to the EM failure.

2.1 The Electromigration Phenomenon

Electromigration (EM) is an atomic displacement caused by collisions between atoms and electrons [85]. Electrons flowing through a metal film collide with the metal atoms producing a momentum transfer. The EM becomes relevant when the electric current is sufficiently high to produce a significant momentum transfer from the electrons to the atoms causing atomic migration. Then, the displaced metal atoms flow to the anode end of the line, in the same direction from the electron flow. At the same time, the lattice defects, named vacancies, flow in the opposite direction, i.e. in the direction of the current flow.

The EM also depends on the structural properties of the interconnects after the fabrication process. A metal lattice vibrates at any temperature above 0 K [86]. The atomic vibrations change the metal atoms positions from their equilibrium and cause electron scattering. A large number of scattering events leads to a significant momentum transfer to the atoms and produces distortions in the lattice. Larger distortions occur at sites with higher density of defects, such as regions with vacancies or in a grain boundary [87]. Grain boundaries are interfaces formed between grains with different crystal orientations. They can act as sinks or sources of lattice sites and are fast diffusivity paths for atomic transport [87]. Hence, the microstructure plays an important role for the EM.

The EM-induced transport is more predominant at interfaces or surfaces than at the bulk or grain boundary (GB) for Cu lines as a consequence of the diffusion mechanism [88]. Diffusion can occur through the bulk, GB, along the interfaces and the surface, as shown in Figure 2.1. Each of these paths has a specific activation energy to initiate the diffusion event, as shown in Table 2.1. The bulk has the highest activation energy, followed by the GB, interface, and the surface, in Cu lines. While the bulk diffusion typically requires the energy of 2.1 eV [89], the surface diffusion requires 0.7 eV [89]. The activation energy for interfacial diffusion depends on the interface materials. For typical Cu interconnects with TaN/Ta barriers and capping layers, the activation energy lies in



- Figure 2.1 Different diffusion paths in a line: through lattice, grain boundaries, along interfaces and surfaces.
- Table 2.1 Typical activation energies (E_A) for different EM diffusion paths in Al and Cu lines [89].

Diffusion process	$E_A (eV)$		
Diffusion process	Cu	Al	
Bulk	2.1	1.4	
Grain-boundary	1.2	0.6	
Surface	0.7	NA	
Interface	0.8-1.3	NA	

the range 0.8-1.3 eV [89].

Note that Cu and Al have different activation energies for diffusion. Due to the higher melting point of Cu, its activation energy is also higher [85]. It is a common technique to introduce a small concentration of Cu in Al lines, which slows down the atomic transport due to EM [89]. The Cu doping acts as an inhibitor of Al migration, decreasing the drift velocity of the Al mass transport and increasing in the incubation time of the CuAl alloy interconnects. In turn, Al(1-2%) [85, 90], Ag (1%)[91], Mn(0.5-4%) [90, 92], Mg(2-4%) [93] and Sn(0.5-2%) [94] can also be introduced in a Cu line to retard the EM [85].

Due to EM, hillocks and/or voids can form in the wires, where the first may lead to short circuits and the last may lead to an increased resistance or even open circuits [85]. Figure 2.2(a) shows a void formed below the via. Figure 2.2(b) shows voids and hillocks formations at the cathode and the anode end of the line, respectively. Although the experimental observations generally indicate that voids and hillocks form in specific regions of the line, some studies show voids and hillocks formed all along the strip [95].



Figure 2.2 – Wire under EM. (a) Void below a via [100]. (b) Voids and hillocks formed at the cathode and anode end of the line [100].

In the technologies with metal line embedded into a rigid confinement [96–98], voids form earlier than hillocks. The earlier occurrence of voids makes void-induced degradation the main mechanism for EM failure [99].

Although there are methods of suppressing hillock formation in coppercontaining conductive traces, improvements are always sought. Therefore, it would be advantageous to develop methods for fabricating copper-containing structures, such as conductive traces, which reduces or substantially eliminates hillock formation thereon.

The EM failure development is described by two distinct phases: a nucleation and a growth phase. During the nucleation phase no voids are visible and the resistance change of the line is very small [101]. A void is nucleated as soon as the mechanical stress reaches a critical magnitude [102]. After the void nucleates, the growth phase starts, where the void can evolve in several different ways until it finally grows to a critical size. In the growth phase, the line has a significant resistance increase or, a severing in a critical case, culminating in an open-circuit.

Accordingly, the EM lifetime given by the time for the void to nucleate plus the time for the void to develop can be obtained. When the nucleation is slow, and the growth is fast, the failure is nucleation dominated. If the nucleation is short, the growth has the primary influence in failure.

Figure 2.3 shows two typical failures cases in a Cu dual-damascene line [103]. In Figure 2.3(a), the nucleation phase dominates the line lifetime, where the void nucleates below the via, and failure occurs soon after nucleation. In Figure 2.3(b), the nucleated void first migrates towards the via and then grows to cause the failure. The last example is predominant in modern technologies, with the line failures dominated by the growth phase [104, 105].

Besides the EM, thermomigration (TM) and stressmigration (SM) are trans-



Figure 2.3 – Schematic of void formation in Cu during an EM stress for kinetics limited by (a) void nucleation and (b) void growth and migration.

port mechanisms in metal lines which can deteriorate the chip performance and reliability. The resultant atomic flux combines all the above mechanism and is defined by [106]

$$J = J_E + J_T + J_S + J_D, (2.1)$$

where J_E is the EM-induce flux, J_T is the TM flux, J_S is the SM flux, and J_D is the diffusion flux due to gradients of atomic concentration.

In regions of flux divergence there is an accumulation of atoms (anode end of the line) or vacancies (cathode end of the line). The accumulation of vacancies builds up a tensile stress. If this tensile stress reaches a critical magnitude, a void is nucleated [107–111].

Under SM, atoms flow from regions of compressive stress to regions of tensile stress, thus vacancies flow in the opposite direction [112]. This atomic back-flux due to SM can eventually balance the EM flux in such a way that the net flux vanishes. Thus, there is no further accumulation of atoms and vacancies and the build-up of mechanical stress comes to a steady state. If this condition is reached before the critical stress for void nucleation is reached, there is no failure development. Besides EM, the mechanical stress generated during the interconnect fabrication process and deformation through packaging are the main reasons for the mechanical stress distribution and SM in the metal wires [113]. Under TM, the atoms flow from areas of high temperature to areas of lower temperature. Thus, the TM depends on the temperature gradient in the line, which is a function of the thermal properties of the metal and the insulation [113].

Each migration process affects the other mechanisms resulting in a positive or a negative feedback [113]. SM is a negative feedback to EM, as the atomic flow from compressive to tensile stress goes in the opposite direction to the EM flow. The resultant transport reduces and the migration of the atoms due to EM is retarded or even discontinued. The equilibrium between EM and SM was investigated by Blech, which yields a criterion to obtain the susceptible lines to EM failure [114]. In turn, the TM can acts as positive or negative feedback depending on the temperature gradient, which comes from different heat sources. In general, all these driving forces for atomic transport act together, resulting in a material transport along the interconnect line.

2.2 Impact of the Current Density

The flux of metal atoms (J_E) due to EM can be expressed by [115]

$$J_E = c \cdot v_{EM} = c \cdot D(T) \cdot \frac{Z^* e\rho(T)j}{kT},$$
(2.2)

where c is the concentration of atoms, v_{EM} is the atomic drift velocity due to the EM driving force, D(T) is the diffusion coefficient, Z^* is the so-called effective valence, or effective charge, which represents the sign and the magnitude of the momentum transfer between the conducting electrons and the metal atoms, $\rho(T)$ is the resistivity, e is the elementary charge, j is the current density, k is the Boltzmann's constant and T is the temperature.

The product of the effective charge and the diffusion coefficient is a function of different diffusion paths as expressed by [116]

$$Z^*D = Z^*_{GB}F_{GB}D_{GB} + Z^*_BF_BD_B + Z^*_SF_SD_S + Z^*_IF_ID_I,$$
(2.3)

where the subscripts GB, B, S and I refer to grain boundary, bulk, surface and interface, respectively. F corresponds to the fraction of diffusing atoms for the various diffusion paths [117, 118]. The fastest diffusion path has a lower activation energy and normally dominates the transport. As shown in Table 2.1, the dominant diffusion paths in Al and Cu lines are the grain boundary and the Cu/dielectric cap interface, respectively. In general, a higher activation energy improves the EM lifetime of the metal lines. Given the proportionality between the EM flux and the current density, as shown by (2.2), the time-to-failure (TTF) due to EM is a function of the current density. An expression relating the mean time-to-failure (MTTF) of an interconnect due to EM is given by [119]

$$MTTF = \frac{A_m}{j^n} \exp\left(\frac{E_a}{kT}\right),\tag{2.4}$$

which is the so-called Black Equation [119]. Here, A_m is a constant which comprises the material properties and the geometry of the interconnect, E_a is the activation energy of the dominant diffusion path, and n is the current density exponent, which is determined experimentally. If the failure is dominated by the nucleation process n equals 2, while if the failure time is dominated by the void growth mechanism n equals 1 [107]. For Cu lines with a TaN diffusion barrier, the failure is normally dominated by the void growth [104, 105]. In a more general case, the failure process involves both, nucleation and growth of a void, thus the extraction of the parameter n is not straightforward.

Blech et al. [114, 120, 121] derived a criterion to indicate whether a line is fallible due to EM based on the current density and length of the line,

$$(jL)_c = \frac{\Omega\left(\sigma_{th} - \sigma_0\right)}{|Z^*| \, e\rho},\tag{2.5}$$

where σ_{th} is the maximum mechanical stress the line can withstand, σ_0 is the initial stress, Ω is the atomic volume. Eq. (2.5) is known as Blech product.

The Blech product is a measure of the current density and the length of the metal line below which the EM damage stops. In the experiments, Blech tested a structure consisted of gold (Au) lines deposited onto a titanium nitride (TiN) film and stressed at a high current density [114]. The applied current elongated the metal line in the direction of the electron flow. While in the long lines EM were observed, in short lines the EM stopped. In the short lines, the generated mechanical stress gradient led to a back-flux which compensated the EM flux, as previously mentioned. This experiment was reproduced in lines with different materials and current density to obtain the Blech length, the length below which the EM-induced failure does not occur. The results indicated that Blech effect has a strong dependence on the fabrication process and on the geometry of the lines. Consequently, the Blech length changes for different IC technologies [122].

Besides the current density, the time-to-failure (TTF) of an interconnect due to EM depends on the temperature, as shown in (2.4). Generally, the designer considers the maximum current density to design the lines of the circuit and does not take into account the temperature which has a significant impact on the EM. The maximum current density informed in the datasheet of the technology is not associated with temperature. However, the temperature accelerates the EM damage, thus the current density supported by the lines is lower at higher temperatures. Therefore, the temperature is an important parameter to be considered for the EM evaluation.

2.3 Impact of the Temperature

The EM is very sensitive to the temperature, as described in (2.2). Temperature changes affect the diffusion coefficient and the resistivity of lines. The diffusion coefficient follows an Arrhenius relation with an exponential variation with T given by [123]

$$D(T) = D_0 \exp\left(-\frac{E_a}{kT}\right).$$
(2.6)

Here, D_0 is a pre-exponential factor and E_a is the activation energy, both dependent on the diffusion mechanisms. The line's resistivity, ρ , calculated by [124]

$$\rho = \rho_0 \left[1 + \alpha \left(T - T_0 \right) \right], \tag{2.7}$$

is a function of the resistivity ρ_0 in the reference temperature T_0 and the temperature coefficient α of the metal.

Figure 2.4 shows the D change in Al, Cu, Co and Ru for the temperature variation from 300 to 400 K, based on the parameters from Table 2.2. The Co and Ru has a lower D than the Cu and Al, justified by the differences in the activation energy. As Co and Ru have higher activation energies, a higher temperature is necessary for the EM to become significant. The higher activation energy is an important advantage of the Ru and Co in comparison with Al and Cu.

Material	Cu	Al	Со	Ru	Unit	Ref.
α	4.3	4.5	6.6	4.1	$10^{-3}/{ m K}$	[125, 126]
$ ho_0$	1.8	2.7	6.5	13	$\mu\Omega$ –cm	[6, 88]
D_0	$31 x 10^{-2}$	66×10^{-3}	$37 x 10^{-2}$	$57 \text{x} 10^{-2}$	cm^2/s	[127 - 129]
\mathbf{E}_{a}	0.7 - 2.1	0.6 - 1.4	2.4 - 3.1	1.9 - 2.9	eV	[6, 130]

Table 2.2 – Parameters for Cu, Al, Co and Ru.



Figure 2.4 – Diffusivity variation with the temperature for 4 different metals.

2.3.1 Self-Heating from Transistors

In an IC, the temperature changes with the power dissipation of the transistors. The transistors switching produces heat, which results in heat flow through the chip. Figure 2.5 depicts the heat flow from transistors on the FEOL to the interconnects on the BEOL. As a consequence, the interconnects experience a pronounced temperature increase, mainly in the regions near the heat sources.

The transistor self-heating (SH) in the FEOL results in a non-uniform temperature distribution in the metallic layers of the BEOL [133, 134]. The temperature change



Figure 2.5 – Heat flow through the BEOL and the FEOL due to power dissipation of the transistors' operation [131, 132].

in each metallic layer is given by [133]

$$\Delta T_{PT} = \frac{P_T}{2\pi k_{eff}^{beol}} \ln\left(\frac{z}{2h_0 - z}\right),\tag{2.8}$$

where P_T is the power dissipated by transistors, z is the distance in the BEOL from heat source, h_0 is the BEOL total thickness and k_{eff}^{beol} is the effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL given by [133]

$$k_{eff}^{beol} = \left[\sum_{n=1}^{m} \left(\frac{L_n^{via}}{k_{eff_n}^{via}} + \frac{L_n^{int}}{k_{eff_n}^{int}}\right)\right]^{-1} \cdot h_0,$$
(2.9)

where m is the total number of interconnect layers, L_n^{via} and L_n^{int} are the height of the vias and interconnects, respectively, for a particular layer n, k_{eff}^{via} and k_{eff}^{int} are the thermal conductivities of the via and the metallic layers, respectively.

The thermal conductivities of the via and interconnects layers depend on the volume fraction of vias (V_{via}) and lines (V_{int}) , respectively, relative to the complete volume of a specific layer. The k_{eff}^{via} varies with the thermal conductivity of the metal (k_m) and insulating (k_i) materials according to [133]

$$k_{eff}^{via} = k_m V_{via} + k_i (1 - V_{via}).$$
(2.10)

Considering a typical copper dual-damascene technology, $k_m = 401 \text{ W/(m.K)}$ [135] and $k_i = 1.4 \text{ W/(m.K)}$ [136]. The thermal conductivity of the interconnects is given by [133]

$$k_{eff}^{int} = \beta k_i \frac{1 + \eta V_{int}}{1 - V_{int}}$$

$$\tag{2.11}$$

where η and β are related to k_m , k_i , the length and the thickness of the lines [133]. The dimensionless parameters η and β can be approximated to 1, however, for interconnect lines with dimensions above 10 μ m [137]. The model above allows estimating the temperature increase in interconnects as a function of the power dissipated by the circuit.

2.3.2 Joule Heating in the Interconnects

Joule heating (JH) refers to the temperature change of the interconnect line when a current passes through the conductor. For an elevated current density, JH produces enough energy to make the lines heat up significantly. Accordingly, JH is evidenced for modern technologies because the lines are more resistive and operate with higher current densities [138].

The temperature increase due to the JH for 90 nm technologies is below 3K, modest in comparison with the temperature change due to the SH from the transistors. For 22 nm and 45 nm technologies, the temperature increase due to JH in the local interconnects is 5 K and 20 K, respectively [139]. The reduced contribution of the JH to the temperature change is more noticeable in the metal lines of the layers near the transistors [140, 141]. Nevertheless, the interconnect heating results in a temperature gradient and a corresponding TM flux.

Figure 2.6 illustrates the heat flow in the IC. The primary heat flows through metal and substrate and the secondary heat flows through the inter-metal dielectric. Heat generation occurs mainly by transistors, but also the effect of JH on interconnects. The effects act simultaneously, and as a result, there is heat flow and temperature distribution that depends on both.

2.4 Impact of Electromigration on Wire Resistance

In addition to the current density and the temperature, the structure also affects the line reliability. In old technologies, Al lines had high values of resistivity and large dimensions, and the EM was not a bottleneck. The high resistivity of the Al lines resulted



Figure 2.6 – A schematic diagram of the combined effect of transistor self-heating (SH) and Joule heating (JH) heats up metal line, with the heat flowing mainly through the metal and the substrate.

in a high resistance and the Joule heating became more relevant with line shrinking at each new technology node. With a continuous increase in the number of transistors and interconnects in advanced ICs, interconnects made of Al became prohibitive [22, 142].

In 1993, Cu replaced Al in the interconnect lines. The higher conductivity of Cu lowered the RC delay and the Joule heating resulting in a faster chip with reduced power dissipation. Also, due to the lower resistivity of Cu, there was margin to maintain the continuous reduction of the interconnects' dimensions. Based on these advantages, the semiconductor industry adopted Cu conductors in modern technologies.

On the other hand, the continuous shrinking resulted in an elevated current density, increasing the impact of the EM in ICs. With the lines reaching dimensions of hundred of nanometers, the Cu material is considered a bottleneck, mainly in the interconnects with elevated current density. The elevated current density is a reason to replace the Cu, to increase line reliability. Intel has tested Co in lines of the metal 1 and metal 2 for a 10 nm technology. Even though Co is 3.5 times more resistive than Cu [6, 88], Co lines are more resistant to EM. The adoption of Co lines allows to meet the ITRS estimations for the next IC generations [12, 25, 40, 60, 143].

2.4.1 Interconnect Structure

Figure 2.7 shows a typical Cu interconnect line used in new technology nodes. The Cu line has a width, thickness, and length represented by w, h, L, respectively. The terms w_b and t_b indicate the diffusion barrier thicknesses. The Cu area is the product $w \cdot h$. The barrier area is given by

$$A_b = 2w_b \cdot h + t_b \cdot w + 2w_b \cdot t_b. \tag{2.12}$$

The barrier of TaN has a larger resistivity than Cu. Its typical thickness varies between 8–15 nm for the 180 nm technology [144], which results in a maximum crosssectional area of 7980 nm² considering metal 1 dimensions of minimum width and height as specified in XFAB 180 nm technology [145, 146]. Table 2.3 shows the evolution of the parameters of the line from different technologies, based on the ITRS estimation. The minimum metal area estimated for metal 1 interconnects is 288 nm² for technologies developed in 2020, 9 times lower than the metal area in 2011's technologies.

The barrier layer protects the diffusion of Cu into the surrounding dielectric. The diffusion barrier is placed on the sides and at the bottom of the Cu line, while a dielectric capping film is on the top. Typically, TaN, Ta or a TaN/Ta bilayer are excellent diffusion barriers, where TaN provides a good adhesion to the surrounding dielectric, and



Figure 2.7 – Typical Cu interconnect structure.

Table 2.3 – Parameters of the interconnects based on the ITRS reports. [25, 144]

Year of Production	2011	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020
Barrier thickness (nm)	2.9	2.4	1.9	1.5	1.2	1.1
Metal 1 width (nm)	38	27	21	17	13	12
Metal 1 thickness (nm)	68	51	40	34	26	24
Metal 1 area (nm^2)	2584	1377	840	578	388	288

Ta provides a surface with good wettability of the Cu seed layer [147, 148]. Silicon nitride (SiN), silicon carbide (SiC), silicon carbonitride (SiCN), silicon oxynitride (SiON), and silicon dioxide (SiO2) considered along the thesis, are typical dielectric materials used as capping layers [149–154].

The barriers have an essential function, besides to avoid the Cu material diffusion into the Si active region. The barrier functions as a redundant shunt layer and prevents an open circuit due to a void growth [155]. This shunt layer can conduct electrons even if a void exists in the metal conductor. It can withstand high current densities for long times. The industry has investigated alternatives to manage the RC delay, and one alternative is to reduce the thickness of the diffusion barrier. However, a minimum thickness above 1 nm is needed to achieve the line reliability of the modern technologies [156].

2.4.2 Interconnect Resistance Variation

Under EM, the interconnect resistance increase degrades the performance of circuits. This resistance variation is initially minimal, as the growing void has not reached the wire barrier, as shown in Figure 2.8 (a). When the void reaches the barrier, the current begins to flow through part of the barrier, which is a much more resistive material, shown in Figure 2.8 (b). In this case, the resistance variation (ΔR) is linear and calculated by [146]

$$\Delta R = \frac{\rho_b D \left| Z^* \right| e\rho j \Delta t}{A_b k T},\tag{2.13}$$

where ρ_b is the resistivity of the barrier, A_b is the barrier area and Δt is the time variation. As explained in Section 2.3, ρ , ρ_b and D are temperature dependent.

The ratio between the resistance variation (ΔR) and the initial resistance (R_0) for the line under EM is commonly used to determine the interconnect failure and is given by [146]

$$\frac{\Delta R}{R_0} = \frac{\rho_b D \left| Z^* \right| eI\Delta t}{A_b kTL},\tag{2.14}$$

where I is the electrical current and L is the length of the line.

Figure 2.9 shows a typical $\Delta R/R_0$ variation in a Cu line. The phase 1, initiated by the nucleation and an initial growth, has a small resistance increase. Some studies report a resistance increase of 1% to 5% [146, 157]. When the void reaches the barrier, the resistance exhibits a significant increase. As mentioned, at this moment, the line becomes more resistive as the current passes through the TaN. Then, phase 2 initiates and the resistance varies linearly with the time, given by (2.13).



Figure 2.8 – Cross section of an interconnect. In (a), the growing void has not reached the wire barrier and the current passes throught the Cu. In (b), the void reaches the barrier and the current begins to flow through part of the barrier.



Figure 2.9 – Resistance change of an interconnect during the phases of nucleation and growth [146, 158].

The $\Delta R/R_0$ and the period of phase 1 shown in Figure 2.9 is an estimation based on recent EM studies with isolated interconnects [36, 146]. Experiments indicate that the failure occurs mainly in phase 2 for damascene Cu interconnects with a diffusion barrier [104, 105, 159, 160]. A detailed derivation of (2.13) and (2.14) is provided in Appendix A.

Figure 2.10 shows the evolution of the $\Delta R/R_0$ ratio given by (2.14) as a function of time considering the values from Table 6.1 for two interconnects with different lengths ($L = 125 \ \mu \text{m}$ and $L = 100 \ \mu \text{m}$) and two temperatures (T = 353 K (80 °C) and



Figure 2.10 – Resistance ratio variation as a function of time according to (2.14) for XFAB 180 nm technology [1].

Symbol	Name	Value	Unit	Ref
ρ_b	Ta resistivity	$3x10^{-6}$	$\Omega.\mathrm{m}$	[146]
$lpha_b$	Ta thermal coefficient	$6.5 \mathrm{x} 10^{-6}$	1/K	[161]
D	Cu effective diffusivity	$^{1}1.6x10^{-19}, ^{2}6.7 x10^{-18}$	m^2/s	[128]
Z^*	Effective valence	1	-	[162]
e	Electron charge	$1.6 \mathrm{x} 10^{-19}$	\mathbf{C}	[163]
ρ	Cu resistivity	$24x10^{-9}$	$\Omega.\mathrm{m}$	[162]
α	Cu thermal coefficient	$17 x 10^{-6}$	1/K	[164]
Ι	Current	$2.3 \mathrm{x} 10^{-4}$	A	-
A_b	Ta barrier area	$7.98 \mathrm{x} 10^{-15}$	m^2	[145]
k	Boltzmann constant	$1.38 \mathrm{x} 10^{-23}$	J/K	[163]
T	Temperature	318, 353	K	-
w	Line width	0.6	$\mu { m m}$	[145]
h	Line heigth	0.17	$\mu { m m}$	[145]
E_a	Cu line activation energy	1.0	eV	[165]
			1	318 K, ² 353 K.

Table 2.4 – Parameters based on the XFAB 180 nm technology used to calculate the $\Delta R/R_0$ ratio from (2.14) [1].

398 K (125 °C)). The values are based on XFAB 180 nm technology [145]. As expected, the higher is the temperature, the larger is the resistance variation, which leads to shorter failure times. It is interesting to note that, although longer lines are supposed to be more critical considering the Blech Effect [114, 120, 121], the smaller ones may be the bottleneck, being more sensitive to small resistance variations.

2.5 Interconnect Lifetime

The lifetime of a line depends on its geometry and crystal structure. Figure 2.11 shows different crystal structures in metallic interconnects. The polycrystalline lines in (a) present a reduced lifetime due to the grain boundaries, which results in more



Figure 2.11 – Different crystal lattice structures in metallic interconnects (a) polycrystalline, (b) near-bamboo and (c) bamboo.

diffusion paths favorable to EM evolution. The near-bamboo lines in (b) have a smaller dimension, with a reduced number of grain boundaries, an important feature to increase the line reliability. In the bamboo line in (c), the grain occupies the width of the lines, resulting in no continuous grain boundary path in the direction of the current flow. In bamboo and near-bamboo lines, interfacial diffusion is the main mechanism for EM [166– 168]. In this context, under the same current density, the bamboo and near-bamboo are significantly more reliable than polycrystalline lines. In recent technologies, the metal lines are becoming more polycrystalline, as the bamboo microstructure has been challenging to achieve in interconnect structures having widths less than 100 nm [169].

A resistance increase of 10% is generally used as a failure criterion, since this variation in global wiring can produce timing errors [170]. Using this percentage increase as a failure criterion has some limitations. First, the actual damage that causes the failure is a function of the initial resistance of the line, which is affected by the temperature and the stress during the fabrication. Second, the resistance ratio can assume values higher than 10%, and the circuit continues operating correctly or, on the other hand, it can be lower than 10% and the circuit loses the minimum performance. Therefore, a better failure criterion considers the resistance change for each line, that is, the maximum resistance change that a particular line can withstand before problems in the circuit performance occurs. A disadvantage is that there is no global criterism valid for all the lines.

2.5.1 Time-to-Failure of Interconnects

The line resistance increases faster when it operates with elevated current density and temperature. These two parameters are extrapolated to accelerate the line degradation process during the interconnect lifetime evaluation tests. Traditionally, a $\Delta R/R_0$ of 10% indicates the interconnect failure. However, this resistance variation does not necessarily degrade the performance of the circuit in a catastrophic way. Figure 2.12 shows the time for a wire resistance to increase 10% as a function of temperature for three typical values of activation energies, namely, 0.8 eV, 0.9 eV and 1.0 eV operating with a current of 110 μ A calculated by 2.14. The line has a width of 60 nm, a length of 125 μ m and a thickness of 170 nm [171]. Note that a higher activation energy of 1.0 eV requires a higher temperature of 473 K to a resistance change of 10% in 1 year.

The time to an interconnect failure according to the Black Equation is expressed by (2.4). Traditionally, (2.15) evaluates the line lifetime, considering the results obtained from accelerated tests $(MTTF_{acel})$ with elevated current density (j_{acel}) and temperature (T_{acel}) values. Then, assuming n=1 and that the parameters E_a and A do not change, the time-to-failure at use conditions $(MTTF_{use})$ is given by [172]



Figure 2.12 – Time for a wire resistance variation of 10% as a function of the temperature for three activation energies operating with a current of 110 μ A, and a width of 60 nm, thickness of 170 nm and length of 125 μ m.

$$\left[\frac{MTTF_{use}}{MTTF_{acel}}\right]_{1} = \left(\frac{j_{acel}}{j_{use}}\right) \exp\left[\frac{E_{a}}{k}\left(\frac{1}{T_{use}} - \frac{1}{T_{acel}}\right)\right].$$
(2.15)

The time for the line to reach a critical resistance variation, $(\Delta R/R_0)_{crit}$, can be obtained using (2.14). The $(\Delta R/R_0)_{crit}$ is the resistance ratio value that results in a circuit performance change out of an acceptable range. Then, the time to reach this critical value can be considered the time to circuit failure and expressed by [173]

$$MTTF = \frac{kLA_bT}{De |Z^*| \rho_b(T)I} \left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_{crit}.$$
(2.16)

Similar to (2.15), another relation between the time-to-failure (TTF) in use and accelerated conditions are obtained by [173]

$$\left[\frac{MTTF_{use}}{MTTF_{acel}}\right]_2 = \frac{T_{use}D_{acel}\rho_{bacel}j_{acel}}{T_{acel}D_{use}\rho_{buse}j_{use}},\tag{2.17}$$

where T, D, j and, ρ_b are the temperature, the diffusivity, the current density and the resistivity in use and accelerated conditions.

Equations (2.15) and (2.17) are two expressions to calculate the TTF, the first is a direct application of Black's equation and the second has been derived based on the resistance growth model. These equations are related through

$$\left[\frac{MTTF_{use}}{MTTF_{acel}}\right]_2 = \beta \left[\frac{MTTF_{use}}{MTTF_{acel}}\right]_1$$
(2.18)



Figure 2.13 – β change with T_{use} variation from 300 K to 398 K, for T_{acel} of 500 K and 600 K, and $T_0 = 293$ K.

where β is a coefficient given by

$$\beta = \frac{T_{use}}{T_{acel}} \left[\frac{1 + \alpha_b \Delta T_{acel}}{1 + \alpha_b \Delta T_{use}} \right]$$
(2.19)

where α_b is the linear temperature coefficient for the barrier resistivity, ΔT_{acel} and ΔT_{use} are given by

$$\Delta T_{use} = T_{use} - T_0, \tag{2.20}$$

$$\Delta T_{acel} = T_{acel} - T_0, \tag{2.21}$$

where T_0 is a reference temperature.

Equations (2.18) and (2.19) imply that the use of Black's equation can lead to an inaccurate extrapolation. Figure 2.13 shows the β change with T_{use} variation from 300 K to 398 K, for T_{acel} of 500 K and 600 K, α_b of 0.0045/K and $T_0 = 293$ K. A larger difference between T_{use} and T_{acel} results in a higher β coefficient, which means a larger deviation between (2.15) and (2.17). Also, the β coefficient increases with the T_{acel} . Therefore, the higher is the temperature used in the accelerated tests, less accurate is the MTTF of the lines with the Black's Equation and may result in an unrealistic analysis.

2.5.2 Electromigration Statistical Distribution

The lognormal and Weibull distributions are used to fit the data from accelerated EM tests [174]. Generally, the TTF of the interconnect is extrapolated from the accelerated to the use conditions, and then the circuit lifetime is estimated by a modified form of the Black Equation [175–177]. Even though Weibull may appear to fit the lifetime data with a good accurracy, the lognormal distribution is more appropriate to obtain predictive extrapolated lifetimes [178]. Ref. [179] shows that the lognormal distribution of the grain sizes is a primary cause for the lognormal distribution of EM lifetimes.

The ideal EM analysis should evaluate all the current densities and temperatures in each interconnect path of an IC. As the complex interconnects have multibranch paths, each path can have a different current density and temperature. Besides the estimation of the EM in all the lines, a better MTTF prediction should consider different scenarios, including worst-case conditions due to variations in manufacturing process, operating temperature and supply voltage [180].

The reliability analysis in an IC is more complicated than in a typical EM test structure, composed of samples of similar interconnects. The IC reliability analysis involves, besides the interconnect, the aging effects in the transistors. Also, the stress formed in the fabrication process reduces the lifetime of the IC.

2.6 Parasitic Extraction of the Interconnects

In early integrated circuits, the wiring had a negligible impact on the IC performance. However, below the 0.5 μ m technology node, the resistance and the capacitance of the interconnects started making a significant impact on the IC performance [181]. With the improvement in performance, density, and complex designs, the parasitic effects have become more challenging in modern IC design, especially for 65 nm and below [182]. Also, for high-speed chip designs, longer wire lengths plus the use of low-k dielectrics require inductive effects to be also considered [183].

Parasitic extractors are integrated into EDA tools to extract the parasitic resistances, capacitances, and inductances of devices and wires of an integrated circuit. Parasitic extraction results help designers to analyze the impact of the physical implementation on the performance of the circuit by evaluating the layout of the design.

The correlation between the measured chip performance and post-layout simulation is a function of the accuracy of the parasitic resistances, capacitances and inductances calculated for devices and wires. As the parasitic extraction gives a more realistic model of the circuit together with the effects of the parasitics added to the simulation, it is possible to verify if the additional parasitics still allow the designed circuit to properly function. The interconnect parasitics affect the timing of the signal propagation, the coupled noise from adjacent elements, IR drop on longer lines and the change in biasing and performance of transistors on the finished chip [184].

To calculate the parasitic resistance and capacitance of the interconnects, extraction tools use: the layout of the design in the form of polygons on a set of layers; a mapping to a set of devices and pins obtained from a Layout Versus Schematic (LVS) simulation; and parameters of the layers including metal resistivity [185, 186]. The extraction tool uses this information to create a layout which has added resistances between various sub-parts of the wires, vias, contacts, pins and all other resistances obtained from the extracted result. In turn, the parasitic capacitance of an interconnect is divided and shared among the sub-nodes proportionally. As the number of parasitic elements increase with the number of devices and interconnects, the extraction tool consumes more memory and time which increases the complexity of the post-layout design simulation.

Figure 2.14 illustrates the parasitic resistances of the interconnects for three layout structures. Figure 2.14(a) shows the wire with two terminals and one parasitic resistance. For longer lines, generally, a row of resistances in series represents the wire. Figure 2.14(b) shows a wire with three terminals named C, D and E and three parasitic resistances for metal paths. A more complex wire in the Figure 2.14(c) illustrates that the resistance extraction becomes more challenging as the number of terminals increase. Here, the wire has five terminals and seven parasitic resistances. As the interconnects



Figure 2.14 – Different interconnect structures and possible equivalent representation with resistances.

in integrated circuits have multiple terminals, the EM parameters generally obtained in accelerated tests with hundreds of structures similar to Figure 2.14(a), are extrapolated to the more complex wires, like the wires in Figure 2.14(b) and Figure 2.14(c). This extrapolation decreases the complexity, but also the accuracy of the EM analysis.

The netlist from a layout is a description of the electronic elements and connected nodes within that circuit layout, including all the extracted parasitic resistances and capacitances across every interconnect. While the netlist of a circuit schematic has only the electronic devices models connected with ideal wires, the netlist from the layout contains the parasitics that affect the circuit performance. SPICE, H-SPICE, and other compact modeling platforms use the netlist from layout for circuit-level simulation, giving to the IC designer a realistic understanding of the circuit environment, along with the performance implications of parasitics. As the identification of the specific layers that define the transistors and the metal wiring is critical for accurately calculating the parasitic values, the development of new methods to more accurately obtain the parasitics becomes more relevant for ultra-high-speed circuits [187–189].

3 Methodology to Evaluate the Impact of Electromigration on Chips during Design

In this chapter the methodology to evaluate the EM impact on an IC at the design level is explained. First, we describe the procedures to calculate the resistance change of the lines due to EM. Then, the effect of the EM on the performance parameters of an IC is discussed, followed by the description of methods to identify the critical interconnect lines as well as to estimate their widths based on the EM criteria. Finally, the full methodology flow to evaluate the EM impact on an IC and size the interconnect is presented.

3.1 Traditional EM Methodology

In commercial tools, the EM analysis consists in comparing the current density on each wire to the foundry EM rules and then link to an IC implementation toolset for automated or manually assisted fixing. The foundries define the EM rules based on a maximum current density limit and on the Blech product to control EM for each wire. The maximum current density calculation includes the wire width, layer, activity, frequency, and temperature [190, 191]. In turn, the Blech product calculation includes the length of the lines. Thus, the width and the length of the wires become part of the design rule set.

Figure 3.1 shows an interconnect to exemplify the EM evaluation in the commercial tools. The interconnect has Metal 1, Metal 2, and Metal 3 paths with a current flowing through them. Metal 1 and Metal 2 have the width w1 of 200 nm and w2 of 260 nm, and a current of 0.5 mA. Metal 3 have currents of 0.3 mA and 0.2 mA and the width



Figure 3.1 – Layout top view of an interconnect line with paths made of Metal 1, Metal 2, and Metal 3 and the corresponding currents flowing through them.

Path	w (nm)	I (mA)	$J~({\rm mA}/\mu{\rm m}$)	Condition
Metal1	200	0.5	2.5	Critical
Metal2	260	0.5	1.92	Non-critical
Metal3a	140	0.3	2.14	Critical
Metal3b	140	0.2	1.42	Non-critical

Table 3.1 – Parameters from the interconnect of Figure 3.1.

w3 of 140 nm. First, the EM tool calculates the current density and then evaluates if the paths is critical based on the EM rules. Here, the line is classified as critical if the paths have current density above 2 mA/ μ m, a typical value for 45nm technologies [171]. Table 3.1 shows that Metal 1 and Metal 3a are critical, while Metal 2 and Metal 3b are non-critical.

IC designers use some strategies to minimize the EM problem [192, 193]. The most used strategy is to enlarge the wire to reduce the current density. As the foundry fixes the thicknesses of the lines, the designer can only change the width and the length. Thus, the current density is represented in $mA/\mu m$ instead of the formal definition of MA/cm². Other strategies to improve the EM reliability is to reduce the supply voltage, the frequency and the wire length.

Unfortunately, these strategies have area and performance trade-offs. Fixing a critical line due to EM is not a simple task of just following the rules. As an increase in the width changes the spacing, the rules related to the minimum distance to neighboring wires have to be guaranteed. Enlarging the wires not only increases the area, but also can cause timing violations and affects the circuit performance. In this context, the designer needs an effective EM analysis which helps to minimize the EM risk without sacrificing too much area and performance.

The evaluation of the circuit performance degradation due to the EM allows the designer to identify with more accuracy if the performance is satisfactory, even if the lines operate with an elevated current density or to verify if a single line is critical even when operating with a current density below the maximum threshold. To evaluate the EM, the resistance change of the lines has to be calculated considering mainly the temperature and the current density. With the EM evolution, the circuit performance changes. Nevertheless, as the EM evolution is an extended time process, the circuit can operate under an elevated current density and still maintain an adequate performance.

As the analog IC design works semi-automatically, an analog designer draws the lines manually using a router, a design ruler checker (DRC) and a Layout-Versus-Schematic (LVS) tools. With the DRC tool, the designer evaluates if the lines are according to the rules informed by the foundry. The LVS tool compares the layout and schematic, informing to the designer the wrong and the incomplete connections needed to finish the layout. Using a router, the designer chooses the metal layer to realize the connections lines' width, and the number of vias and contacts.

In turn, the digital designer uses fully automated tools in the chip design. However, the designer needs to understand the problem, use larger wires, run an EM analysis, and fix the violations. Along with power, timing, and leakage, EM is a relevant factor to be considered, mainly in modern technologies. Thus, the digital designer also need to understand how EM affects chip performance.

3.2 Estimation of an Interconnect Resistance Change due to EM

Figure 3.2(a) shows the methodology flow to calculate the resistance change of interconnects due to the EM. The methodology requires the schematic and layout files of the integrated circuit under design. Here, we use the SPICE simulator, the parasitics extractor, and other EDA tools. Figure 3.2(b) shows the main procedures to calculate the EM resistance change.

The schematic represents the circuit with the models of electrical components, such as transistors, capacitors, and inductors. The designer chooses the models for commercial, industrial, or military applications, which have different process costs, as well as contain particularities, such as the threshold voltage of the transistors. The standard



Figure 3.2 - (a) Proposed methodology flow to calculate the resistance change of interconnects due to EM. (b) Main procedures to calculate the EM resistance change.

temperature ranges from 0° to 85°, -40° to 100°, and -55° to 125° for commercial, military, and industrial applications [194, 195]. In addition to the temperature range, the designer has to observe the power consumption of the transistors. Generally, the power transistors demand higher currents, which make the corresponding lines potentially more susceptible to EM failures.

The designer uses a SPICE simulator to obtain the average or DC, root-meansquare (RMS), and peak currents for each wire segment by a DC or transient analysis. The peak current is the maximum current at any instant in time during the signal transition, which is always greater than the RMS current, or the average current. Thus, the use of the peak current generally overestimates the EM degradation as the lines do not operate full time.

Unidirectional and bidirectional currents have different influence on EM. As the unidirectional current flows in the same direction through a metal segment during both the rising and falling transition of the signal, the DC value is nonzero. On the other hand, as the bidirectional current flows in one direction during the rising transition and the other direction during the falling transition, DC is close to zero, and the lifetime becomes larger than the lines under unidirectional current. However, under a sufficient current density, the Joule heating potencialize the EM, degrading the benefical self-heating from bidirectional lines. Generally, the EM analysis requires the use of the three currents when the circuit contains unidirectional and bidirectional currents. The proposed methodology consider the DC value to calculate the resistance change, as shown in Figure 3.2, the RMS and peak current also can be included in this methodology.

The layout represents the circuit at the physical level, which the interconnects and electrical components have geometric layers with different materials and dimensions. While the transistors have polysilicon, diffusion and metal layers which are isolated from each another by thin insulating layers, the metal layers represent the interconnects and resistors. In this mode, the Electrically Aware Design (EAD) tool from Cadence identifies the metal lines used to represent the interconnects and indicates the current density, width, and length of the lines, which are used to calculate the EM resistance change. Besides the current density and the dimensions extracted from the layout, the resistance change depends on the resistivities of the metal and barrier materials, as well as on the width and thickness of the barrier.

The calculated EM resistance is inserted in the circuit to evaluate the IC performance degradation compared with a circuit model, free of the EM in a verification environment named testbench. The designer can add the EM resistance manually, including resistors in the interconnect lines of the schematic, or an extra layer in the layout to represent the increased resistance. In an automatic mode, the change of the original resistance value of the lines is directly included in the netlist which is generated from the parasitic extractor. The automatic mode is more accurate as the extra resistance manually included in the circuit can result in larger capacitance and resistance parasitics.

In the testbench, the designer defines the stimulus used as the inputs signals, chooses the analysis to simulate the performance of the circuit, and collects the output signals. Typically, industry-standard VHDL, Verilog, or other hardware description languages (HDL) is used to create a digital circuit testbench. For analog circuits, transistors or an HDL adequate for analog simulation is applied. In this way, the designer can evaluate the performance change of the circuit with the lines affected by the EM, and understand the lines which degrade the different performance parameters. Besides the circuit performance, the simulation of the EM impact on the threshold voltage, transconductance, and other parameters of the transistor is useful to find the more sensible parts in the circuit.

The resistance change of the metal lines depends on the temperature dissipated by the transistors (ΔT_{PT}) as shown the methodology flow in Figure 3.3(a). In turn, the ΔT_{PT} depends on the power dissipated by the transistors (P_T) , the metal layers position and parameters of the vias and metal layers used to calculate the effective conductivity of the BEOL. The number of vias (N_{via}) , width of the vias (W_{via}) , length of the lines (L), and width of the lines (W) are extracted from the layout to calculate the fraction volume of metal and vias. The parameters obtained from technology are the thickness of the via layer (L_n^{via}) , the thickness of the metal layer (L_n^{int}) and the conductivities of the metal (k_m) and insulator (k_i) . Figure 3.3(b) shows the main procedures to calculate the ΔT_{PT} .

The power dissipated by the transistors is obtained in the testbench. The power dissipation in CMOS ICs has a static and a dynamic contribution. The dynamic power is due to switching currents required to charge/discharge output loads and short circuit currents that flow between the transistors as the input signal changes [196]. The static power is due to leakage sources in the transistors, including reverse bias pn-junction leakage between the source/drain and substrate and the subthreshold conduction between source and drain [196]. The power dissipation typically with a predominant dynamic parcel, became more static, as the static power increases with every new technology node. Below 65 nm technology node, the static power exceeds the dynamic power dissipation in some advanced circuits [197].

The effective conductivity of the BEOL (k_{eff}^{beol}) given by (2.9) depends on the used materials. As mentioned before, we consider only the volume fraction of the metals and insulators in k_{eff}^{beol} . A typical advanced IC has a volume fraction of 2% to 6% for vias and 28% to 42% for the metal layers, in relation to the layer volume [133]. The volume fraction of metals is the metal volume occupied in a layer, obtained with the length and width from all the lines. While the short lines can affect the k_{eff}^{beol} , the longer lines cause

an insignificant change in the effective conductivity, as explained in Appendix F.

3.3 Description of an IC Performance Change under EM

ICs have different metrics of performance depending on the application. For digital circuits, the designer has to optimize the area, the delay and the power, which leads to trade-offs, since a faster circuit requires a higher current driving, which increases the power consumption, or an smaller area to reduce the RC delay in the lines. Despite fewer transistors in an analog circuit, the analog designer evaluates gain, slew-rate, frequency, power consumption, settling time, offset, noise, etc, resulting in a complex analysis. Similarly to aging effects on the transistors, an interconnect line affected by EM can degrade more than one performance metric. Therefore, the designer has to identify the critical lines, i.e. the lines that degrade the circuit performance more significantly.

Figure 3.4 illustrates the variation of three performance parameters, named P1, P2 and P3, due to EM on one wire. In Figure 3.4(a) the performance parameter P1 decreases by 20% before the time t_1 , while the performance parameter P2 decay 20% after t_1 , as shown in Figure 3.4(b). In turn, the parameter P3 in Figure 3.4(c), experiences a non-linear reduction after the time t_2 . Considering that a performance variation (ΔP) larger than 20% results in a significant degradation of the circuit operation, the parameter P1 is the most affected by the EM as it reaches the critical ΔP earlier.



Figure 3.3 – (a) Methodology flow to calculate the ΔT_{PT} of the interconnects. (b) Main procedures to calculate the ΔT_{PT} .

CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY TO EVALUATE THE IMPACT OF ELECTROMIGRATION ON CHIPS DURING DESIGN



Figure 3.4 – Performance parameters P1 (a), P2 (b) and P3 (c) variation due to EM on one wire. In (d) P1, P2 and P3 reduction after t_1 and t_2 .

Figure 3.4 indicates evaluations that the designer has to consider in the EM analysis. First, the designer has to associate the EM to the chip performance and the application. If t_1 is the time expected to a commercial application, the wire under EM effects needs some fix to increase the IC performance P1. In turn, if t_2 is the time expected for military or space application, the performance P2 also needs improvement.

Second, the designer has to choose the most relevant IC performance parameters for the EM evaluation. While the gain of an amplifier can be more critical for audio applications, the offset can be more important for application in high frequency. Although the performance P1 has a larger percentual variation than P2 in Figure 3.4(d), the parameter P2 can have a smaller margin to change and, as a consequence, be more critical. In this example, the same safe margin of 20% has been used for all the performance parameters, although the safe margin is generally different for each performance parameter. Thus, the designer has to evaluate the safe margin for the chosen parameters using the corner simulation, which includes extreme cases of temperature, voltage, and process.

Third, the designer has to identify the lines which affect each performance parameter of the chip. Besides the line evaluated, other lines under EM effects can degrade the IC performance. As some lines are more sensitive to a resistance variation, mainly the RF lines, a Monte Carlo analysis is crucial to understand the critical lines of the circuit. The analysis of the most critical lines for each IC performance parameter allows the designer to identify all the lines that can cause a performance degradation and a premature chip failure.

3.4 Identification of the Critical Lines based on EM Criteria

Figure 3.5 illustrates metal lines classified as critical due to EM based on the $\Delta R/R_0$ criterion. Depending on the accuracy of the parameters used to calculate the resistance change, lines in intermediary condition, represented in black, can be classified as critical or non-critical. The critical lines represented in red have a critical $\Delta R/R_0$ change in a shorter time than the EM safe lines in blue. While some lines are critical with a lower resistance change, other lines with a higher resistance change are non-critical.

A good reliability analysis adopts strategy to improve the accuracy and the time to identify the EM critical lines. The Blech product and the maximum current density are two criteria commonly used to filter the lines susceptible to failure. Along with these traditional criteria, the inclusion of a performance degradation criterion allows the designer to understand the EM effect on the circuit and to fix in the layout the lines which lead to performance degradation and failure of the circuit.

Figure 3.6 presents an example of the EM criteria applied to evaluate four interconnects L1, L2, L3, and L4. Blech product criterion, shown in Figure 3.6(a), has a critical margin below the threshold, below which the lines are considered EM safe. The critical margin guarantees that a line near the threshold does not result in a wrong analysis. Note that the lines L2 and L3 are not critical. The line L1 is critical, as the Blech product is larger than the threshold. In turn, the line L4 is below the threshold; nevertheless, it is critical as it lies in the critical margin.



Figure 3.5 – Classification of the critical lines due to EM based on $\Delta R/R_0$.



Figure 3.6 – Example of the EM criteria applied to evaluate four interconnects L1, L2, L3, and L4. (a) Blech product. (b) Maximum current density. (c) Resistance degradation. (d) Venn Diagram.

Figure 3.6(b) illustrates the interconnect evaluation based on the maximum current density criterion. Here, the EM safe lines L3 and L4 are below the critical margin. L1 and L2 are critical, as these lines have a current density in the critical margin.

Similarly, Figure 3.6(c) shows the resistance degradation criterion, which indicates that L1 is critical. A critical line is typically defined for a resistance increase of 10%[170]. Note that the threshold here is a fixed percentual. In our methodology, a critical line is defined for a resistance increase which results in a significant degradation of the circuit performance. Thus, each interconnect line can have a different threshold and a line can be critical with variation as small as 5% and not be critical with variation as large as 20% [198].

Figure 3.6(d) shows a report of the four lines in a Venn Diagram. As the L1 is critical for the three criteria, this line has a higher probability of suffering EM and affecting the circuit performance. L2 and L4 are also prone to suffer EM degradation; nevertheless, its resistance change due to EM probably does not affect the chip performance. In turn, L3 does not present a significant EM degradation and its resistance increase does not affect the chip performance.

Evaluation of Interconnects' Dimensions 3.5

Based on the current though the line (I), the analog designer chooses the width (w) of the line to guarantee a current density below the maximum current density (j_{max}) according to [199]

$$w > \frac{I}{h \cdot j_{max}}.\tag{3.1}$$

The thickness of the lines (h) is fixed. The analog designer adjusts the width of the lines manually, respecting the minimum distance to the other metal lines. Figure 3.7(a) shows a case with two interconnects, L1 and L2, where the line L1 has a higher current and, thus, a larger width than the line L2.

According to the Blech product, the lines with jL product above the Blech product threshold jL_c are susceptible to failure. In this way, the designer can choose the width as a function of the length of the line (L), according to [114]

$$w > \frac{IL}{h \cdot jL_c}.\tag{3.2}$$

Figure 3.7(b) illustrates the interconnect sizing according to the Blech product criterion.

A third method to design the lines uses the EM resistance change criterion. A larger width retards the EM, as the void needs more time to grow larger. Figure 3.7(c)shows a case where L2 is wider than L1, which means that L2 has a bigger impact on the performance of the circuit.

From (2.14), the barrier area of the line is given by

$$A_b = \frac{\rho_b D \left| Z \right| e I \Delta t}{kTL} \left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0} \right)^{-1}, \tag{3.3}$$

where the parameters from these equations is explained in session 2.4.2. With the barrier area from (2.12), the width of the line based on EM resistance change is given by

$$w = \frac{\rho_b D \left| Z \right| eI\Delta t}{kTLt_b} \left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0} \right)^{-1} - 2w_b \left(1 + \frac{h}{t_b} \right).$$
(3.4)

As the width of the line must have $(\Delta R/R_0)$ below the maximum resistance ratio change

CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY TO EVALUATE THE IMPACT OF ELECTROMIGRATION ON CHIPS DURING DESIGN



Figure 3.7 – Sizing the width of the lines L1 and L2 following EM criteria. (a) Based on the maximum current density. (b) Based on the Blech product. (c) Based on the resistance degradation. (d) Comparison between the three criteria.

 $(\Delta R/R_0)_{max}$, expressed by

$$\left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right) < \left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_{max},\tag{3.5}$$

the width of the line is related by

$$w > \frac{\rho_b D \left| Z \right| e I \Delta t}{k T L t_b} \left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0} \right)_{max}^{-1} - 2w_b \left(1 + \frac{h}{t_b} \right).$$
(3.6)

Figure 3.7(d) shows a comparison of the width of the lines based on the three criteria. Each criterion indicates the minimum width recommended for an interconnect. While the maximum current density limits the width of the line L1, the line L2 has the width determined by the resistance change criterion. Thus, the adequate width of each line can be more accurately determined.

71

Evaluation of the EM Critical Blocks 3.6

Floorplanning is an essential design step to strategically evaluate the placement of the blocks in an integrated circuit, providing an estimation of the area and position of each blocks. With the temperature increase intensifying the EM issues in the chips, the designer requires new methods for floorplanning the blocks, identifying the more critical lines due to EM and protecting the thermal sensitive regions.

Figure 3.8 shows the methodology flow to evaluate the potential EM critical blocks comparing the estimated temperature (T), that is the sum of the temperature of reference (T_0) and the estimated temperature change (ΔT_{PT}) , with the maximum allowed temperature (T_{max}) . If T is higher than the T_{max} , it increases the probability of a block to have EM critical lines and, thus to be a critical block. From the schematic, the power dissipated by the transistors (P_T) is simulated, and from the layout the metal and via volume fractions are obtained. These data are used to estimate the temperature of the blocks. The $(\Delta R/R_0)_{max}$ of the interconnects is determined from an evaluation of the performance metrics.



Figure 3.8 – Methodology flow to evaluate the EM critical blocks in a chip.
From (2.14), the maximum temperature of an interconnect T_{max} is given by

$$T_{max} \exp\left(\frac{E_a}{kT_{max}}\right) = \frac{D_0 \rho_b e I \Delta t \left|Z^*\right|}{A_b k L} \left[\left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_{max}\right]^{-1},\tag{3.7}$$

which is based on the $(\Delta R/R_0)_{max}$ and the current through the line.

The probability of a block to be critical is based on the probability of the lines to operate above the T_{max} . An EM critical line has the temperature ratio given by

$$\frac{T_0 + \Delta T_{PT}}{T_{max}} > 1. \tag{3.8}$$

The maximum temperature have different restrictions, depending if the use is for commercial, military or space. This methodology can be used to reposition the blocks in a layout, protecting those circuits that have more critical lines due to EM and increasing the IC reliability.

EM Methodology Flow 3.7

Figure 3.9 shows the full methodology flow to evaluate and size the interconnects based on the EM criteria. In addition to the traditional IC design flow from Cadence, we include tools to calculate ΔR_{EM} , ΔT_{PT} and the width of the lines, as well as a tool to filter the EM critical lines. In a traditional analog design flow, the DRC and the LVS tools verify the layout, while the Quantus QRC Extraction Solution tool extracts the parasitics. With the parasitics, the designer simulates the current and the power dissipated by the transistors. Along with the simulated power, the number of vias and the metal volume fraction extracted from the layout is used to calculate the temperature in each metallic layer. Next, the EAD tool provides the resistance and the width of the lines, which, along with the simulated current and the estimated temperature, is used to calculate the resistance change of the lines. The $\Delta R/R_0$ change of the lines is determined according to the expected circuit lifetime.

The maximum current density, the Blech product and the $\Delta R/R_0$ criteria filter the EM critical lines. After adding the EM resistance change to the initial resistance of the critical lines, the EM on the chip performance is evaluated. For this purpose, the ADE Spectre tool is applied to simulate, at a given Δt , the netlist with the resistance change of the lines included in a testbench in the Virtuoso (VLS). Then the circuit performance is compared against an EM-free circuit using the Cadence calculator. If the performance change is above the expected, the interconnect line has to be modified to retard the EM

for the expected circuit lifetime. To evaluate the width of the interconnects and provide a more reliable and accurate design, the designer considers the recommended width of the lines based on the three EM criteria. Finally, a report with the critical lines based on the three EM criteria and the recommended lines' widths for the design is issued.



Figure 3.9 – Full methodology to evaluate the EM on chips. Cadence tools are used complemented by tools to calculate the ΔR_{EM} , ΔT_{PT} , the width of the lines, and to determine the critical lines, which were developed during this work.

4 Analysis of the Temperature Estimation

In this chapter the estimated temperature change (ΔT_{PT}) of the interconnect lines is investigated. First, the ΔT_{PT} is compared with the temperature simulated with a FEM 2-D model. After, the importance of the ΔT_{PT} in the resistance ratio $\Delta R/R_0$ of the lines is shown. The last session shows the evaluation of the critical circuits based on the temperature.

4.1 Temperature Distribution on BEOL Interconnects

The temperature and the current density are the two parameters that mostly affect the EM resistance change of the lines. Inaccuracies in these parameters result in a overestimated or underestimated resistance change and, as a consequence, in a misleading EM evaluation. Thus the EM analysis has to consider the temperature increase in the metal layers due to the power dissipated by the transistors.

Figure 4.1 illustrates a temperature distribution on a chip with a length from x_1 to x_2 and a width from y_1 to y_2 . Here, the primary heat source in the center of the chip produces heat that flows into the BEOL and changes the temperature of the lines. The temperature in regions further away from the heat source, in particular at the corners A, B, C, and D, undergoes a lower change.

The finite element method (FEM) is a useful tool to understand the effect of heat transfer from transistors in the silicon substrate. With FEM, we simulate the temperature change in the interconnects with the 2D physical model for the BEOL shown



Figure 4.1 – Top view of the temperature distribution on a chip with a primary heat source in the center.



Figure 4.2 – Cross section of the BEOL and FEOL structure model used to simulate the temperature in metal layers.

in Figure 4.2, developed based on 45 nm technology [171]. The BEOL has 11 layers of interconnects and 10 of vias, with 6% of volume fraction of the vias and 40% of volume fraction of the metal in each layer. A very low thermal conductivity epoxy resin isolates gold bond wires which are connected to the packaging. The thermal conductivity of the materials, dimensions of the vias and the metal layers, etc are described in Table 4.1.

In the first case, we simulate the thermal distribution on the BEOL from $x_1 = 240 \ \mu \text{m}$ to $x_2 = 560 \ \mu \text{m}$ with the primary heat source in the center of the chip at $x = 400 \ \mu \text{m}$, and the power dissipation of 400 W/m. The transistors occupy a small region of 2 μ m, equivalent to 0.25% of the width of the chip, resulting in a higher temperature in a narrow central region of the metal lines. In a typical integrated circuit, the transistors occupy a larger area, and as a consequence, the temperature distribution is more homogeneous along the lines. Besides the power dissipated by the transistors, the temperature change in each metallic layer (ΔT_{PT}) is a function of thermal conductivity of the several materials, the geometry of the layers, and the number of vias.

Figure 4.3 shows the temperature of lines from Metal 1 to Metal 11 from x=240 to 560 μ m. The interconnects of the local layers near the primary heat source operate under the highest temperatures. As expected, the temperature near the corners A, B at $x = 240 \ \mu$ m and C, D at $x = 560 \ \mu$ m are significantly lower than in the center of the chip. The result considers the vias distributed at the end of the metallic layers, in a formation named quasi-manhattan structure [200]. The concentration of the vias near the heat source between the layers M2-M3, M4-M5, M6-M7, M8-M9 and M10-M11 results in the same ΔT_{PT} for the lines of these layers.



Figure 4.3 – Temperature on the BEOL with the heat source in the center of the chip at $x = 400 \ \mu m$ and the power dissipation of 400 W/m.

Name	Value	Unit	Description
Si_thick	20000	nm	Si thickness
Chip_w	800000	nm	Chip's width
Contact_h	150	nm	Contact's heigth
via1_h and via2_h	150	nm	Vias1 and vias 2 heigth
via3_h to via9_h	180	nm	Vias3 and vias 9 heigth
via10_h to via11_h	1000	nm	Vias10 and vias 11 heigth
$m1_t and m2_t$	150	nm	Metal 1 and metal 2 thickness
$m3_t to m8_t$	180	nm	Metal 3 and metal 8 thickness
$m9_t to m11_t$	1000	nm	Metal 9 and metal 11 thickness
$m1_per$ to $m11_per$	0.4	n.a.	Volume fraction of metal
$contact_w$	65	nm	Contact width
w_via12	65	nm	Via12 width
w_via23 and w_via34	70	nm	Via23 and Via34 width
w_via45 to w_via67 $$	140	nm	Via45 and Via67 width
w_{via78} and w_{via89}	400	nm	Via78 and Via89 width
$w_{via}910$ and $w_{via}1011$	800	nm	Via910 and Via1011 width
via1_per to via 10_per	0.06	n.a.	Volume fraction of via
via_distance	500	nm	Distance between vias
h_pack	100	nm	Packaging thickness
h_heat	60	nm	Heat source thickness
$Circuit_W$	2000	nm	Main Heat Source Width
w_bond_wire	2000	nm	Bond wire width
k_iso_SiO2	1.4	W/(Km)	SiO2 - Thermal conductivity
k_iso_Si	130	W/(Km)	Si - Thermal conductivity
k_iso_Cu	400	W/(Km)	Cu - Thermal conductivity
k_iso_A	0.18	W/(Km)	Acrylic - Thermal conductivity
Passivation thick	5000	nm	Passivation thickness

Table 4.1 – Parameters used in the BEOL model simulated in the COMSOL [2].

In a second case, the primary heat source is near one of the chip's corners, shown in Figure 4.4. With the primary heat source near the corner A, the highest ΔT_{PT} of 57 K is at $x = 280 \ \mu\text{m}$ and a lower ΔT_{PT} at the other corners, as shown in Figure 4.5. Observe that the primary heat source sized near the extremity results in a temperature of 333 K and 324 K in M2 and M3, equivalent to a ΔT_{PT} of 33 K and 24 K, respectivelly. Differently from the first case, the others pairs M4-M5, M6-M7, M8-M9 and M10-M11



Figure 4.4 – Temperature distribution with the primary heat source near the corners of the chip.



Figure 4.5 – Temperature on the BEOL with the primary heat source near the corner A of the chip at $x = 280 \ \mu m$ and the power dissipation of 400 W/m.

also have a different ΔT_{PT} due to the position of the vias in the extremity of the metal layers, and the primary heat source placed in an intermediary position near the corner A.

In the third case, the center and regions near the corners have heat sources with the same power dissipation of 400 W/m, as illustrated in Figure 4.6. Figure 4.7 shows the temperature along the BEOL with the heat sources at the center at $x = 400 \ \mu\text{m}$ and near the corners A and D, at $x = 280 \ \mu\text{m}$ and at $x = 520 \ \mu\text{m}$. The inclusion of more heat sources increasing the power dissipated in the FEOL, increases the temperature on the BEOL as observed in the Metal 10 layer, which has the maximum temperature of 311 K,



Figure 4.6 – Temperature distribution with heat sources at the center and near the corners of the chip.



Figure 4.7 – Temperature on the BEOL with the primary heat source near the corners A and D at $x = 280 \ \mu m$ and $x = 520 \ \mu m$, respectively and in the center of the chip at $x = 520 \ \mu m$, with $P_T = 400 \ W/m$.

equivalent to ΔT_{PT} of 11 K, 4 K higher than the case 2, and 3 K higher than the case 1. Note that the Metal 2 in the position 280 μ m has a temperature of 334 K, 5 K higher than the Metal 2 positioned in 400 μ m, in the center of the chip, indicating the influence of the position of the vias in the thermal distribution of the chip.

Figure 4.8 shows a comparison between the maximum temperature change on each metal layer estimated with (2.8) and simulated with the primary heat source at the center and at the corner (Figures 4.3 and 4.5). A large temperature difference between two consecutive layers is observed in the three curves. For example, the ΔT_{PT} in the Metal 1 layer is 56 K, 12 K higher than the ΔT_{PT} in the Metal 2. The results indicate that in Metal 1 the ΔT_{PT} of 56 K is near to the simulated temperature change of 55 K in Figures 4.3 and 4.5. The small difference of 1 K in the ΔT_{PT} has a relation with the different materials used in the simulation, such as the the material of the resin, substrate and bondwire, while the temperature estimated considers the effective conductivity from the Si and Cu. The distribution of the vias and the heat source position affect the temperature, as the heat flows in the BEOL more efficiently when the vias are positioned near the heat source, evidenced by the differences between the temperatures simulated in Figures 4.3 and 4.5. The calibration of the boundary conditions in the analytical model can contribute to a better estimation of the temperature, mainly in the top layers positioned above 3 μ m in the BEOL height.



Figure 4.8 – Comparison between the maximum ΔT_{PT} estimated with (2.8) and simulated in Figure 4.3 and 4.5.

4.2 Impact of the Temperature Estimation on $\Delta R/R_0$

The temperature change increases the diffusivity exponentially, affecting $\Delta R/R_0$ and disturbing the EM evaluation. Besides the temperature, the current density, geometry, and materials of the lines can affect the EM evaluation.

To evaluate the impact of the ΔT_{PT} in $\Delta R/R_0$ and in the circuit lifetime, we simulate 176 paths from interconnects of an operational amplifier. The length and the width of the paths vary from 2 μ m to 123 μ m and from 0.06 μ m to 1.7 μ m, respectively, as illustrated in the histograms from Figure 4.9(a) and Figure 4.9(b). Here, the length is the longest metal line of an interconnect containing the path. The lines are designed with 3 metal layers, where 6 paths are Metal 3, 33 paths are Metal 1 and 137 paths are Metal 2, as shown in Figure 4.9(c). The resistance of each path is given in Figure 4.9(d). The histograms in Figure 4.9(e) and Figure 4.9(f) indicate the current density though the lines in relation to the maximum current density of 2 mA/ μ m for static and DC simulations. Note that some paths have the current density ratio (J/J_{max}) higher than 1 and operate under a current density above the maximum indicated by the technology, which accelerates the EM.



Figure 4.9 – Parameters to evaluate the lines of an operational amplifier: (a) Length.
(b) Width. (c) Metal layer. (d) Resistance. (e) Current density ratio in DC operation. (f) Current density ratio in static operation.



Figure 4.10 – (a) ΔT_{PT} in metal layers. (b) Temperature estimated in metal layers.

The average power dissipated per transistor is 75 μ W, equivalent to a normalized power of 416 W/m, for the transistor's pitch of 180 nm. Figure 4.10(a) shows the ΔT_{PT} of 61 K, 48 K and 42 K for the Metal 1, Metal 2 and Metal 3 respectively. This results in a temperature of 361 K, 348 K, and 342 K, for a reference temperature of 300 K, as shown in Figure 4.10(b). The importance to estimate the temperature by layer is evident when observing the temperature in Metal 1, which is 19 K higher than the estimated temperature in the Metal 3 layer. Although the local layers have elevated temperature, ICs can support higher temperatures. A chip designed for a commercial application, for example, supports maximum temperatures of 398 K.

Figure 4.11 shows the time to the first ten interconnect paths failure, i.e., the time to ten paths suffer a critical resistance change due to EM. The $MTTF_{10}$ in Figure



Figure 4.11 – (a) Time to the resistance of the lines increase 10% with a ΔT_{PT} variation from -3% to 3%. (b) Similar analysis with the critical resistance of the lines of 40%.

4.11(a) means that the critical resistance is 10%, while in Figure 4.11(b) the MTTF₄₀ represents the critical resistance of 40%. Observe in Figure 4.11(a) that a variation from -3% to 3% in ΔT_{PT} changes the MTTF₁₀ from 1.45 to 1.2 years. In Figure 4.11(b), the expected lifetime varies from 5.8 to 4.3 years for the same ΔT_{PT} variation. A reduction of some degrees in the temperature improves the MTTF of the circuit considerably. This analysis considers that the electronic circuit works full time. For a workload of 50%, the lifetime of the lines doubles.

The variation in the resistance change ratio $(\Delta R/R_0)_V$ is given by

$$\left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_V = \left| \left[\left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_1 - \left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_2 \right] \right| \cdot \left[\left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_1 \right]^{-1},\tag{4.1}$$

where the resistance change ratio $(\Delta R/R_0)_1$ is a function of the estimated temperature (T) and the resistance change ratio $(\Delta R/R_0)_2$ is a function of the T plus the temperature difference ΔT_V .

From (2.14), $(\Delta R/R_0)_V$ is given by

$$\left(\frac{\Delta R}{R_0}\right)_V = \left|1 - \frac{T}{T + \Delta T_V} \exp\left[\frac{E_a}{k} \left(\frac{\Delta T_V}{T(T + \Delta T_V)}\right)\right]\right|.$$
(4.2)

Figure 4.12 shows the impacts of the ΔT_V variation of 3 K in the $(\Delta R/R_0)_V$ of the Metal 1, Metal 2 and Metal 3 lines from Figure 4.10. With a ΔT_V of 3 K the $(\Delta R/R_0)_V$ increases above 20%, indicating again the importance of consider the different temperatures on the BEOL in the estimation of the resistance change of the lines.



Figure 4.12 – $(\Delta R/R_0)_V$ of the lines with the ΔT_V from 0 to 3 K.

4.3 Evaluation of Critical Blocks based on the Temperature

To use the methodology proposed in section 3.6, we evaluate six sub-circuit blocks named B1 to B6 with the normalized power dissipation from transistors given in Figure 4.13(a). The block B4 has the highest power dissipation, and possibly the highest temperature in the interconnects. The blocks B1 and B2 are more sensitive to the temperature, therefore they are positioned far from B4, as in Figure 4.13(b). Each block contains 1000 interconnects operating under the maximum current density, with the $(\Delta R/R_0)_{max}$ variating from 5% to 50%, and the length of the lines variating from 10 μ m to 125 μ m, as shown in Figure 4.14.



Figure 4.13 – (a) Power dissipation of the six blocks. (b) Temperature map of the chip.



Figure 4.14 – Histograms from parameters of the 1000 lines. (a) Length. (b) $(\Delta R/R_0)_{max}$.

Parameters	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	B6
Current	Ι	1.5I	1.75I	4I	1.25I	2I
Width	w_{\min}	$1.5w_{\min}$	$1.75 w_{\min}$	$4w_{\min}$	$1.25 w_{\min}$	$2w_{\min}$

Table 4.2 – Normalized values for current and width of the six blocks.

All the blocks have the lines operating under the maximum current density informed by the foundry [171]. The lines of B4 have a width 4 times larger than the minimum width (w_{min}) of the technology, resulting in a current of 4*I*. In turn, B1, with the lowest power dissipation, have the lines with w_{min} and under a current of *I*. For Metal 1 lines from GPDK 45 nm technology, with the maximum current density of 2 mA/ μ m and the w_{min} of 65 nm, $I = 130 \ \mu$ A. The normalization of the width and the current is considered for the other blocks, as shown in Table 4.2.

Figure 4.15 shows the ΔT_{PT} of the blocks B1 to B6 based on (2.8), considering the power dissipated in each block, the metal and via volume fraction of 40% and 6%, respectively, k_i of 1.4 W/m·K and k_m of 401 W/m·K, and the via and metal layers from 45 nm technology, described in Table 4.3 [171]. The ΔT_{PT} of the Block B4 in the Metal 1 is 57 K, as the block operates under the highest power dissipation, while the other blocks have a lower ΔT_{PT} . Here, we use the Metal 1 lines to evaluate the critical blocks, and we consider that in a block the Metal 1 lines operates with the same ΔT_{PT} .

Table 4.3 – Thickness of the lines and via layers from GPDK 45 nm.

Layer	Metal thickness (nm)	Via thickness (nm)
1-8	150	150
9-10	1000	1000
11	1400	-



Figure 4.15 – ΔT_{PT} in the layers from the blocks B1 to B6.

The comparison of the estimated temperature (T), obtained from the sum of the reference temperature and the ΔT_{PT} , with the maximum temperature (T_{max}) in the lines, gives the probability of a block being critical. T_{max} is given by (3.7), which ρ_b is 0.6 $\mu\Omega m$, I and w are from the Table (4.2), Δt is 2 years, A_b is given by (2.12), the reference temperature is 300 K, the length and the $(\Delta R/R_0)_{max}$ are from Figure 4.14.

Figure 4.16 shows the T and the T_{max} of the Metal 1 lines from B1 to B6. Note that all the lines from B4 have the T above the T_{max} , indicating that B4 is probably the most critical block. Table 4.4 presents the number of critical lines susceptible to EM failure and the probability of the blocks to failure, obtained from comparison of the temperatures. B1 is the block less susceptible to failure with 16 critical lines, equivalent to a 1.6% of the lines from the block, and 0.87% of the critical lines from the chip. In

Table 4.4 – EM evaluation of the blocks B1 to B6.

Block	$T(\mathbf{K})$	T_{max} (K)	Critical lines	Critical lines (%)	Critical block (%)
B1	309	304 - 344	16	1.6	0.87
B2	316	303 - 341	67	6.7	3.64
B3	321	302 - 339	254	25.4	13.9
B4	350	298 - 334	1000	100	54.7
B5	312	302 - 342	37	3.7	2.14
B6	324	301 - 338	453	45.3	24.79



Figure 4.16 – T and T_{max} of the Metal 1 lines from B1 to B6.

turn, B4 is the most critical block in terms of temperature, with 54.7% of the critical lines of the chip.

This methodology allows identifying the blocks potentially critical due to EM based on the temperature. This allows to the designer strategically position the blocks in the chip avoiding the parts more sensible to those that dissipate more power. For example, positioning B1 near B2 can increase the temperature in B1 to 316 K and increase the critical lines in B1 to 77. In turn, positioning B1 near B6 increases the number of critical lines in B1 to 314. Notice that the elevated temperature in B4 indicates the need to maintain a distance to the other blocks. In this way, the concept of electromigration is expanded to evaluate critical blocks as a function of the temperature.

5 Electromigration Evaluation Tool

In this chapter the EM computational tool is described, explaining the procedures to identify the critical lines and to estimate the width of the lines. The tool is applied to evaluate the interconnects of an operational amplifier (Opamp).

5.1 Tool Description

The proposed tool has four main routines named: input parameters, EM evaluation, critical lines report and the dimension of the lines. The input parameters routine includes the resistivity of the interconnects and barrier, the minimum width of the lines, the thickness of the via and metal layers, the activation energy, the diffusivity of the metal and all the parameters related to EM. The width, the length, the resistance, the metal layer, and the current density through the lines are obtained from the EDA tool.

The EM evaluation routine uses the traditional and the resistance change criterion to evaluate the lines. According to the traditional criterion, the critical lines present a current density or the Blech Product above the threshold. All the lines can be evaluated based on the resistance change, where the performance of the circuit is evaluated with the degradation of the lines. Nevertheless, to reduce the time of the analysis, the traditional criteria can filter the lines prone to failure. For a margin of 20%, i.e., the lines with a current density of 80% of the maximum allowed one or with the Blech product of 80% of the critical threshold, the lines are classified as susceptible to failure and evaluated with the resistance change criterion.

The maximum resistance of each interconnect is simulated with Cadence, where the equivalent resistance of the interconnect is incremented until it reaches the value that degrades the circuit performance, violating the specifications. This critical resistance can be used in two ways to evaluate the critical lines. The first approach evaluates the maximum resistance that a line can degrade without affecting significantly the circuit performance and then compare it with the critical resistance determined above. The second approach calculates the line resistance increase due to EM, according to the expected circuit lifetime, and then simulates if the inclusion of the EM seriously degrades the circuit performance.

The time of the first line to reach a critical resistance determines the lifetime of the circuit from the EM point of view. For a circuit with more than two performance metrics, the lifetime is based on the parameter that degrades first. As the circuit lifetime is affected by the temperature of the lines, the temperature is estimated as described in chapter 4.

The volume fraction of the metal is the percentual of interconnects occupying a metal layer of the chip. As the layers have a different number of interconnects, the volume fraction of the layers is generally different. In turn, the via fraction volume is the percentual occupied by the vias in a via layer. The increase in the number of vias and the width of the metal lines allows the heat to flow more easily to the global layers of metal and reduces the temperature in the local layers. As the vias occupy a smaller area than the metal lines, and the enlargement of the lines can affect the minimum distance to the adjacent lines, it is easier to insert more vias to change the thermal conductivity of the BEOL.

The critical lines from a circuit are shown in the EM report, where the critical lines are classified as 1 and the non-critical lines classified as 0, for the three EM criteria. The report shows the number of lines propense to EM failure, filtered with the maximum current density and the Blech product. The critical and non-critical lines are also reported in a Venn Diagram [201], which shows the number of critical and non-critical lines according to the EM criteria.

The oversized and undersized lines are informed, where the oversized lines are indicated by 1 and have a width larger than the minimum of the technology without giving an advantage in terms of EM. The undersized lines are indicated with the number 2 and have a dimension smaller than the informed by the three criteria, increasing the risk to the circuit failure due to EM. The suggested width for the lines based on the EM criteria is also reported.

As the width of the lines is typically designed based only on the maximum current density criterion, generally the lines are classified as oversized. Even through the correction of the lines changes the metal volume fraction, the change is not expressive to affect the temperature on the BEOL.

5.2 Tool Application for a Line of an Operational Amplifier

Figure 5.1 shows the supply voltage interconnect named Vdd of an operational amplifier evaluated with the proposed tool. The circuit designed in GPDK 45 nm technology has the Vdd line composed of 70 paths made in Metal 1, Metal 2 and Metal 3 layers, where the metal thickness is 150 nm and the maximum current density (j_{max}) is 2 mA/ μm . The minimum width for Metal 1 is 60 nm, while for Metal 2 and Metal 3 it is 80 nm [171].



Figure 5.1 – Vdd line of an operational amplifier designed with three metal layers. The interconnect paths are enumerated from 1 to 70.

Tables 5.1 and 5.2 show the EDA data from the Vdd paths enumerated from 1 to 70. The paths 1 to 5 operate under a current density (j) above the maximum (j_{max}) . Note that some paths designed with a width of 1.7 μ m operate with a current density below 60% of j_{max} , as an example the paths 59 and 60, indicating possibly two oversized lines. To evaluate the Vdd line with the Blech product and $\Delta R/R_0$ criteria, we use the more resistive metal segment including each path (L_{EM}), which varies from 2.15 μ m to 123.1 μ m. The resistance (R) of the paths varies between 0.04 Ω to 6.93 Ω .

Table 5.3 shows the typical values of the parameters to estimate the temperature change on the BEOL and the resistance change in a metal line of the 45 nm technology. Table 5.4 and Table 5.5 show the volume fractions of the Metal 1 to Metal 3 (ϕ_{int}) and the vias 1-2 and 2-3 (ϕ_{via}) layers, obtained with the areas of the vias (A_{via}) , metals (A_{int}) and circuit, which measures 2250 μm^2 . The aspect ratio a_r is the average ratio of the length and the thickness of the lines in each layer of the circuit. The parameter a_r (explained in Appendix F) is used to obtain the effective thermal conductivity of the metal (k_{eff}^{int}) and via (k_{eff}^{via}) layers, which in turn is used to calculate the effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL (k_{eff}^{beol}) .

Path	Layer	j/j_{max}	W (μ m)	$L (\mu m)$	L_{EM} (μm)	$R(\Omega)$	I (mA)
1	Metal 3	1.44	0.50	14.0	15.5	1.69	1.44
2	Metal 2	1.23	1.70	4.82	43.1	0.34	4.18
3	Metal 2	1.23	1.70	4.07	43.1	0.14	4.18
4	Metal 2	1.12	1.70	3.98	43.1	0.13	3.80
5	Metal 2	1.04	0.69	1.91	13.7	0.16	1.44
6	Metal 2	0.97	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	1.34
7	Metal 2	0.90	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	1.25
8	Metal 2	0.69	1.70	2.51	43.1	0.08	2.36
9	Metal 1	0.92	0.18	0.84	123.1	0.32	0.33
10	Metal 1	0.92	0.18	6.39	123.1	2.52	0.33
11	Metal 3	0.91	0.50	14.1	15.4	1.70	0.91
12	Metal 2	0.69	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	2.34
13	Metal 2	0.84	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	1.16
14	Metal 2	0.68	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	2.31
15	Metal 2	0.66	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	2.27
16	Metal 2	0.77	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	1.06
17	Metal 2	0.65	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	2.23
18	Metal 2	0.64	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	2.20
19	Metal 2	0.70	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.97
20	Metal 2	0.70	0.65	2.50	14.3	0.23	0.91
21	Metal 2	0.63	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	2.16
22	Metal 2	0.62	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	2.12
23	Metal 2	0.61	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.05	2.08
24	Metal 2	0.63	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.87
25	Metal 2	0.62	0.65	0.94	14.3	0.08	0.81
26	Metal 2	0.57	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.95
27	Metal 2	0.56	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.78
28	Metal 2	0.51	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.73
29	Metal 2	0.55	0.65	0.94	14.3	0.08	0.72
30	Metal 2	0.55	0.08	1.45	8.31	0.88	0.08
31	Metal 2	0.55	0.08	1.45	8.31	0.88	0.08
32	Metal 2	0.55	0.08	1.45	8.31	0.92	0.08
33	Metal 1	0.53	0.18	11.4	123.1	4.49	0.19
34	Metal 2	0.50	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.69
35	Metal 2	0.44	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.51
36	Metal 2	0.48	0.65	0.94	14.3	0.08	0.62
37	Metal 2	0.44	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.07
38	Metal 2	0.44	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.07
39	Metal 2	0.44	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.07
40	Metal 2	0.38	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.30

Table 5.1 - EDA data of the Vdd paths enumerated from 1 to 40.

Path	Layer	j/j_{max}	W (μ m)	$L (\mu m)$	L_{EM} (μm)	$R(\Omega)$	I (mA)
41	Metal 2	0.43	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.59
42	Metal 2	0.41	0.65	0.94	14.3	0.08	0.53
43	Metal 2	0.34	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.17
44	Metal 2	0.33	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.12
45	Metal 2	0.32	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.10
46	Metal 2	0.31	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.07
47	Metal 2	0.36	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.50
48	Metal 2	0.30	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	1.03
49	Metal 1	0.35	0.10	0.29	2.15	0.18	0.07
50	Metal 2	0.29	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	0.99
51	Metal 2	0.33	0.65	0.94	14.3	0.08	0.44
52	Metal 2	0.33	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.05
53	Metal 2	0.33	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.05
54	Metal 2	0.33	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.05
55	Metal 2	0.28	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	0.96
56	Metal 2	0.29	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.40
57	Metal 2	0.26	0.65	0.94	14.3	0.08	0.34
58	Metal 1	0.28	0.10	0.29	2.15	0.18	0.05
59	Metal 2	0.27	1.70	1.14	43.1	0.04	0.92
60	Metal 2	0.26	1.70	3.13	43.1	0.11	0.90
61	Metal 1	0.25	0.18	8.82	123.1	3.45	0.09
62	Metal 1	0.25	0.18	17.6	123.1	6.93	0.09
63	Metal 1	0.25	0.18	17.6	123.1	6.93	0.09
64	Metal 1	0.25	0.18	7.27	123.1	2.85	0.09
65	Metal 1	0.25	0.18	5.99	123.1	2.35	0.09
66	Metal 2	0.19	0.65	0.94	14.3	0.08	0.25
67	Metal 2	0.22	0.69	0.94	13.7	0.08	0.31
68	Metal 2	0.22	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.03
69	Metal 2	0.22	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.03
70	Metal 2	0.22	0.08	1.54	8.31	0.95	0.03

Table 5.2 – EDA data of the Vdd paths enumerated from 41 to 70.

Table 5.3 – Parameters to estimate the resistance and the temperature cha	nge.
---	------

Parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit	Ref
Width of the barrier	w_b	3.0	nm	[162]
TaN barrier resistivity	$ ho_b$	$6 x 10^{-7}$	$\Omega \cdot m$	[202]
Cu diffusion pre-factor	D_0	$3x10^{-5}$	m^2/s	[128]
Thermal conductivity of the metal	k_m	401	W/m·K	[135]
Thermal conductivity of the insulator	k_i	1.4	W/m·K	[136]
Activation energy	E_a	1.0	eV	[165]

Note that the Metal 2 has the highest volume fraction of 19.7% and the k_{eff}^{int} of 2.08 W/m·K. Metal 3 has a lower fraction volume of 4.4% and the k_{eff}^{int} of 1.52 W/m·K. In turn, the via 1-2 placed between the Metal 1 and Metal 2 layers have the k_{eff}^{via} of 2.9 W/m·K, higher than the k_{eff}^{via} of 2.5 W/m·K from via 2-3 layer.

Metal layer	ϕ_{int} (%)	k_{eff}^{int} (W/m·K)	$a_r \ (\mu m)$
Metal 1	8.3	1.65	22.3
Metal 2	19.7	2.08	12.3
Metal 3	4.4	1.52	24.5

Table 5.4 – Parameters of the metal layers to calculate k_{eff}^{int} .

Table 5.5 – Parameters of the via layers to calculate k_{eff}^{via} .

Via layer	$A_{via} \ (\mu m^2)$	ϕ_{via} (%)	k_{eff}^{via} (W/m·K)
Via12	8.64	0.38	2.9
Via23	6.48	0.28	2.5

Table 5.6 – Temperature of the metal layers.

Metal layer	ΔT_{PT} (K)	$T(\mathbf{K})$
Metal 1	38.4	338.4
Metal 2	24.2	324.2
Metal 3	14.8	314.8

From (2.9) the k_{eff}^{beol} is estimated in 2 W/m·K, where the BEOL thickness of 750 nm is obtained from the sum of the thicknesses of the 3 metal layers and 2 via layers. From (2.8), the power dissipated in the FEOL increases the temperature to that shown in Table 5.6. As expected, the Metal 1 layer temperature is larger than that from Metal 2 and Metal 3, since it is closer to the FEOL.

Tables 5.7 and 5.8 show the evaluation of the paths as a critical and noncritical for the three criteria: maximum current density (C.j), maximum resistance change (C. $\Delta R/R_0$), and the Blech product (C.jL). The paths classified as 1 are critical and the paths classified as 0 are non-critical. The path 1 is critical for C.j, with a current density of 2.98 mA/ μ m, above the maximum of 2 mA/ μ m. Nonetheless, path 1 is non-critical for C.jL, since the line presents the Blech product of 0.29 A/ μ m, below the threshold for Cu lines of 0.37 A/ μ m [203].

The lines prone to failure (LPF) have current density or Blech product above the threshold [204]. Path 1 is classified as LPF since it has a current density above the maximum. The LPF lines are evaluated with the $\Delta R/R_0$ criterion that compares the resistance change of the line with the the maximum resistance change of 10%. For example, Table 5.7 shows that after 2 years operating in a workload of 50%, the resistance of the path 1 increases 8.18%, below the threshold of 10%.

The 5 paths critical to the C.*j* and the 17 paths critical to the C.*jL* result in 19 LPF paths. From the LPF paths, only the path 5 is critical to the $C.\Delta R/R_0$ criterion, indicating that the other 18 paths can suffer EM degradation and not damage seriously the performance of the Opamp. In turn, the 13 lines classified as a critical due to $C.\Delta R/R_0$ and not LPF can damage significantly the IC performance, even operating under a current density below the threshold. This analysis shows the importance of considering the impacts of the resistance change in the IC performance to evaluate the critical lines due to EM, being an important complement to the traditional criteria based on the current density.

Path	$j (mA/\mu m)$	$jL (A/\mu m)$	$\Delta R/R_0$ (%)	C.j	C.jL	LPF	$C.\Delta R/R_0$
1	2.89	0.29	8.18	1	0	1	0
2	2.46	0.70	9.69	1	1	1	0
3	2.46	0.70	9.69	1	1	1	0
4	2.24	0.64	8.81	1	1	1	0
5	2.09	0.19	21.20	1	0	1	1
6	1.95	0.17	19.82	0	0	0	1
7	1.81	0.16	18.44	0	0	0	1
8	1.39	0.40	5.48	0	1	1	0
9	1.85	1.51	4.80	0	1	1	0
10	1.85	1.51	4.80	0	1	1	0
11	1.82	0.18	5.16	0	0	0	0
12	1.38	0.39	5.44	0	1	1	0
13	1.68	0.15	17.05	0	0	0	1
14	1.36	0.39	5.35	0	1	1	0
15	1.33	0.38	5.27	0	1	1	0
16	1.54	0.14	15.67	0	0	0	1
17	1.31	0.37	5.18	0	1	1	0
18	1.29	0.37	5.10	0	1	1	0
19	1.41	0.12	14.28	0	0	0	1
20	1.40	0.13	13.36	0	0	0	1
21	1.27	0.36	5.01	0	0	0	0
22	1.25	0.36	4.92	0	0	0	0
23	1.22	0.35	4.83	0	0	0	0
24	1.27	0.11	12.90	0	0	0	1
25	1.25	0.12	11.97	0	0	0	1
26	1.15	0.33	4.53	0	0	0	0
27	1.13	0.10	11.52	0	0	0	1
28	1.02	0.29	4.02	0	0	0	0
29	1.11	0.10	10.59	0	0	0	1
30	1.11	0.06	5.55	0	0	0	0
31	1.11	0.06	5.55	0	0	0	0
32	1.11	0.06	5.55	0	0	0	0
33	1.06	0.87	2.76	0	1	1	0
34	1.00	0.09	10.14	0	0	0	1
35	0.89	0.25	3.51	0	0	0	0
36	0.96	0.09	9.21	0	0	0	0
37	0.88	0.04	4.40	0	0	0	0
38	0.88	0.04	4.40	0	0	0	0
39	0.88	0.04	4.40	0	0	0	0
40	0.76	0.22	3.01	0	0	0	0

Table 5.7 – Evaluation of the critical paths 1 to 40 with the EM criteria.

Path	$j (mA/\mu m)$	$jL (A/\mu m)$	$\Delta R/R_0$ (%)	$\mathrm{C.}j$	C.jL	LPF	$C.\Delta R/R_0$
41	0.86	0.07	8.75	0	0	0	0
42	0.82	0.07	7.83	0	0	0	0
43	0.68	0.19	2.71	0	0	0	0
44	0.66	0.19	2.61	0	0	0	0
45	0.65	0.18	2.56	0	0	0	0
46	0.63	0.18	2.48	0	0	0	0
47	0.72	0.06	7.37	0	0	0	0
48	0.60	0.17	2.39	0	0	0	0
49	0.70	0.01	69.39	0	0	0	1
50	0.58	0.16	2.31	0	0	0	0
51	0.67	0.06	6.45	0	0	0	0
52	0.66	0.03	3.32	0	0	0	0
53	0.66	0.03	3.32	0	0	0	0
54	0.66	0.03	3.32	0	0	0	0
55	0.56	0.16	2.22	0	0	0	0
56	0.59	0.05	5.98	0	0	0	0
57	0.53	0.05	5.07	0	0	0	0
58	0.56	0.01	56.26	0	0	0	1
59	0.54	0.15	2.14	0	0	0	0
60	0.53	0.15	2.10	0	0	0	0
61	0.50	0.41	1.30	0	1	1	0
62	0.50	0.41	1.30	0	1	1	0
63	0.50	0.41	1.30	0	1	1	0
64	0.50	0.41	1.30	0	1	1	0
65	0.50	0.41	1.30	0	1	1	0
66	0.38	0.03	3.68	0	0	0	0
67	0.45	0.04	4.60	0	0	0	0
68	0.44	0.02	2.23	0	0	0	0
69	0.44	0.02	2.23	0	0	0	0
70	0.44	0.02	2.23	0	0	0	0

Table 5.8 – Evaluation of the critical paths 41 to 70 with the EM criteria.

Tables 5.9 and 5.10 show the calculated width of the paths for the maximum current density (W_j) given by (3.1), the Blech product (W_{jL}) given by (3.2) and the maximum resistance change (W_r) given by (3.6). The suggested width (W_s) depends on the LPF index. If the line is classified as LPF, this width is chosen as the maximum value calculated by the three criteria. If the line is not LPF, the width is the maximum between the two traditional criteria. The minimum width of Metal 1 is 0.06 μ m and of Metal 2 and Metal 3 is 0.08 μ m, according to the technology rules [171].

The lines which are wider than W_s are classified as oversized and indicated by the number "1" in the last column (size evaluation). The undersized lines are narrower than W_s and are indicated by the number "2". The lines indicated with "0" have adequate sizes, i.e. their widths are larger than W_s by 5% at most. Although the Vdd line have 47 oversized paths, some of the 15 undersized paths operate under a higher current density, which reduces the expected lifetime of the circuit.

Path	$W_j \ (\mu m)$	$W_{jL} \ (\mu m)$	$W_r (\mu m)$	$W_s (\mu m)$	W (μ m)	Size evaluation
1	0.72	0.40	0.31	0.72	0.5	2
2	2.09	3.25	0.34	3.25	1.7	2
3	2.09	3.25	0.34	3.25	1.7	2
4	1.90	2.96	0.34	2.96	1.7	2
5	0.72	0.35	0.34	0.72	0.69	0
6	0.67	0.33	0.34	0.67	0.69	0
7	0.62	0.31	0.34	0.62	0.69	1
8	1.18	1.84	0.32	1.84	1.7	2
9	0.16	0.73	0.31	0.73	0.18	2
10	0.16	0.73	0.31	0.73	0.18	2
11	0.45	0.25	0.31	0.45	0.5	1
12	1.17	1.82	0.32	1.82	1.7	2
13	0.58	0.28	0.34	0.58	0.69	1
14	1.15	1.80	0.32	1.80	1.7	2
15	1.13	1.77	0.32	1.77	1.7	0
16	0.53	0.26	0.33	0.53	0.69	1
17	1.12	1.74	0.32	1.74	1.7	0
18	1.10	1.71	0.32	1.71	1.7	0
19	0.48	0.24	0.33	0.48	0.69	1
20	0.45	0.23	0.33	0.45	0.65	1
21	1.08	1.68	0.32	1.68	1.7	0
22	1.06	1.65	0.32	1.65	1.7	0
23	1.04	1.62	0.32	1.62	1.7	0
24	0.43	0.21	0.33	0.43	0.69	1
25	0.40	0.21	0.32	0.40	0.65	1
26	0.97	1.52	0.32	1.52	1.7	1
27	0.39	0.19	0.32	0.39	0.69	1
28	0.86	1.35	0.32	1.35	1.7	1
29	0.36	0.18	0.32	0.36	0.65	1
30	0.04	0.01	0.31	0.06	0.08	1
31	0.04	0.01	0.31	0.06	0.08	1
32	0.04	0.01	0.31	0.06	0.08	1
33	0.09	0.42	0.30	0.42	0.18	2
34	0.34	0.17	0.32	0.34	0.69	1
35	0.75	1.18	0.32	1.18	1.7	1
36	0.31	0.16	0.32	0.31	0.65	1
37	0.03	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
38	0.03	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
39	0.03	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
40	0.65	1.01	0.31	1.01	1.7	1

Table 5.9 – Dimensions of the paths 1 to 40 of the Vdd interconnect.

Path	$W_j \ (\mu m)$	W_{jL} (μm)	$W_r (\mu m)$	$W_s (\mu m)$	W (μ m)	Size evaluation
41	0.29	0.14	0.32	0.29	0.69	1
42	0.26	0.13	0.32	0.26	0.65	1
43	0.58	0.91	0.31	0.91	1.7	1
44	0.56	0.87	0.31	0.87	1.7	1
45	0.55	0.86	0.31	0.86	1.7	1
46	0.53	0.83	0.31	0.83	1.7	1
47	0.25	0.12	0.32	0.25	0.69	1
48	0.51	0.80	0.31	0.80	1.7	1
49	0.03	0.01	0.36	0.06	0.1	1
50	0.49	0.77	0.31	0.77	1.7	1
51	0.22	0.11	0.31	0.22	0.65	1
52	0.02	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
53	0.02	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
54	0.02	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
55	0.48	0.74	0.31	0.74	1.7	1
56	0.20	0.10	0.31	0.20	0.69	1
57	0.17	0.08	0.31	0.17	0.65	1
58	0.02	0.01	0.35	0.06	0.1	1
59	0.46	0.72	0.31	0.72	1.7	1
60	0.45	0.70	0.31	0.70	1.7	1
61	0.04	0.20	0.30	0.20	0.18	2
62	0.04	0.20	0.30	0.20	0.18	2
63	0.04	0.20	0.30	0.20	0.18	2
64	0.04	0.20	0.30	0.20	0.18	2
65	0.04	0.20	0.30	0.20	0.18	2
66	0.12	0.06	0.31	0.12	0.65	1
67	0.15	0.07	0.31	0.15	0.69	1
68	0.01	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
69	0.01	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1
70	0.01	0.01	0.30	0.06	0.08	1

Table 5.10 – Dimensions of the paths 41 to 70 of the Vdd interconnect.

Some paths have the dimensions significantly different from W_s . The paths 2 and 3, for example, are sized with widths of 1.7 μ m. Nevertheless, these lines are undersized as the W_s is 3.25 μ m, 91% larger than the designed width. In turn, the path 46 designed with 1.7 μ m is 2 times wider than the suggested width.

The suggested dimensions for the paths of the Vdd line have a large variation. To maintain a pattern in the design, the paths from a ramification can be designed with the dimension of the widest path. For example, the paths 2,3 and 4, placed in a ramification, could be designed with the dimmension of 3.25 μ m, even W_s of the path 4 being smaller. The same procedure to obtain the adequate width of the paths in a ramification can be extended to the other interconnects.



Figure 5.2 – Critical paths from the Vdd line according to: (a) j_{max} . (b) jL. (c) $\Delta R/R_0$. (d) LPF. (e) LPF and $\Delta R/R_0$. (f) LPF or $\Delta R/R_0$.

Figure 5.2 shows the critical and non-critical lines according to the maximum current density (a), the Blech product (b), the resistance change criterion (c), the LPF lines (d), the LPF lines and the resistance change criterion (e) and LPF lines or the resistance change criterion (f). Note that only 7% of the lines are classified as critical for the j_{max} . The number of critical lines increases to 27% when the Blech Product is included in the evaluation. Including the resistance change criterion, the number of critical lines becomes 46%. This clearly shows the importance to evaluate the lines not only based on the traditional criteria.

Observe that only 1% of the lines are classified as a LPF and critical for the resistance change criterion. This indicates that many of the 27% LPF paths do not represent a problem to the IC performance. In turn, from the 20% of the paths that can degrade the IC performance, only one path is classified as a critical due to the current density.

Figure 5.3 shows a Venn diagram with the number of critical interconnects. One path is critical only due j_{max} , 14 paths are critical only to the Blech product, and 13 paths are critical only to the resistance change criterion. Four lines are classified as critical for at least two criteria. In total (N), 38 lines are not critical, while 32 are critical (Nc) concerning EM.



Figure 5.3 – Venn diagram with the critical paths of the Vdd line.

5.3 Tool Application for an Operational Amplifier

A similar analysis with the EM tool is extended to evaluate the other interconnects of the operational amplifier. Figure 5.4 illustrate the evaluated 177 paths designed in three metal layers. The EDA data input to the tool is described in the Appendix G.

Figure 5.5 shows that the critical paths due to j_{max} increases from 8% in (a) to 16% in (b), when considered only the Blech product, to 30% in (c), when considered only the resistance change and 47% when the paths are evaluated with all the three criteria in (f), corresponding to all the paths classified as a critical for at least one criterion. While 20% of the paths are LPF in (d), only 3% of the paths are LPF and also classified as critical with the resistance change criterion in (e). This analysis is summarized in Figure 5.6, which shows the corresponding Venn diagram with 53 critical paths for the resistance change, 29 critical paths for the Blech product, and 15 critical paths for the current density. The circuit have 83 critical (Nc) and 94 non-critical paths.

Figure 5.7 shows the suggested width and the as-designed width of 177 paths of the Opamp. The 27 paths which operate under the highest current densities have wider suggested widths than the as-designed widths, meaning that those paths are undersized. On the other hand, the 127 oversized paths, which operate under lower current densities, have the suggested width smaller than the as-designed widths.



Figure 5.4 – Interconnects with 177 paths of the operational amplifier.



Figure 5.5 – Critical lines from the operational amplifier according to: (a) j_{max} . (b) jL. (c) $\Delta R/R_0$. (d) LPF. (e) LPF and $\Delta R/R_0$. (f) LPF or $\Delta R/R_0$.



Figure 5.6 – Veen diagram with the critical paths of the operational amplifier.



Figure 5.7 – Comparison of the width of the lines and the suggested width.

These results allow the designer to identify the critical paths or interconnects and obtain the suggested dimensions to fix the issues. The 127 oversized lines and the 30 undersized lines, result in a total of 157 lines that need to be resized to improve the reliability, without affecting the circuit performance.

6 Electromigration Impact on Circuits and Technology: Study Cases

In this chapter, we evaluate the performance of an operational amplifier, a bandgap voltage reference, and a ring oscillator circuit under EM. Finally, we compare the EM properties of several technologies including the state-of-the-art technology.

6.1 Evaluation of a Ring Oscillator under Electromigration

The EM methodology is applied to investigate the performance variation of a ring oscillator, considering that the source line VDD (Metal 1, $L = 125 \ \mu m$, $w = 0.6 \ \mu m$) undergo EM damage. The ring oscillator layout illustrated in Figure 6.1, is composed of 33 inverters, resulting in a frequency of 480 MHz for 300 K, 1.8 V and 100 fF of load for the testbench circuit, designed in XFAB 180 nm technology.



Figure 6.1 – Ring oscillator layout and detailed view showing the evaluated lines.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES



Figure 6.2 – Testbench for lines of a ring oscillator under EM.

Figure 6.2 shows the circuit testbench used to simulate the performance difference between layout extracted view without EM (REF) and with EM (DUT) in VDD line (varying ΔR). The obtained differences are used to calculate the delay and the frequency variation as a function of the $\Delta R/R_0$ ratio. A critical variation of $\Delta R/R_0 = 10\%$ is considered here.

A transient analysis is performed to simulate the delay variation of the ring oscillator as a function of the line resistance increase. The delay is the time difference between output signals from the DUT and the REF circuit when these signals cross the voltage of 0.9 V in the eleventh cycle, which avoids the transitory signals during the earlier cycles. As shown in Fig 6.3, the delay increases around 0.4% of one cycle period, when the VDD line is affected by the EM for $\Delta R/R_0 = 10\%$.



Figure 6.3 – Delay change of the oscillator as a function of the resistance increase.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES

Symbol	Name	Value	Unit	Ref
ρ_b	Ta resistivity	$3x10^{-6}$	$\Omega.\mathrm{m}$	[146]
D	Cu effective diffusivity	$^{1}6.7 \text{ x}10^{-18}$	m^2/s	[128]
ρ	Cu resistivity	$24x10^{-9}$	$\Omega.\mathrm{m}$	[162]
Ι	Current	$2.3 \mathrm{x} 10^{-4}$	А	-
A_b	Ta barrier area	$7.98 \mathrm{x} 10^{-15}$	m^2	[145]
w	Line width	0.6	$\mu { m m}$	[145]
h	Line heigth	0.17	$\mu { m m}$	[145]
E_a	Cu line activation energy	1.0	eV	[165]

Table 6.1 – Parameters based on the XFAB 180 nm technology used to calculate the $\Delta R/R_0$ ratio from (2.14).

Figure 6.4 shows that the frequency parameter is less significantly affected by the ΔR variation than the delay. The frequency varies 0.7% for $\Delta R/R_0 = 10\%$. Although $\Delta R/R_0$ variations around 10% can indicate a critical resistance variation, this ratio can assume larger values in some wires without disturbing the circuit performance. For example, the oscillator performance is simulated for the $\Delta R/R_0$ equals to 100% and 200% for VDD line shown in Table 6.2. Despite a substantial resistance increase in the VDD line, its impact on the circuit performance is small.

Table 6.2 – Oscillator performance for $\Delta R/R_0$ of 100% and 200% at 353 K.



Figure 6.4 – Frequency change in oscillator as a function of the resistance increase.

 $^{1}353$ K.

The faster the ratio $\Delta R/R_0$ of a line increases, and the circuit performance degrade, more critical is the line. Although long interconnects can be more resistive and more susceptible to the formation of voids, a small one affected by a void can deteriorate faster, degrading circuit performance parameters, like frequency response and delay.

6.2 Evaluation of a Bandgap Circuit under Electromigration

Figure 6.5 shows the layout of a bandgap circuit that supplies a reference voltage (VBG) of 1.3 V, under typical conditions, to bias other circuits of a piezoelectric sensor [205, 206]. The circuit, designed in XFAB XC06 technology, has three Al metal layers with TiN barrier layer. For this technology, the minimum width of the Metal 1, Metal 2, and Metal 3 are 0.9 μ m, 0.9 μ m and 1.1 μ m, respectively [207]. In order to evaluate the circuit, two studies are carried out: a) first, we investigate the VDD line and b) we extend the study to evaluate the lines connected to transistors terminals.

The VDD line carries the highest current of the circuit, 630 μ A, resulting in a current density of 0.14 mA/ μ m. The current density is lower than the j_{max} of 1.0 mA/ μ m from the XFAB XC06 technology [207]. The VDD line presents the Blech product of 0.031 A/ μ m, which is three times lower than the threshold of 0.1 A/ μ m for Al interconnects [208]. Thus, the traditional criteria indicate that the VDD line is not an EM critical line.

We evaluate the performance change of the circuit due to EM using the parameters from Table 6.3. The resistance of the VDD line increases from 1.5 Ω to 5.5 Ω after 5 years considering an operation at 80 °C (353 K), a significant increase of 366%. The resistance change reduces the VBG by only 0.13% of the nominal value after 5 years. This result indicates that the line is not critical regarding to the performance change criterion. Table 6.4 summarizes the results.



Figure 6.5 – Layout of the bandgap voltage circuit.

Parameter	Value	Unit	Ref
Line width	4.5	$\mu { m m}$	-
Line length	113	$\mu { m m}$	-
Line heigth	0.5	$\mu \mathrm{m}$	[207]
Temperature	353	Κ	-
Al resistivity	$29.2 \text{x} 10^{-9}$	Ωm	[114]
Barrier height	0.12	$\mu \mathrm{m}$	[207]
TiN resistivity	$0.65 \mathrm{x} 10^{-6}$	Ωm	[209]
Al difusivity (353 K)	$1.17 \mathrm{x} 10^{-16}$	m^2/s	-

Table 6.3 – Parameters used to evalute the Al lines of the bandgap circuit.

Table 6.4 – VDD line evaluation for the bandgap circuit.

Criterion	Blech Effect	\mathbf{j}_{max}	VBG in 5 Years
Limit	$0.1 \text{ A}/\mu\text{m}$	$1 \text{ mA}/\mu\text{m}$	5%
Designed	$0.031~\mathrm{A}/\mathrm{\mu m}$	$0.14 \text{ mA}/\mu\text{m}$	0.13%
Situation	Non-critical	Non-critical	Non-critical

From the above analysis, it is clear that EM is not an issue for the VDD line. In fact, the line width could be reduced without affecting the circuit performance or reliability. This reduction does not bring apparent advantages. However, when a large portion of the BEOL interconnects are considered, resizing such lines can lead to significant area reduction.

The method is now extended to the other lines of the bandgap circuit, evaluating the overall impact of the BEOL interconnects on the bandgap voltage (VBG). Figure 6.6 shows the current density of the lines connected to the drain and source from the 40 transistors of the bandgap circuit. All the lines are subjected to current densities below the j_{max} . In fact, most of them are two orders of magnitude lower than the j_{max} .

Figure 6.7 shows the VBG variation (Δ VBG) in 2, 5, and 10 years due to EM in the 40 drain lines. The highest change of 2.1 mV corresponds to a 0.2 % of the VBG. Note that the line #17 affect the VBG more significantly, even though there are other lines operating with higher current densities. This is an indication that a line can be non-critical due to the traditional criteria, nevertheless, it can eventually degrade the circuit performance.

Figure 6.8 shows a comparison of the current density for the as-designed lines and for the lines resized to the minimum width allowed by the technology. Note that the width reduction results in a minimal current density increase for most of the lines. The current density through the line #17 increases by more than 10% and it is still much lower than the j_{max} .

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.6 – Current density through lines connected to the drain and source of the transistors.



Figure 6.7 – VBG change due to EM in the drain interconnects for different operation times.

Figure 6.9 shows the VBG variation considering the resized lines under EM for 2, 5, and 10 years. The line #17 changes the VBG by 2.8 mV, 0.22% of the nominal VBG, a very small change, similar to the results from the as-designed lines in Figure 6.7. It indicates that the lines can be designed with the minimum dimensions and the reliability and performance of the circuit in terms of EM is still mantained.

So far, the results considered the EM degradation in each line individually. We consider now an extreme case, where the EM affects all the lines simultaneously. The EM

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.8 – Current density though the lines with the designed width and the minimum width.



Figure 6.9 – VBG change for the lines with the minimum width.

occurrence in all the lines is improbable to occur, but such an analysis provides a general assessment of the circuit variation regarding multiple resistance variations of the lines.

Figure 6.10 shows the Δ VBG for the as-designed lines and the resized lines with the time. The maximum Δ VBG is below 0.02%, which is even lower than the variation for EM in individual lines (0.22%). The resistance increase due to EM in various lines seems to compensate for the circuit VBG variation.
CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.10 – VBG variation when all lines are assumed to be under EM.

6.3 Evaluation of an Operational Amplifier under Electromigration

We apply the proposed method to investigate the EM impact on the performance of an operational amplifier (Opamp). This amplifier contains 20 transistors and 15 interconnects. It is designed to have 40 dB gain at 1 MHz, unit gain frequency (UGF) of 730 MHz, output voltage swing of 2.2 V and maximum settling time of 10 ns, at 125 °C. The amplifier is fed by a 2.6 V differential voltage (|avdd|=|avss|=1.3 V). It is designed in a 45 nm technology, which is composed by three metal layers (M1, M2, and M3) of Cu using a TaN barrier layer. M1 has a minimum width of 60 nm, while M2 and M3 have a minimum width of 80 nm [210]. Figure 6.11 shows the operational amplifier schematics and Figure 6.12 presents the designed layout of the IC.

The "avdd", "avss" and "outp" lines are subjected to the highest "current densities" (here, design nomenclature – current per width – will be used throughout the text), above 2 mA/ μ m, as simulated with the EAD Cadence tool. The simulated current



Figure 6.11 – Operational amplifier used to evaluate the EM effect of the lines resistance variation on the circuit performance degradation.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 110



Figure 6.12 – Layout extract from the evaluated differential amplifier with the avdd line highlighted.

for the avdd line is 3.1 mA, which given the line dimensions, represents a maximum current density of 2.9 mA/ μ m. This is a high current density from an EM point of view, considering that the technology limit is set to 2 mA/ μ m for M1 in a 45 nm design [210].

The IC performance changes are evaluated due to EM for a time interval and specific temperature. AC, DC and transient analysis are performed to study the variations of the circuit parameters. The results are compared with the obtained with the EAD, an EM Cadence tool that classifies the lines as critical based on the current density threshold from the technology [211].

Figure 6.13 shows the relative void length evolution (l_v/L) for a current density of 2.9 mA/µm, for two different temperatures, 353 K (80 °C) and 398 K (125 °C). While the void needs 5 years to reach 2% of the total line length at 80 °C, the same percentage is obtained in only 51 days at 125 °C. It is interesting to observe that a l_v/L of 2% yields an increase of 31% in the line resistance. From the interconnect point of view, this value is surely large, however, it is the impact of such an increase on the circuit performance that determines the IC robustness and reliability against EM. Then, the IC designer can use the proposed method to identify the lines that affect the chip performance.

Figure 6.14 illustrates the void length evolution for temperatures between 300 K (27 °C) and 400 K (127 °C) for 1 year of operation. While operating in low temperatures, an l_v/L variation lower than 1% is obtained. In a higher temperature, like 390 K (117 °C), the void reaches 8% of the line, increasing the line resistance to 125%, surely causing performance degradation.

Based on the resistance variations calculated above, we investigate the performance change of the amplifier at 125 °C after 5 years of operation. Two studies are carried out: a) first we investigate the EM effect on the transistors' transconductance (g_m) and on the threshold voltage (V_{TH}) , b) we evaluate the circuit performance variation.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.13 – Void length relative to the line length and the line resistance increase as a function of time for 353 K (80°C) and 398 K (125°C).



Figure 6.14 – Void length relative to the line length variation with temperature and line resistance change after 1 year.

Figure 6.15 shows the g_m for all the 20 transistors of the Opamp in their initial condition and also after 5 years of operation experiencing EM in several lines of the layout, namely the "avdd", the "avss" and the "outp" line. Considering the EM damage from the avdd line, except for the M9, the g_m magnitude of all transistors decreased. The transistor M1, for example, presented a variation from 5.5 mS to 2.9 mS, a reduction of 48%. This means that for the same gate voltage signal, only half drain signal current is supplied compared to the initial condition. Such a large reduction of g_m indicates a serious degradation in the gain of the amplifier, as it will be seen later. Similarly to the avdd line, EM in the avss line also leads to a large g_m variation, as shown in Figure 6.15. An

111

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.15 – Transconductance variation for the 20 Opamp transistors due to the EM in several lines for 125 °C.



Figure 6.16 – V_{TH} variation for the 20 Opamp transistors due to the EM in several lines for 5 year operating at 125 °C.

interesting result is obtained, however, if we analyze the line outp. This line is subjected to a current density of 2.36 mA/ μ m, being above the 2 mA/ μ m threshold. Nevertheless, its corresponding resistance change does not affect the transconductances significantly. After carrying out a similar analysis for the other 12 lines of the layout, we observed negligible g_m changes.

Figure 6.16 shows the threshold voltage (V_{TH}) variation of each transistor. The V_{TH} is a fundamental parameter and it varies with the bias voltages of the transistors [212, 213]. Again, the avss and avdd lines have a more significant effect on this parameter.

Due to the EM in the avss line, the bulk-source voltage of device M17 change and the V_{TH} varies 17.5 mV. This decrease can alter the current flow and the transistor operation region. Differently from the g_m results, the EM effect on the net36 and net17 has a visible influence on the V_{TH} . This degradation is more pronounced for the transistors M13, M16 and M17 for which the bulk-source and the drain-source voltages are changed by the increased resistance in the interconnects due to EM [214]. With the reduction of the V_{TH} the performance of the opamp degrades.

Based on the analysis above, the method is now extended to evaluate the amplifier performance regarding its unit gain frequency (UGF), voltage gain, output voltage swing and settling time (ST). In this way, the overall impact of the EM in the BEOL interconnects on the circuit performance is predicted.

Figure 6.17 shows the amplifier UGF variation with time considering that the avdd, avss, outp, net17, and the other 11 lines are degrading due to EM. As a simplification, the lines with smaller influence on the UGF are named as "other lines". In general, the avss and the avdd degrade the UGF performance the most.

For the avss line the UGF has varied from the initial frequency from 729.4 MHz to 607.3 MHz, a variation of 16.73% in only 8 months. Note that the outp line is also subjected to a large current density, however, its impact on the UGF is clearly much lower than the effect of the avdd and the avss lines.

The net17 line is an interesting case. From the maximum current density evaluation, it is not a critical line, as its current density remains below 2 mA/ μ m. However, from the UGF degradation point of view, its impact is as significant as the outp line,



Figure 6.17 – Unit gain frequency variation with time for different interconnects under EM at 125 °C.



Figure 6.18 – UGF variation with temperature after 7 years.

as shown in Figure 6.17. Thus, even though the outp and the net17 lines have distinct classifications following the standard current density criterion, their impact on the chip performance is similar.

Figure 6.18 illustrates the UGF variation with temperature from 300 K (27 °C) to 398 K (125 °C) in 7 years. Observe that, for the avss operating at 353 K (80 °C) the void increases 3%, but representing a resistance variation of 46.5%. It degrades the UGF to 619 MHz, a reduction of 15% in relation to the nominal value. For a higher temperature the degradation is accelerated, reducing the performance below 400 MHz. The avdd has also a large impact, although not as strong as the avss line. Note that the lines outp and net17 lead to a relatively small change for this parameter, even for higher temperatures.

Figure 6.19 shows the voltage gain variation after 5 years of operation at 125 °C. Here, the EM in net17 is responsible for the larger gain degradation, reducing 30% in 1.2 years, decreasing from 40 dB to 37 dB. After 2 years the gain decrease reaches 52%. This large gain variation makes the Opamp useless. The lines avss and avdd do not cause a critical gain variation, being less than 3 dB in 5 years. It is important to emphasize that the net17 operates with a lower current density than the avss and avdd lines, nevertheless, it affects the circuit gain more significantly. The net17 connects the differential pair to the output of the opamp. An increase in the resistance of the net17 changes the polarization of the transistors and affects the gain.

Figure 6.20 presents the cutoff frequency (f_c) evolution with time highlighting the lines net17 and avss as the most relevant. While the avss under EM produces a decrease in the f_c , the net17 leads to an increase of this performance. Note that other



Figure 6.19 – Gain variation in 5 years of operation at 125 °C.



Figure 6.20 – Cutoff frequency variation in 5 years of operation at 125 °C.

interconnects result in a slight change in the cutoff frequency. This is true even for the avdd and outp lines, both of which subjected to the highest current densities.

The voltage gain, unit gain frequency and cutoff frequency have been evaluated with an AC analysis. Two other parameters of the Opamp are investigated using a transient analysis: the settling time and the output voltage swing.

Figure 6.21 shows the voltage swing variation with operation time. Note that five interconnects have a significant impact in this parameter. The largest decrease is observed for the avdd and net17 lines, resulting in a decrease of 14.07% after 5 years. It should be noted that the line "outm", which has not been critical so far, appears now as a source of measurable parameter deviation.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.21 – Swing voltage variation in 5 years of operation at 125 °C.

Figure 6.22 presents the settling time variation. As before, the lines avdd, avss and net17 influence the performance more significantly than the other lines. However, an interesting difference appears here. While the degradation of net17 leads to an increase of the settling time by 8.91% after 5 years, a critical situation, as the expected settling time should be below 10 ns, the avss and avdd lines resulted in a time decrease of 11.95% and 16.74%, respectively.

The previous analysis considered that the EM occurs in just one of each line at a time. Thus, the performance variation is evaluated due to the resistance change of a single interconnect. However, during circuit operation several, if not all, lines can suffer EM simultaneously. This simultaneous degradation of multiple lines is analyzed next. The resistances increases are included in all lines at once and a combined study of the circuit is carried out.

Figure 6.23 depicts the gain and the UGF temporal evolution. They vary by 27% and 14%, respectively, within 5 years (T= 125°C). Interestingly, the gain reduction here is lower than the largest decrease observed in Figure 6.19 due to the net17 degradation alone in 2 years (52%). The UGF variation is also smaller than the worst case measured in Figure 6.17. A possible explanation for this behavior is that the bias of the devices is partially compensated by the set of resistance changes, reducing their impact on the circuit performance.

Figure 6.24 shows the settling time and swing voltage variations in a transient evaluation. Observe that the swing voltage becomes worse by the EM effect in all the lines. It decreases by 31.28% in 5 years, a much larger reduction than that of 14.07%



Figure 6.22 – Settling time variation in 5 years of operation at 125 °C.



Figure 6.23 – Gain and UGF variation considering all interconnects under EM simultaneously.

observed in Figure 6.21.

Table 6.5 summarizes the above results and shows the lines that affect more significantly the performance parameters of the Opamp. Observe that the avss and avvd are critical by the current density criterion and they have the highest impact on the UGF and f_c parameters. The net17 leads to a larger degradation of the gain, ST and swing, even though it is classified as non-critical by the traditional method, since it has a current density below the 2 mA/ μ m.



Figure 6.24 – Settling time and swing voltage variation for all lines affected simultaneously by EM.

Table 6.5 – Summary of performance parameters indicating the most critical interconnect and the line condition from the traditional evaluation.

Parameter	Main line	j (mA/µm)	EAD condition	
UGF	avss	5.4	Critical	
gain	net 17	1.9	Non-critical	
f_c	avss	5.4	Critical	
ST	net 17	2.9	Critical	
swing	net 17	1.9	Non-critical	

An interesting view about the IC lifetime is that it depends on the time for a crucial parameter to vary by a given magnitude in relation to the nominal value. If the gain is the most significant performance parameter for the Opamp, the circuit lifetime is then determined by the gain variation, i.e. the time for the gain to decrease by 3 dB. Therefore, depending on the application, the UGF or the settling time can be more critical than the swing voltage, for example, even if the latter suffers a larger change during the same period. In this case, the UGF and the settling time would determine the circuit lifetime. This same reasoning can be extended to other parameters and circuits. The methodology developed in this work is an innovative design tool applied for such investigations.

6.4 Evaluation of the Temperature in a 45nm Technology

Recent works [133, 215] have evaluated the influence of the BEOL layers on the temperature distribution based on the estimation of the thermal conductivities of each interconnect layer. The volume fraction of the metallic and via layers affect directly

Layers	Thickness (nm)	Minimum metal/via width (nm)
Contact	85	4.5
Metal 1	130	65
Via 1-2	120	65
Metal 2,3	140	70
Via 2-3, 3-4	120	70
Metal $4,5,6$	280	140
Via 4-5, 5-6, 6-7	290	140
Metal 7, 8	800	400
Via 7-8, 8-9	820	400
Metal 9, 10	2000	800
Via 9-10	2000	800

Table 6.6 – Thickness and width of the lines and via layers from FreePDK45 technology.

the BEOL thermal conductivity. An increase in the number of vias and metallic layers provides more paths for easier heat flow and reduces the ΔT_{PT} in regions next to the heat source [133].

We evaluate an interconnect structure formed by ten metallization layers and 9 via layers of the FreePDK45 technology [216], described in Table 6.6. Three analyses are performed: 1) the temperature of the local layers is evaluated considering a different number of vias in Via 2-3 layer and metal in Metal 2 layer; 2) the temperature of the BEOL is evaluated considering the thermal conductivity of the metallic and the via layers; 3) the impact of the temperature on the resistance of the lines due to EM are calculated, taking into account the temperature distribution previously obtained. The lines are set to the same length of 10 μ m and operate with the maximum current density allowed by the technology, which corresponds to a current of 2 mA/ μ m [171].

6.4.1 Temperature Change of the Local Layers with Volume Fraction Variation on a Single Layer

Figure 6.25(a) shows part of the structure used to evaluate the temperature change in the local layers as a function of the via and metal layer volume fraction. It is composed by three metallization levels, M1, M2, and M3 and two via layers, Via12 and Via23. The ΔT_{PT} is evaluated for different values of the volume fraction of M2 (V_{INT}M2) and Via23 (V_{VIA}23), represented in Fig.6.25(b) and Fig.6.25(c), respectively.

Figure 6.26 shows the ΔT_{PT} for the local layers for different values of V_{INT}M2. For a V_{INT}M2 of 50%, superior to a typical V_{INT} value from 28% to 40% [133], the temperature increase in M1 and M2 is 102.5 K and 81 K, respectively. For a V_{INT}M2 of 10% the temperature increase in M1 is 104.2 K, a change of 1.7 K. For M2 the ΔT_{PT} CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 120



Figure 6.25 – (a) Structure used to evaluate the temperature change in local layers with the changes in: (b) metal volume fraction in $V_{INT}M2$ from 10% to 50% and (c) via volume fraction in $V_{VIA}23$ from 1% to 4%.



Figure 6.26 – ΔT_{PT} in local layers for different V_{INT}M2 for $P_T = 500$ W/m.

increases to 82.5 K. Observe that the difference in ΔT_{PT} is small, below to 2%, as the alteration occurs only in the M2 layer, while the other 9 layers from the BEOL have a V_{INT} of 30% and a V_{VIA} of 2%.

Figure 6.27 shows the ΔT_{PT} for the local layers as a function of the V_{VIA}23 with V_{INT} of 30%. For a V_{VIA}23 of 4% the temperature increase in M1 and M2 is 103.2 K and 81.6 K, respectively. For a V_{VIA}23 of 1%, the ΔT_{PT} in M1 is 103.7 K. The ΔT_{PT} in M2 is 82.1 K. In the section 6.4.3 we shows that increasing the number of vias in all the layers, not only in V_{VIA}23 layer, results in a higher k_{eff}^{BEOL} and a more significant ΔT_{PT} reduction is obtained in the layers near the heat source. Note that the M1 layer shows



Figure 6.27 – ΔT_{PT} in local layers for different fractions of V_{VIA}23 for $P_T = 500$ W/m.

the highest temperature variation, a significant difference of 20 K and 30 K higher than the M2 and M3 layers, respectively.

6.4.2 Effective Thermal Conductivity of the BEOL

Figure 6.28 shows the effective thermal conductivity of the vias layers (k_{eff}^{VIA}) in FreePDK45 technology, given by (2.10), as a function of their volume fraction (V_{VIA}) for V_{INT} of 30%, $k_m = 401 \text{ W/(m.K)}$ and $k_i = 1.4 \text{ W/(m.K)}$. A typical V_{VIA} value from



Figure 6.28 – Effective thermal conductivity variation of the via layers as a function of the via volume fraction.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.29 – Effective thermal conductivity variation of the interconnect layers as a function of volume fraction.

1% to 6% is considered [133]. The k_{eff}^{VIA} increases with a larger V_{VIA} , obtained with the addition of more vias in the BEOL. For example, a thermal conductivity of 7.4 W/m.K is obtained for a V_{VIA} of 1.5%. Increasing V_{VIA} to 2.5%, which corresponds to an increase of 66% in the number of vias, k_{eff}^{VIA} is increased to 11.4 W/m.K, 54% higher. This proves the importance of the number of vias in the k_{eff}^{VIA} and, consequently, in the temperature distribution. In this case, all the layers have the same conductivity value, as their shape is similar, with the same volume fraction of metallic and isolating materials.

Figure 6.29 shows the effective thermal conductivity of the interconnect layers (k_{eff}^{INT}) as a function of the volume fraction (V_{INT}) . k_{eff}^{INT} increases for a larger V_{INT} , which is obtained by enlarging the lines of the BEOL. The evaluated technology has lines with four different thicknesses, as described in Table 6.6, resulting in four k_{eff}^{INT} variations. The global layers, M9 and M10, with dimensions of 10 μ m have the largest height, 2000 nm. For a V_{INT} variation from 26% to 36%, the thermal conductivity from M9 given by (2.11) increases from 1.93 to 2.25 W/m.K, a change of 16.5%. The k_{eff}^{INT} for the global layers with dimensions of 100 μ m have a lower change, as the aspect ratio increase 10 times, given by (F.7). For a V_{INT} variation from 26% to 36% the thermal conductivity of M9 increases 15.6%. Note that the local layers, M1, M2 and M3 also suffer a significant variation. Comparing with the via layers, the interconnect layer has a smaller influence on the thermal distribution, as the k_{eff}^{VIA} is higher than k_{eff}^{INT} .

Figure 6.30 shows the effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL (k_{eff}^{BEOL}) varying with the volume fraction of the lines (V_{INT}) and vias (V_{VIA}) . It should be noted that the impact of the vias number on the BEOL thermal conductivity is more significant

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.30 – Effective thermal conductivity variation of the BEOL as a function of interconnect layer volume fraction for various via layer volume fraction.

when V_{VIA} changed from 1% to 2% than the doubling from 2% to 4%. Considering a V_{INT} of 26%, in the first case k_{eff}^{BEOL} increases from 2.61 to 2.85 W/m.K, an increase of 9.2%. In the second case, it varies from 3.03 to 3.1 W/m.K, a lower change of 2.3%. This analysis indicates that an excessive number of vias does not necessarily result in a significant gain for the thermal conductivity of the BEOL. On the other hand, the impact of V_{INT} becomes higher for the BEOL with a larger V_{VIA} . Considering, for example, a situation with 1% of V_{VIA} , the k_{eff}^{BEOL} increases only 0.33 W/m.K or 12.6% for a V_{INT} increase from 26% to 36%. In a second situation, with a 6% of fraction volume of vias, the change in k_{eff}^{BEOL} is of 0.48 W/m.K, or 15.4%. These results suggest that the number of vias in each layer can be sized to allow a higher thermal conductivity in BEOL and then a better temperature distribution.

6.4.3 Temperature Change of the Local Layers with Volume Fraction Variation on All Layers

Differently from Sub-section 6.4.1, where the via and the metallic layer volume fraction change is considered for only one layer, in this section the volume fraction variation in all layers of the BEOL is analyzed.

Figure 6.31 shows the temperature variation of each of the 10 layers in the 45 nm technology calculated by (2.8). A k_{eff}^{BEOL} simulated before with V_{VIA} equal to 1% and 6% and V_{INT} of 20% and 40% is considered here. The modes A, B, C and D have V_{INT} equal to 40%, 40%, 20%, 20% and V_{VIA} equal to 6%, 1%, 6%, 1%, respectively,



Figure 6.31 – Temperature variation in the BEOL layers for a 45 nm technology due transistors self-heating for a dissipated power of 500 W/m.

Table 6.7 – The modes A, B, C and D used to evaluate the ΔT_{PT} .

Mode	А	В	С	D
$V_{\rm VIA}(\%)$	6	1	6	1
$V_{INT}(\%)$	40	40	20	20

as summarized in Table 6.7. The conditions for mode A yield the lower temperatures in the BEOL, mainly in the local interconnects (M1, M2, and M3). Mode D represents the worst case, resulting in the highest temperatures. Note that the temperature at the top of BEOL, whose height is 11.89 μ m, has a small variation. On the other hand, the layers close to the FEOL undergo very significant temperature variations. Interestingly, even for a higher layer such as M9, the temperature change of 28.5 K (28.5°C) for mode D is a significant value.

Figure 6.32 illustrates two cases of ΔT_{PT} differences due the power dissipated by transistors $(DIFF(\Delta T_{PT}))$: 1) between the modes D and C; 2) between the modes D and A. Observe that in the first case, the temperature in the local and intermediate lines reduce significantly. M1 for example, has a temperature reduction of 19.5 K. Considering the second case, an extra reduction is obtained with a larger volume of metal (40%), the M1 temperature decreases by 45 K. The presence of additional vias and enlarged lines allows a better temperature distribution, and the layers nearest the transistors are the most benefited ones.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES 1



Figure 6.32 – Temperature variation difference in the BEOL layers for two cases of volume via and interconnect variation for $P_T = 500 \text{ W/m}$.

6.5 Comparision of Technologies and the State of the Art

In this section, a comparison of the expected temperature distribution on the metallic layers of different technologies, namely the 45 nm, 22 nm, 14 nm, and 10 nm is presented. In particular, we discuss the results for the 10 nm node, which is the state-of-the-art technology. As expected, the technologies with smaller dimensions suffer a larger temperature change and, consequently, the EM becomes more critical as the interconnects' lifetimes are shortened [217–220].

Figure 6.33 shows the minimum interconnect pitch of the latest technologies. The Intel 10 nm process has an interconnect pitch of 36 nm, 1.44 times smaller than the Intel 14 nm and 2.22 times smaller than the Intel 22 nm [44, 221, 222]. The minimum interconnect cross-sectional area for these technologies is shown in Figure 6.34. While the copper lines dimensions are significantly reduced in each technology node, the thickness of the diffusion barriers does not scale as fast [153, 223–226]. For example, the Intel 14 nm technology has the minimum metal width of 28 nm, 1.57 times smaller than the Intel 22 nm [227, 228]. In turn, these technologies have a TaN/Ta diffusion barrier/liner close to 2-3 nm [228]. Since the diffusion barrier does not scale as the metal lines, the barrier occupies an increasing volume portion of the lines and the wires become more resistive.

Figure 6.35 shows the temperature variation of the metallic layers for the different technologies, considering a power dissipation of 200 W/m. Here, we apply (2.8) for a metal and a via volume fraction of 32% and 4%, respectively. As expected, the layers that are closer to the transistors undergo a more significant temperature increase.

CHAPTER 6. ELECTROMIGRATION IMPACT ON CIRCUITS AND TECHNOLOGY: STUDY CASES



Figure 6.33 – Minimum interconnect pitch of modern technologies [44, 171, 221, 222].



Figure 6.34 – Minimum interconnect cross-sectional area of modern technologies [229].

For the Metal 1 of the Intel 10 nm, the ΔT_{PT} is 75 K, 12 K higher than in the Metal 2. Even in the Metal 4, we observe a large increase of 54 K. For comparison, the ΔT_{PT} in Metal 1 of the Intel 14 nm technology is 18 K lower than in the Intel 10 nm process. A more significant difference is obtained comparing with the FreePDK 45 nm. In this case, the ΔT_{PT} difference is 34 K, for the Metal 1 and 30 K for the Metal 2 layer. It is important to mention that in this comparison, we consider the same power dissipation on the FEOL. In a real situation, the new technologies operate with a large density of transistors, with each transistor individually dissipating a lower power when compared with the older technologies.



Figure 6.35 – Temperature change of the metallic layers for different technologies. A power dissipation of 200 W/m is considered.

A high temperature affects the performance of a circuit leading to changes in the transistors operation and to increase the metal lines resistance. The lines resistance is expected to be larger as the dimensions reduce in each new technology. However, in addition, the temperature increases the lines resistance even more, which strongly affects the power consumption, operation frequency, and signals delay of circuits. The temperature increase due to the Joule heating and to the dissipated power from transistors makes the circuit operation slower.

Figure 6.36 shows the $\Delta R/R_0$ variation of the Metal 1 interconnects due to the EM considering the temperature increase from Figure 6.35. Here, (2.14) is applied for a current density of 2 MA/cm², an activation energy of 1.0 eV, and resistivity of the Ta/TaN and the Cu of 60 $\mu\Omega$ -cm and 1.7 $\mu\Omega$ -cm, respectively. Note that with the technology evolution, the $\Delta R/R_0$ increase becomes more and more pronounced with time. In particular, for the 10 nm technology, the resistance increase is significantly larger. The $\Delta R/R_0$ increase is a consequence of the higher ΔT_{PT} and the thinner Ta/TaN barrier.

Figure 6.37 shows a comparison between the estimated lifetimes of the Metal 1 for different technologies, where the MTTF of the FreePDK 45 nm is normalized to 1. The MTTF reduces to 0.2 in the 10 nm technology, a significant reduction of 80%. As the MTTF reduces 60% after each line interconnect scaling, the lifetime improvement is a priority for the next technology nodes. These results indicate that EM failures become a more serious issue with the interconnect scaling, which agrees with the experimental observation.

127



Figure 6.36 – $\Delta R/R_0$ variation of the Metal 1 lines of modern technologies considering the temperature increase from Figure 6.35.



Figure 6.37 – Mean-time-to-failure of interconnects of modern technologies under a current density of 2 MA/cm^2 .

The above analysis makes clear that Cu poses severe limitations to further improve interconnects performance and reliability. The Cu limitations drive the research to new materials, such as Co and Ru, as alternative metals to replace Cu lines. As Intel has already announced, the Co filling improve the performance and reliability, at least for the local interconnect lines which have very narrow pitches [60].

7 Conclusion and Outlook

Electromigration induced failure is one of the main reliability issues for the microelectronics industry. Since its detection as a potential damage mechanism in metallization of integrated circuits, the semiconductor industry has made efforts in order to design more resistant interconnects against EM. The continuous scaling of the metal lines geometry leads to higher current densities through the lines and higher temperatures, which accelerates the EM failure process. As a consequence, the new technology nodes require the development of new fabrication processes, the research of materials which yield adequate properties, and the design of specific geometrical features to improve the reliability of the lines.

The continuous reduction of the metal line dimensions in the new technology nodes is accompanied by an increase in the density of interconnections in modern integrated circuits. Therefore, the scaling of the line geometry and the reduction of the distance between transistors and metal layers make the lines to operate at high temperatures and conduct high current densities, accentuating the atom displacement due EM. As a consequence, the EM becomes more challenging for the development of the new nodes and the lifetime of interconnects have decreased from generation to generation, despite all the knowledge gained and efforts made since 1960.

In order to study interconnect failure behavior the use of accelerated EM tests is necessary, in which the lifetime of an interconnect can be reduced by either increasing the current density and/or by increasing the temperature. Since EM tests are conducted at elevated temperatures and current densities, extrapolations are needed to assess reliability at operating conditions. The maximum current density supported by the lines are determined and used as criterion to design the interconnects of the integrated circuits. The Blech product is another criterion to check if the interconnects are prone to failure as a function of the current density and the interconnect length.

The EM analysis for integrated circuits is challenging and limited by the conventional EM criteria. Moreover, the peculiarities of each circuit and the process variation creates more uncertainty to the EM analysis. However, the performance of a circuit is not necessarily affected by such a criterion and a more complex analysis is required to relate the interconnect and the circuit reliability. Therefore, an investigation of the EM impact on the circuit operation as an interconnect resistance changes is crucial for a circuit reliability evaluation. The evaluation of a chip performance degradation due to the EM allows the designer to identify more accurately if the chip performance is satisfactory, even if the interconnect lines operate with an elevated current density or to verify if a single line is critical even when operating with a current density which is below the maximum one given by the foundry's rule. To evaluate the EM, the resistance change of the lines has to be calculated considering mainly the temperature and the current density. With the EM evolution, the circuit performance changes. Nevertheless, as the EM evolution is an extended time process, the circuit can operate with the interconnects suffering a large resistance change and still maintain an adequate performance.

We applied the proposed resistance change method to investigate the EM on the performance of an operational amplifier. We observed that some interconnects can operate with large current densities, larger than the maximum acceptable by the technology. Yet, they still do not have a significant influence on the IC performance as a whole. Other lines, however, can have a larger impact on the performance, even though they carry a current density which is below the technology limit. This shows the importance of computing the resistance change to understand the EM impact on the circuit performance.

An adequate estimation of the temperature distribution on the circuit and on the interconnect structure is essential to a better understanding of the interconnect reliability. This is accomplished by estimating the temperature of each layer of the BEOL. The temperature estimation becomes more relevant for the new technologies which have reduced pitches and are more compact, so the BEOL experiences a higher temperature due to self-heating of the transistors. Such a temperature distribution is of great importance to the IC and layout designer, and has to be considered for the performance evaluation at circuit level.

A method to calculate the temperature distribution on the BEOL structure and its impact on the EM in a design environment has been developed and implemented in MATLAB. The study for a 45 nm technology indicates a large temperature variation from the local to the global interconnects, which should be considered for the EM induced resistance increase of the interconnects, in contrast to the standard analysis through a fixed operation temperature throughout the BEOL.

An accurate analysis of the temperature distribution on the interconnect structure is essential to a better assessment of the interconnect reliability. Therefore, a model to compute the temperature on each metallization level of the interconnect structure is implemented. The temperature distribution on the metallization layers of different technologies is investigated. It is shown that the temperature in the Metal 1 of the Intel 10 nm can increase by 75 K, 12 K higher than in the Metal 2. As expected, the layers that are closer to the transistors undergo a more significant temperature increase.

The importance of investigating the temperature distribution on the BEOL becomes more evident for the new technologies, in particular for the state of the art 10 nm technology node, which operates under a higher current density and temperature. This leads to an accelerated EM and, consequently, a significant reduction of the interconnect lifetime. Thus, EM failures become a more serious issue with the interconnect scaling, which agrees with the experimental observation. The results indicate clear that Cu poses severe limitations to further improvement of the interconnects' performance and reliability. This has driven the research of new materials, such as Co and Ru, as alternative metals to replace Cu, at least for the smallest interconnect layers.

We have developed a tool to calculate the resistance change and the temperature on the BEOL metallization to evaluate the electromigration in integrated circuits at design level. We have implemented methods which allow to: 1) evaluate the IC performance degradation; 2) identify the critical lines; 3) size the dimensions of interconnects; 4) determine the lifetime of the circuits.

When applied to evaluate the performance change of a ring oscilator, a bandgap voltage reference circuit and an operational amplifier, we observed the importance of the resistance change criterion to obtain a more accurate EM analysis. While the traditional methodology based on the Blech criterion indicates that longer lines are more critical, the shorter ones are the bottleneck, being more sensible to small resistance variations.

The tool was applied to study the impact of the electromigration on the performance of an operational amplifier. Some interconnects were classified as critical due to the large current density they carry, above the maximum limit set by the technology. The most surpreendent is that it was identified lines that normally are not critical, nevertheless degrades the performance significantly, leading to reduction of the voltage gain and voltage swing, of about 30% and 14% in 1.2 and 5 years.

This work brings the study of the reliability of the interconnects and ICs to the design stage, which allows the evaluation of the circuit performance degradation within an electromigration environment. The proposed tool allows the designer identify the critical interconnects which would not be detected using the maximum current density criteria, leading to more reliable analysis. In summary, the proposed tool identified that from the 20% paths with a critical current density, only 3% degrades significantly the circuit performance.

We used a model to represent the resistance change of the lines due to the void growth after it reaches the barrier of the lines. Nevertheless, there are still several points which should be improved, and they are suggestions for future work. From the EM resistance change model a natural extension of this work is to develop a model which incorporates the period before the void reaches the barriers, i.e. the void nucleation phase. This is a challenging task, since the void nucleation problem requires the consideration of additional physical phenomena.

From the temperature change model an interesting improvement is to consider the joule heating effect. This will provide a more accurate temperature estimation and the electromigration lifetime, which can ultimately contribute to better lifetime estimation of the circuit.

7.1 Future work perspectives

An experimental work to calibrate and to refine the models and the parameters is important to validate the methodology. The automations of the simulation flow to obtain the circuit performance curves and of the method to obtain the maximum resistance change ratio for each interconnect line has to be developed, giving a more accurate and faster analysis. The application of this work in a professional circuit design could brings challenges to mainly to reduce the time and cost of the analysis.

7.2 Publications

Scientific Journals

- Nunes, R. O. and R. L. de Orio. "Effect of Lines and Vias Density on the BEOL Temperature Distribution." Journal of Integrated Circuits and Systems 14 n.2 (2019): 1-9. DOI: 10.29292/jics.v14i2.63
- Nunes, R. O. and R. L. de Orio. "Study of the impact of electromigration on integrated circuit performance and reliability at design level." Microelectronics Reliability 76 (2017): 75-80. DOI: 10.1016/j.microrel.2017.06.027

Conference Proceedings

- Nunes, R. O., J. L. R. Bohorquez, and R. L. de Orio. "Analysis of Vias Position on the BEOL Temperature Distribution." 2019 Latin American Electron Devices Conference (LAEDC). Vol. 1. IEEE, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/LAED.2019.8714745
- Nunes, Rafael Oliveira, and Roberto Lacerda de Orio. "Effect of Lines and Vias Density on the BEOL Temperature Distribution." 2018 33rd Symposium on Micro-

electronics Technology and Devices (SBMicro). IEEE, 2018. DOI: 10.1109/SBMicro.2018.8511319

- Nunes, R. O., and R. L. de Orio. "Operational Amplifier Performance Degradation and Time-to-Failure due to Electromigration." 2018 31st Symposium on Integrated Circuits and Systems Design (SBCCI). IEEE, 2018. DOI: 10.1109/S-BCCI.2018.8533265
- Nunes, R. O., and R. L. de Orio. "Evaluating the impact of electromigration on the integrated circuit performance." 2017 32nd Symposium on Microelectronics Technology and Devices (SBMicro). IEEE, 2017. DOI: 10.1109/SBMicro.2017.8113024
- Nunes, Rafael O., Jacobus W. Swart, and Roberto L. de Orio. "Evaluation of interconnects based on electromigration criteria and circuit performance." 2017 International Caribbean Conference on Devices, Circuits and Systems (ICCDCS). IEEE, 2017. DOI: 10.1109/ICCDCS.2017.7959712
- R. O., and R. L. de Orio. "A methodology to identify critical interconnects affected by electromigration." 2016 31st Symposium on Microelectronics Technology and Devices (SBMicro). IEEE, 2016. DOI:10.1109/SBMicro.2016.7731325

Bibliography

- RO Nunes and RL de Orio. A methodology to identify critical interconnects affected by electromigration. In 2016 31st Symposium on Microelectronics Technology and Devices (SBMicro), pages 1–4. IEEE, 2016.
- [2] COMSOL Multiphysics. v. 5.4. cn. comsol. com. COMSOL AB, Stockholm, Sweden.
- [3] OXFORD. Concise Oxford Dictionary (12th Edition).
- [4] Jayanth Srinivasan, Sarita V Adve, Pradip Bose, and Jude A Rivers. The impact of technology scaling on lifetime reliability. In *International Conference on Dependable* Systems and Networks, 2004, pages 177–186. IEEE, 2004.
- [5] R Huang, XB Jiang, SF Guo, PP Ren, P Hao, ZQ Yu, Z Zhang, YY Wang, and RS Wang. Variability-and reliability-aware design for 16/14nm and beyond technology. In 2017 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), pages 12–4. IEEE, 2017.
- [6] C-K Hu, J Kelly, Huai Huang, Koji Motoyama, Hosadurga Shobha, Y Ostrovski, J HC Chen, Raghuveer Patlolla, B Peethala, P Adusumilli, et al. Future on-chip interconnect metallization and electromigration. In 2018 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages 4F–1. IEEE, 2018.
- [7] Andrzej J Strojwas, Kelvin Doong, and Dennis Ciplickas. Yield and reliability challenges at 7nm and below. In 2019 Electron Devices Technology and Manufacturing Conference (EDTM), pages 179–181. IEEE, 2019.
- [8] Philip G Neudeck, Roger D Meredith, Liangyu Chen, David J Spry, Leah M Nakley, and Gary W Hunter. Prolonged silicon carbide integrated circuit operation in venus surface atmospheric conditions. *AIP Advances*, 6(12):125119, 2016.
- [9] Vyacheslav A Kharchenko. Problems of reliability of electronic components. Modern Electronic Materials, 1(3):88–92, 2015.
- [10] Sachin S Sapatnekar. What happens when circuits grow old: Aging issues in cmos design. In 2013 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Application (VLSI-TSA), pages 1–2. IEEE, 2013.
- [11] Claude R Gauthier, Pradeep R Trivedi, Raymond A Heald, and Gin S Yee. Compensation technique to mitigate aging effects in integrated circuit components, October 31 2006. US Patent 7,129,800.

- [12] Christopher J Jezewski, James S Clarke, Tejaswi K Indukuri, Florian Gstrein, and Daniel J Zierath. Cobalt based interconnects and methods of fabrication thereof, December 6 2016. US Patent 9,514,983.
- [13] Lapedus M. Big trouble at 3nm. Semiconductor Engineering, 2018.
- [14] Paolo A Gargini. How to successfully overcome inflection points, or long live moore's law. Computing in Science & Engineering, 19(2):51, 2017.
- [15] Qian Lin, Haifeng Wu, and Guoqing Jia. Review of the global trend of interconnect reliability for integrated circuit. *Circuits and Systems*, 9(02):9, 2018.
- [16] Mohamed Selim, Eric Jeandeau, and Cyril Descleves. Addressing ic reliability issues using eldo. *Circuits and Systems*, page 9, 2016.
- [17] Xiaojun Li, Jin Qin, and Joseph B Bernstein. Compact modeling of mosfet wearout mechanisms for circuit-reliability simulation. *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, 8(1):98–121, 2008.
- [18] Paul S Ho and Thomas Kwok. Electromigration in metals. Reports on Progress in Physics, 52(3):301, 1989.
- [19] Karl J Puttlitz and Kathleen A Stalter. Handbook of lead-free solder technology for microelectronic assemblies. CRC Press, 2004.
- [20] T Turner and K Wendel. The influence of stress on aluminum conductor life. In 23rd International Reliability Physics Symposium, pages 142–147. IEEE, 1985.
- [21] Hsiao-Yun Chen, Chih Chen, and King-Ning Tu. Failure induced by thermomigration of interstitial cu in pb-free flip chip solder joints. *Applied Physics Letters*, 93 (12):122103, 2008.
- [22] IBM Copper Interconnects. The evolution of microprocessors, 2012.
- [23] James A Cunningham. Diffusion barriers for copper interconnect systems, August 27 2002. US Patent 6,441,492.
- [24] Kim Ho Yeap and Humaira Nisar. Very-Large-Scale Integration. BoD–Books on Demand, 2018.
- [25] ITRS International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors. Table intc2 mpu interconnect technology requirements. Technical report, ITRS, 2012.
- [26] Stefan P Hau-Riege and Carl V Thompson. Experimental characterization and modeling of the reliability of interconnect trees. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 89(1): 601–609, 2001.

- [27] Vivek Mishra and Sachin S Sapatnekar. The impact of electromigration in copper interconnects on power grid integrity. In Proceedings of the 50th Annual Design Automation Conference, pages 1–6, 2013.
- [28] Brian Bailey. Thermally challenged. Semiconductor Engineering, pages 1–8, 2013.
- [29] Karl Rupp. 42 years of microprocessor trend data. Accedido el, 16, 2018.
- [30] VLSI Research Inc. Impact Appraisal: BEOL Wiring Process for CMOS Logic. Chip Making Markets, 1995.
- [31] T Mourier, V Jousseaume, F Fusalba, Ch Lecornec, P Maury, G Passemard, PH Haumesser, S Maitrejean, M Cordeau, R Pantel, et al. Porous low k pore sealing process study for 65 nm and below technologies. In *Proceedings of the IEEE* 2003 International Interconnect Technology Conference (Cat. No. 03TH8695), pages 245–247. IEEE, 2003.
- [32] Damanpreet Kaur and V Sulochana. Crosstalk minimization for coupled rlc interconnects using bidirectional buffer and shield insertion. International Journal of VLSI Design & Communication Systems, 4(3):31, 2013.
- [33] Hirokazu Tohya. Switching Mode Circuit Analysis and Design: Innovative Methodology by Novel Solitary Electromagnetic Wave Theory. Bentham Science Publishers, 2013.
- [34] DH Triyoso, TB Dao, T Kropewnicki, F Martinez, R Noble, and M Hamilton. Progress and challenges of tungsten-filled through-silicon via. In 2010 IEEE International Conference on Integrated Circuit Design and Technology, pages 118–121. IEEE, 2010.
- [35] Donald S Gardner and Paul A Flinn. Mechanical stress as a function of temperature in aluminum films. *IEEE Transactions on electron devices*, 35(12):2160–2169, 1988.
- [36] Xavier Federspiel, Lise Doyen, and Solène Courtas. Use of resistance-evolution dynamics during electromigration to determine activation energy on single samples. *IEEE Transactions on device and Materials reliability*, 7(2):236–241, 2007.
- [37] Anshul A Vyas, Changjian Zhou, and Cary Y Yang. On-chip interconnect conductor materials for end-of-roadmap technology nodes. *IEEE Transactions on Nanotech*nology, 17(1):4–10, 2016.
- [38] Sunil Pathania, Somesh Kumar, and Rohit Sharma. Analyzing crosstalk-induced effects in rough on-chip copper interconnects. *IEEE Transactions on Components*, *Packaging and Manufacturing Technology*, 9(10):1984–1992, 2019.

- [39] Arash Ebrahimi Jarihani, Sahar Sarafi, Michael Köberle, Johannes Sturm, and Andrea M Tonello. Characterization of on-chip interconnects: Case study in 28 nm cmos technology. In 2019 Austrochip Workshop on Microelectronics (Austrochip), pages 93–99. IEEE, 2019.
- [40] Nikolaos Bekiaris, Zhiyuan Wu, He Ren, Mehul Naik, Jin Hee Park, Mark Lee, Tae Hong Ha, Wenting Hou, Jonathan R Bakke, Max Gage, et al. Cobalt fill for advanced interconnects. In 2017 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conference (IITC), pages 1–3. IEEE, 2017.
- [41] Linghan Chen, Daisuke Ando, Yuji Sutou, and Junichi Koike. Cual2 thin films as a low-resistivity interconnect material for advanced semiconductor devices. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 37(3):031215, 2019.
- [42] Erik Milosevic, Sit Kerdsongpanya, Mary E McGahay, Amirali Zangiabadi, Katayun Barmak, and Daniel Gall. Resistivity scaling and electron surface scattering in epitaxial co (0001) layers. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 125(24):245105, 2019.
- [43] Shibesh Dutta, Kristof Moors, Michiel Vandemaele, and Christoph Adelmann. Finite size effects in highly scaled ruthenium interconnects. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 39(2):268–271, 2018.
- [44] C-H Jan, F Al-Amoody, H-Y Chang, T Chang, Y-W Chen, N Dias, W Hafez, D Ingerly, M Jang, E Karl, et al. A 14 nm soc platform technology featuring 2 nd generation tri-gate transistors, 70 nm gate pitch, 52 nm metal pitch, and 0.0499 um 2 sram cells, optimized for low power, high performance and high density soc products. In 2015 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSI Technology), pages T12– T13. IEEE, 2015.
- [45] Suresh Kondati Natarajan, Cara-Lena Nies, and Michael Nolan. Ru passivated and ru doped ε-tan surfaces as a combined barrier and liner material for copper interconnects: a first principles study. Journal of Materials Chemistry C, 7(26): 7959–7973, 2019.
- [46] Benjamin D Briggs, Lawrence A Clevenger, Cornelius Brown Peethala, Michael Rizzolo, and Chih-Chao Yang. Barrier layers in trenches and vias, May 14 2019. US Patent 10,290,541.
- [47] J Kelly, JH-C Chen, H Huang, CK Hu, E Liniger, R Patlolla, B Peethala, P Adusumilli, H Shobha, T Nogami, et al. Experimental study of nanoscale co damascene beol interconnect structures. In 2016 IEEE International Interconnect Tech-

nology Conference/Advanced Metallization Conference (IITC/AMC), pages 40–42. IEEE, 2016.

- [48] Haoyu Xu, Zheng-Jun Hu, Xin-Ping Qu, Hao Wan, Shen-Suo Yan, Ming Li, Shou-Mian Chen, Yu-Hang Zhao, Jing Zhang, and Mikhail R Baklanov. Effect of thickness scaling on the permeability and thermal stability of ta (n) diffusion barrier. *Applied Surface Science*, 498:143887, 2019.
- [49] Seung-Min Han, Dip K Nandi, Yong-Hwan Joo, Toshiyuki Shigetomi, Kazuharu Suzuki, Shunichi Nabeya, Ryosuke Harada, and Soo-Hyun Kim. Atomic layer deposition of high-quality pt thin film as an alternative interconnect replacing cu. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films, 38(3): 032404, 2020.
- [50] Woojin Ahn, Yen-Pu Chen, and Muhammad Ashraful Alam. An analytical transient joule heating model for an interconnect in a modern ic: Material selection (cu, co, ru) and cooling strategies. In 2019 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2019.
- [51] Timothy M Philip, Nicholas A Lanzillo, Tue Gunst, Troels Markussen, Jonathan Cobb, Shela Aboud, and Robert R Robison. First principles evaluation of fcc ruthenium for use in advanced interconnects. arXiv preprint arXiv:2001.02216, 2020.
- [52] R Hübner, M Hecker, N Mattern, V Hoffmann, K Wetzig, Ch Wenger, H-J Engelmann, Ch Wenzel, E Zschech, and JW Bartha. Structure and thermal stability of graded ta-tan diffusion barriers between cu and sio2. *Thin Solid Films*, 437(1-2): 248–256, 2003.
- [53] Mark T Bohr. Interconnect scaling-the real limiter to high performance ulsi. In Proceedings of International Electron Devices Meeting, pages 241–244. IEEE, 1995.
- [54] Miguel E Perez, Michael A Sperling, John F Bulzacchelli, Zeynep Toprak-Deniz, and Timothy E Diemoz. Distributed network of ldo microregulators providing submicrosecond dvfs and ir drop compensation for a 24-core microprocessor in 14-nm soi cmos. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, 2019.
- [55] Hyo Chan Lee, Mankyu Jo, Hyungsub Lim, Min Seok Yoo, Eunho Lee, Nguyen Ngan Nguyen, Sang Youn Han, and Kilwon Cho. Toward near-bulk resistivity of cu for next-generation nano-interconnects: Graphene-coated cu. *Carbon*, 149:656–663, 2019.
- [56] Kyung-Tae Jang, So-Yeon Lee, Se-Kwon Na, Sol-Kyu Lee, Jong-Min Baek, Woo-Kyung You, Ok-Hee Park, Rak-Hwan Kim, Hyeok-Sang Oh, and Young-Chang Joo.

Electromigration characteristics and morphological evolution of cu interconnects on cvd co and ru liners for 10-nm class vlsi technology. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 39(7):1050–1053, 2018.

- [57] Zhiyuan Wu, Feng Chen, Gang Shen, Yufei Hu, Shirish Pethe, Joung Joo Lee, Jennifer Tseng, Wesley Suen, Ramkumar Vinnakota, Keyvan Kashefizadeh, et al. Pathfinding of ru-liner/cu-reflow interconnect reliability solution. In 2018 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conference (IITC), pages 51–53. IEEE, 2018.
- [58] Theodorus E Standaert and Chih-Chao Yang. Cobalt interconnect structure, April 30 2020. US Patent App. 16/171,440.
- [59] H Huang, PS McLaughin, JJ Kelly, C-C Yang, RG Southwick, M Wang, G Bonilla, and G Karve. Time dependent dielectric breakdown of cobalt and ruthenium interconnects at 36nm pitch. In 2019 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages 1–5. IEEE, 2019.
- [60] F Griggio, J Palmer, F Pan, N Toledo, A Schmitz, I Tsameret, R Kasim, G Leatherman, J Hicks, A Madhavan, et al. Reliability of dual-damascene local interconnects featuring cobalt on 10 nm logic technology. In 2018 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages 6E–3. IEEE, 2018.
- [61] Antoine Pacco, Yuya Akanishi, Quoc Toan Le, Els Kesters, Gayle Murdoch, and Frank Holsteyns. Controlled cobalt recess for advanced interconnect metallization. *Microelectronic Engineering*, 217:111131, 2019.
- [62] NA Lanzillo, C-C Yang, K Motoyama, H Huang, K Cheng, J Maniscalco, O van Der Straten, C Penny, T Standaert, and K Choi. Exploring the limits of cobalt liner thickness in advanced copper interconnects. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 40(11): 1804–1807, 2019.
- [63] Mohammad-Hashem Haghbayan, Antonio Miele, Zhuo Zouv, Hannu Tenhunen, and Juha Plosila. Thermal-cycling-aware dynamic reliability management in many-core system-on-chip. In 2020 Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE), pages 1229–1234. IEEE, 2020.
- [64] Houman Zahedmanesh and Kris Vanstreels. Mechanical integrity of back-end-of-line with ru nanowires and airgaps. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 110:113700, 2020.
- [65] Dan Zhang, Anyan Du, Chao Zhao, Jianfeng Gao, Shujuan Mao, Jing Xu, Shihai Gu, Yaodong Liu, Xue Luo, Yongliang Li, et al. Investigation of barrier property of amorphous co-ti layer as single barrier/liner in local co interconnects. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 67(5):2076–2081, 2020.

- [66] Iris Hui-Ru Jiang, Hua-Yu Chang, and Chih-Long Chang. Wit: optimal wiring topology for electromigration avoidance. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, 20(4):581–592, 2011.
- [67] Gracieli Posser, Vivek Mishra, Palkesh Jain, Ricardo Reis, and Sachin S Sapatnekar. Cell-internal electromigration: analysis and pin placement based optimization. *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, 35(2): 220–231, 2015.
- [68] Pavel Livshits, Alexander Rysin, Sergey Sofer, and Yefim Fefer. Assessment of influence of impedance mismatch in ulsi devices on electromigration of copper interconnection lines. *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, 13(1): 231–235, 2012.
- [69] Pavel Livshits and Sergey Sofer. Aggravated electromigration of copper interconnection lines in ulsi devices due to crosstalk noise. *IEEE Transactions on Device* and Materials Reliability, 12(2):341–346, 2012.
- [70] Valeriy Sukharev and Farid N Najm. Electromigration check: where the design and reliability methodologies meet. *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, 18(4):498–507, 2018.
- [71] Sandeep Chatterjee, Mohammad Fawaz, and Farid N Najm. Redundancy-aware power grid electromigration checking under workload uncertainties. *IEEE Trans*actions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, 34(9):1509– 1522, 2015.
- [72] RL De Orio, Hajdin Ceric, and Siegfried Selberherr. Physically based models of electromigration: From black's equation to modern tcad models. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 50(6):775–789, 2010.
- [73] Avshalom Hava, Jin Qin, Joseph B Bernstein, and Yizhak Bot. Integrated circuit reliability prediction based on physics-of-failure models in conjunction with field study. In 2013 Proceedings Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium (RAMS), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2013.
- [74] RJ Gleixner and WD Nix. A physically based model of electromigration and stressinduced void formation in microelectronic interconnects. *Journal of applied physics*, 86(4):1932–1944, 1999.
- [75] Vivek Mishra and Sachin S Sapatnekar. Probabilistic wire resistance degradation due to electromigration in power grids. *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, 36(4):628–640, 2016.

- [76] Sheldon Tan, Mehdi Tahoori, Taeyoung Kim, Shengcheng Wang, Zeyu Sun, and Saman Kiamehr. Physics-based em modeling. In *Long-Term Reliability of Nanome*ter VLSI Systems, pages 13–45. Springer, 2019.
- [77] John E Barwin, Amol A Joshi, Baozhen Li, and Michael R Ouellette. Integrated circuit design method and system, February 18 2014. US Patent 8,656,325.
- [78] Jeh-Fu Tuan and Peiqi He. Integrated circuit power net analysis, October 30 2001. US Patent 6,311,147.
- [79] Patrick Gibson, Valeriy Sukharev, William Matthew Hogan, and Sridhar Srinivasan. Determination of electromigration susceptibility based on hydrostatic stress analysis, September 15 2015. US Patent 9,135,391.
- [80] Mankoo Lee, Tony P Chiang, and Dipankar Pramanik. Method of determining electromigration (em) lifetimes and lifetime criteria, April 17 2014. US Patent App. 13/956,220.
- [81] Ertugrul Demircan and Mehul D Shroff. Techniques for electromigration stress determination in interconnects of an integrated circuit, August 13 2013. US Patent 8,510,695.
- [82] Zeyu Sun, Ertugrul Demircan, Mehul D Shroff, Taeyoung Kim, Xin Huang, and Sheldon X-D Tan. Voltage-based electromigration immortality check for general multi-branch interconnects. In 2016 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer-Aided Design (ICCAD), pages 1–7. IEEE, 2016.
- [83] Zeyu Sun, Ertugrul Demircan, Mehul D Shroff, Chase Cook, and Sheldon X-D Tan. Fast electromigration immortality analysis for multisegment copper interconnect wires. *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and* Systems, 37(12):3137–3150, 2018.
- [84] Di-An Li, Malgorzata Marek-Sadowska, and Sani R Nassif. T-vema: A temperatureand variation-aware electromigration power grid analysis tool. *IEEE Transactions* on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems, 23(10):2327–2331, 2014.
- [85] KN Tu. Recent advances on electromigration in very-large-scale-integration of interconnects. Journal of applied physics, 94(9):5451–5473, 2003.
- [86] Carl Wagner. Point defects and their interaction. Annual Review of Materials Science, 7(1):1–24, 1977.
- [87] RW Balluffi. Grain boundary diffusion mechanisms in metals. *Metallurgical transactions B*, 13(4):527–553, 1982.

- [88] Yi-Lung Cheng, Chih-Yen Lee, and Yao-Liang Huang. Copper metal for semiconductor interconnects. Noble and Precious Metals: Properties, Nanoscale Effects and Applications, page 215, 2018.
- [89] JR Lloyd, J Clemens, and R Snede. Copper metallization reliability. *Microelectron*ics Reliability, 39(11):1595–1602, 1999.
- [90] C-K Hu, J Ohm, LM Gignac, CM Breslin, S Mittal, G Bonilla, D Edelstein, R Rosenberg, S Choi, JJ An, et al. Electromigration in cu (al) and cu (mn) damascene lines. *Journal of applied physics*, 111(9):093722, 2012.
- [91] A Isobayashi, Y Enomoto, H Yamada, S Takahashi, and S Kadomura. Thermally robust cu interconnects with cu-ag alloy for sub 45nm node. In *IEDM Technical Digest. IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, 2004., pages 953–956. IEEE, 2004.
- [92] J Koike, M Haneda, J Iijima, and M Wada. Cu alloy metallization for self-forming barrier process. In 2006 International Interconnect Technology Conference, pages 161–163. IEEE, 2006.
- [93] Gregor Braeckelmann, Ramnath Venkatraman, Cristiano Capasso, and Matthew Herrick. Integration and reliability of copper magnesium alloys for multilevel interconnects. In Proceedings of the IEEE 2000 International Interconnect Technology Conference (Cat. No. 00EX407), pages 236–238. IEEE, 2000.
- [94] KL Lee, CK Hu, and KN Tu. In situ scanning electron microscope comparison studies on electromigration of cu and cu (sn) alloys for advanced chip interconnects. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 78(7):4428–4437, 1995.
- [95] Shih-kang Lin, Yu-chen Liu, Shang-Jui Chiu, Yen-Ting Liu, and Hsin-Yi Lee. The electromigration effect revisited: non-uniform local tensile stress-driven diffusion. *Scientific reports*, 7(1):3082, 2017.
- [96] Stephen Chambers and Dan S Lavric. Methods and devices for the suppression of copper hillock formation, January 25 2005. US Patent 6,846,752.
- [97] Minh Van Ngo, Hartmut Ruelke, Joerg Hohage, and Lothar Mergili. Method of forming capped copper interconnects with reduced hillocks, April 9 2002. US Patent 6,368,948.
- [98] Minh Van Ngo, Dawn M Hopper, and Robert A Huertas. Low temperature hillock suppression method in integrated circuit interconnects, February 19 2002. US Patent 6,348,410.

- [99] Farid N Najm and Valeriy Sukharev. Efficient simulation of electromigration damage in large chip power grids using accurate physical models. In 2019 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages 1–10. IEEE, 2019.
- [100] JR Lloyd. Black 's law revisited: Nucleation and growth in electromigration failure. Microelectronics Reliability, 47(9):1468–1472, 2007.
- [101] T Marieb, P Flinn, JC Bravman, D Gardner, and M Madden. Observations of electromigration induced void nucleation and growth in polycrystalline and nearbamboo passivated al lines. *Journal of applied physics*, 78(2):1026–1032, 1995.
- [102] Frank L Wei, Chee Lip Gan, Tam Lyn Tan, Christine S Hau-Riege, Amit P Marathe, Joost J Vlassak, and Carl V Thompson. Electromigration-induced extrusion failures in cu/low-k interconnects. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 104(2):023529, 2008.
- [103] Jeffrey P Gambino, Tom C Lee, Fen Chen, and Timothy D Sullivan. Reliability challenges for advanced copper interconnects: Electromigration and time-dependent dielectric breakdown (tddb). In 2009 16th IEEE International Symposium on the Physical and Failure Analysis of Integrated Circuits, pages 677–684. IEEE, 2009.
- [104] ZS Choi, R Mönig, and CV Thompson. Effects of microstructure on the formation, shape, and motion of voids during electromigration in passivated copper interconnects. *Journal of Materials Research*, 23(2):383–391, 2008.
- [105] AV Vairagar, SG Mhaisalkar, MA Meyer, E Zschech, Ahila Krishnamoorthy, KN Tu, and AM Gusak. Direct evidence of electromigration failure mechanism in dualdamascene cu interconnect tree structures. *Applied Physics Letters*, 87(8):081909, 2005.
- [106] Kirsten Weide-Zaage, David Dalleau, and Xiaoying Yu. Static and dynamic analysis of failure locations and void formation in interconnects due to various migration mechanisms. *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing*, 6(1-3):85–92, 2003.
- [107] JR Lloyd. Electromigration failure. Journal of Applied Physics, 69(11):7601–7604, 1991.
- [108] R Kirchheim and U Kaeber. Atomistic and computer modeling of metallization failure of integrated circuits by electromigration. *Journal of applied physics*, 70(1): 172–181, 1991.
- [109] Valeriy Sukharev, Ratan Choudhury, and Chong W Park. Physically-based simulation of the early and long-term failures in the copper dual damascene interconnect.

In *IEEE International Integrated Reliability Workshop Final Report, 2003*, pages 80–85. IEEE, 2003.

- [110] David Dalleau and Kirsten Weide-Zaage. Three-dimensional voids simulation in chip metallization structures: a contribution to reliability evaluation. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 41(9-10):1625–1630, 2001.
- [111] David Dalleau, Kirsten Weide-Zaage, and Yves Danto. Simulation of time depending void formation in copper, aluminum and tungsten plugged via structures. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 43(9-11):1821–1826, 2003.
- [112] Greg Parker. Encyclopedia of materials: science and technology. 2001.
- [113] Jens Lienig and Matthias Thiele. Fundamentals of electromigration. In Fundamentals of Electromigration-Aware Integrated Circuit Design, pages 13–60. Springer, 2018.
- [114] Illan A Blech. Electromigration in thin aluminum films on titanium nitride. Journal of Applied Physics, 47(4):1203–1208, 1976.
- [115] Francois M d'Heurle. Electromigration and failure in electronics: An introduction. Proceedings of the IEEE, 59(10):1409–1418, 1971.
- [116] CS Hau-Riege and CV Thompson. Electromigration in cu interconnects with very different grain structures. Applied Physics Letters, 78(22):3451–3453, 2001.
- [117] Ennis T Ogawa, Ki-Don Lee, Volker A Blaschke, and Paul S Ho. Electromigration reliability issues in dual-damascene cu interconnections. *IEEE Transactions on reliability*, 51(4):403–419, 2002.
- [118] C-K Hu and JME Harper. Copper interconnections and reliability. Materials Chemistry and Physics, 52(1):5–16, 1998.
- [119] James R Black. Electromigration—a brief survey and some recent results. IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 16(4):338–347, 1969.
- [120] IA Blech and Convers Herring. Stress generation by electromigration. Applied Physics Letters, 29(3):131–133, 1976.
- [121] IA Blech and KL Tai. Measurement of stress gradients generated by electromigration. Applied Physics Letters, 30(8):387–389, 1977.
- [122] L Arnaud, G Tartavel, P Waltz, and L Ulmer. Analysis of blech product threshold in passivated alcu interconnections. In *Proceedings of the IEEE 1998 International*
Interconnect Technology Conference (Cat. No. 98EX102), pages 289–291. IEEE, 1998.

- [123] D Camuffo and D Camuffo. Consequences of the maxwell-boltzmann distribution. Microclim. Cult. Herit, pages 347–366, 2014.
- [124] Mark Ladd. Bonding, structure and solid-state chemistry. Oxford University Press, 2016.
- [125] Mohamed Henini and Manijeh Razeghi. Handbook of infrared detection technologies. Elsevier, 2002.
- [126] Douglas C Giancoli, Irvin A Miller, Om P Puri, Patricia J Zober, and G Patrick Zober. *Physics: principles with applications*, volume 4. Pearson/Prentice Hall, 2005.
- [127] Foster C Nix and Frank E Jaumot Jr. Self-diffusion in cobalt. *Physical Review*, 82 (1):72, 1951.
- [128] Eric Adolph Brandes and GB Brook. Smithells metals reference book. Elsevier, 2013.
- [129] Nanjun Chen, Qing Peng, Zhijie Jiao, Isabella van Rooyen, William F Skerjanc, and Fei Gao. Analytical bond-order potential for silver, palladium, ruthenium and iodine bulk diffusion in silicon carbide. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, 32 (8):085702, 2019.
- [130] C-K Hu, L Gignac, B Baker, E Liniger, R Yu, and P Flaitz. Impact of cu microstructure on electromigration reliability. In 2007 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conferencee, pages 93–95. IEEE, 2007.
- [131] CW Chang, SE Liu, BL Lin, CC Chiu, Y-H Lee, and K Wu. Thermal behavior of self-heating effect in finfet devices acting on back-end interconnects. In 2015 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium, pages 2F–6. IEEE, 2015.
- [132] Stephen H Pan and Norman Chang. Fast thermal coupling simulation of on-chip hot interconnect for thermal-aware em methodology. In 2015 IEEE 65th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), pages 1168–1175. IEEE, 2015.
- [133] Woojin Ahn, Haojun Zhang, Tian Shen, Cathryn Christiansen, Patrick Justison, Sanghoon Shin, and Muhammad Ashraful Alam. A predictive model for ic selfheating based on effective medium and image charge theories and its implications for interconnect and transistor reliability. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 64(9):3555–3562, 2017.

- [134] Amir H Ajami, Kaustav Banerjee, Massoud Pedram, and Lukas PPP van Ginneken. Analysis of non-uniform temperature-dependent interconnect performance in high performance ics. In *Proceedings of the 38th annual Design Automation Conference*, pages 567–572. ACM, 2001.
- [135] V Bobkov, L Fokin, E Petrov, V Popov, V Rumiantsev, and A Savvatimsky. Thermophysical properties of materials for nuclear engineering: a tutorial and collection of data. *International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Austria*, 2008.
- [136] Andrew S Grove. Physics and technology of semiconductor devices. Wiley, 1967.
- [137] RO Nunes and RL de Orio. Effect of lines and vias density on the beol temperature distribution. Journal of Integrated Circuits and Systems - JICS, 14:1–9, 2019.
- [138] Ting-Yen Chiang, Ben Shieh, and Krishna C Saraswat. Impact of joule heating on scaling of deep sub-micron cu/low-k interconnects. In 2002 Symposium on VLSI Technology. Digest of Technical Papers (Cat. No. 01CH37303), pages 38–39. IEEE, 2002.
- [139] Sungjun Im, Navin Srivastava, Kaustav Banerjee, and Kenneth E Goodson. Scaling analysis of multilevel interconnect temperatures for high-performance ics. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 52(12):2710–2719, 2005.
- [140] Kaustav Banerjee and Amit Mehrotra. Global (interconnect) warming. IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine, 17(5):16–32, 2001.
- [141] Gracieli Posser, Vivek Mishra, Ricardo Reis, and Sachin S Sapatnekar. Analyzing the electromigration effects on different metal layers and different wire lengths. In 2014 21st IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Systems (ICECS), pages 682–685. IEEE, 2014.
- [142] Pawan Kapur, James P McVittie, and Krishna C Saraswat. Technology and reliability constrained future copper interconnects. i. resistance modeling. *IEEE Trans*actions on Electron Devices, 49(4):590–597, 2002.
- [143] Chris Auth, A Aliyarukunju, M Asoro, D Bergstrom, V Bhagwat, J Birdsall, N Bisnik, M Buehler, V Chikarmane, G Ding, et al. A 10nm high performance and low-power cmos technology featuring 3 rd generation finfet transistors, self-aligned quad patterning, contact over active gate and cobalt local interconnects. In 2017 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), pages 29–1. IEEE, 2017.
- [144] Interconnect Chapter. Itrs: The international technology roadmap for semiconductors. Semiconductor Industry Association, 1999.

- [145] XC018 datasheet, 0.18 μm CMOS Process. X-FAB Silicon Foundries, 8 2008. Rev.
 1.
- [146] X Federspiel, D Ney, L Doyen, and V Girault. Dynamics of resistance evolution during electromigration. In 2006 IEEE International Integrated Reliability Workshop Final Report, pages 24–27. IEEE, 2006.
- [147] D Edelstein, C Uzoh, C Cabral Jr, P DeHaven, P Buchwalter, A Simon, E Cooney III, S Malhotra, D Klaus, H Rathore, et al. An optimal liner for copper damascene interconnects. *Proc. Adv. Metal. Confer*, 541, 2001.
- [148] Kyung-Hoon Min, Kyu-Chang Chun, and Ki-Bum Kim. Comparative study of tantalum and tantalum nitrides (ta2n and tan) as a diffusion barrier for cu metallization. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 14(5):3263–3269, 1996.
- [149] Laura M Matz, Ting Tsui, Edward R Engbrecht, Kelly Taylor, Gaddi Haase, Sameer Ajmera, Richard Kuan, Al Griffin, Robert Kraft, and Andrew J McKerrow. Structural characterization of silicon carbide dielectric barrier materials. In Advanced Metallization Conference 2005(AMC 2005), pages 437–443, 2006.
- [150] Yi-Lung Cheng, Shiuan-An Chen, Tai-Jung Chiu, Jiung Wu, Bor-Jou Wei, and Hung-Jui Chang. Electrical and reliability performances of nitrogen-incorporated silicon carbide dielectric by chemical vapor deposition. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 28(3):573–576, 2010.
- [151] Yi-Lung Cheng, Tai-Jung Chiu, Bor-Jou Wei, Huan-Jung Wang, Jiung Wu, and Ying-Lang Wang. Effect of copper barrier dielectric deposition process on characterization of copper interconnect. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 28(3):567–572, 2010.
- [152] Yi-Lung Cheng, Jiung Wu, Tai-Jung Chiu, Shiuan-An Chen, and Ying-Lang Wang. Comprehensive comparison of electrical and reliability characteristics of various copper barrier films. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 29(3): 031207, 2011.
- [153] Sean W King. Dielectric barrier, etch stop, and metal capping materials for state of the art and beyond metal interconnects. ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology, 4(1):N3029–N3047, 2015.

- [154] Chel-Jong Choi, Young-Woo Ok, Tae-Yeon Seong, and Hi-Deok Lee. Effects of a sio2 capping layer on the electrical properties and morphology of nickel silicides. *Japanese journal of applied physics*, 41(4R):1969, 2002.
- [155] Chih-Chao Yang and Thomas M Shaw. Redundant metal barrier structure for interconnect applications, August 14 2012. US Patent 8,242,600.
- [156] Jing Zhang Zhao and Mikhail R Baklanov. Thermal stability and permeability of ultrathin ta (n) barrier in cu interconnect.
- [157] Sofie Beyne, Olalla Varela Pedreira, Ingrid De Wolf, Zsolt Tőkei, and Kristof Croes. A novel electromigration characterization method based on low-frequency noise measurements. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 34(7):075002, 2019.
- [158] Kristof Croes, Melina Lofrano, CJ Wilson, Laure Carbonell, Yong Kong Siew, GP Beyer, and Zs Tőkei. Study of void formation kinetics in cu interconnects using local sense structures. In 2011 International Reliability Physics Symposium, pages 3E-5. IEEE, 2011.
- [159] Marco Rovitto and Hajdin Ceric. Electromigration induced voiding and resistance change in three-dimensional copper through silicon vias. In 2016 IEEE 66th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), pages 550–556. IEEE, 2016.
- [160] Ki-Don Lee, Young-Joon Park, and Bill Hunter. The impact of partially scaled metal barrier shunting on failure criteria for copper electromigration resistance increase in 65 nm technology. In 2005 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium, 2005. Proceedings. 43rd Annual., pages 31–35. IEEE, 2005.
- [161] FC Nix and D MacNair. The thermal expansion of pure metals. ii: molybdenum, palladium, silver, tantalum, tungsten, platinum, and lead. *Physical Review*, 61(1-2): 74, 1942.
- [162] C-K Hu, R Rosenberg, and KY Lee. Electromigration path in cu thin-film lines. Applied Physics Letters, 74(20):2945–2947, 1999.
- [163] Peter J Mohr, Barry N Taylor, and David B Newell. Codata recommended values of the fundamental physical constants: 2006. Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data, 80(3):633–1284, 2008.
- [164] Peter Hidnert and Wilmer Henry Souder. Thermal expansion of solids. Number 486-487. US Government Printing Office, 1950.

- [165] Choong-Un Kim. Electromigration in thin films and electronic devices: Materials and reliability. Elsevier, 2011.
- [166] Eduard Arzt and William D Nix. A model for the effect of line width and mechanical strength on electromigration failure of interconnects with "near-bamboo" grain structures. Journal of materials research, 6(4):731–736, 1991.
- [167] S Vaidya, TT Sheng, and AK Sinha. Linewidth dependence of electromigration in evaporated al-0.5% cu. Applied Physics Letters, 36(6):464–466, 1980.
- [168] Devendra Gupta. Diffusion processes in advanced technological materials. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010.
- [169] Conal E Murray and Chih-Chao Yang. Columnar interconnects and method of making them, June 12 2018. US Patent 9,997,406.
- [170] Jim R Lloyd. Electromigration for designers: An introduction for the non-specialist. *TechOnLine*, 2002.
- [171] Cadence. GPDK45 nm Mixed Signal Process Spec. Cadence, 1 edition, 5 2009. An optional note.
- [172] Dana Crowe and Alec Feinberg. Design for reliability. CRC press, 2017.
- [173] RO Nunes and RL de Orio. Operational amplifier performance degradation and time-to-failure due to electromigration. In 2018 31st Symposium on Integrated Circuits and Systems Design (SBCCI), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2018.
- [174] Adarsh Basavalingappa, Jennifer M Passage, Ming Y Shen, and JR Lloyd. Electromigration: Lognormal versus weibull distribution. In 2017 IEEE International Integrated Reliability Workshop (IIRW), pages 1–4. IEEE, 2017.
- [175] Hajdin Ceric and Siegfried Selberherr. Electromigration in submicron interconnect features of integrated circuits. *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, 71 (5-6):53–86, 2011.
- [176] JR Lloyd. New models for interconnect failure in advanced ic technology. In 2008 15th International Symposium on the Physical and Failure Analysis of Integrated Circuits, pages 1–7. IEEE, 2008.
- [177] Cher Ming Tan and Arijit Roy. Electromigration in ulsi interconnects. Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports, 58(1-2):1-75, 2007.

- [178] M Hauschildt, M Gall, S Thrasher, P Justison, R Hernandez, H Kawasaki, and PS Ho. Statistical analysis of electromigration lifetimes and void evolution. *Journal* of Applied Physics, 101(4):043523, 2007.
- [179] Roberto Lacerda de Orio, Hajdin Ceric, Johann Cervenka, and Siegfried Selberherr. The effect of copper grain size statistics on the electromigration lifetime distribution. In 2009 International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices, pages 1–4. IEEE, 2009.
- [180] Mauricio Altieri Scarpato. Digital circuit performance estimation under PVT and aging effects. PhD thesis, 2017.
- [181] Harry Veendrick. Bits on Chips. Springer, 2018.
- [182] Karen Chow. The challenges and impact of parasitic extraction at 65 nm. In 7th International Symposium on Quality Electronic Design (ISQED'06), pages 6–pp. IEEE, 2006.
- [183] William H Kao, Chi-Yuan Lo, Mark Basel, and Raminderpal Singh. Parasitic extraction: Current state of the art and future trends. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 89 (5):729–739, 2001.
- [184] Rishi Bhooshan, KUVE Sampath, and Venugopal Puvvada. Electromigration (em) and voltage (ir) drop analysis of integrated circuit (ic) designs, January 1 2008. US Patent 7,315,992.
- [185] Tsong-Hua Ou, Ying-Chou Cheng, Chia-Chi Lin, Ru-Gun Liu, Chih-Ming Lai, Min-Hong Wu, Yih-Yuh Doong, Cliff Hou, and Yao-Ching Ku. Electrical parameter extraction for integrated circuit design, August 24 2010. US Patent 7,783,999.
- [186] Xiaoning Qi and Robert W Dutton. Interconnect parasitic extraction of resistance, capacitance, and inductance. In *Interconnect Technology and Design for Gigascale Integration*, pages 67–109. Springer, 2003.
- [187] Keh-Jeng Chang, Li-Fu Chang, Robert G Mathews, and Martin G Walker. Method and system for extraction of parasitic interconnect impedance including inductance, November 4 2003. US Patent 6,643,831.
- [188] Wenjian Yu and Xiren Wang. Advanced field-solver techniques for RC extraction of integrated circuits. Springer, 2014.
- [189] Robert J Allen, Susan E Cellier, Lewis W Dewey III, Anthony D Hagin, Adam P Matheny, Ronald D Rose, and David J Widiger. Process for improving capacitance extraction performance, February 6 2018. US Patent 9,886,541.

- [190] R Goering. Electromigration-what ic designers need to know, 2014.
- [191] JR Lloyd. Electromigration in integrated circuit conductors. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 32(17):R109, 1999.
- [192] Jens Lienig. Electromigration and its impact on physical design in future technologies. In Proceedings of the 2013 ACM International symposium on Physical Design, pages 33–40, 2013.
- [193] Zhihong Liu, Bruce W McGaughy, and James Z Ma. Design tools for reliability analysis. In 2006 43rd ACM/IEEE Design Automation Conference, pages 182–187. IEEE, 2006.
- [194] Patrick McCluskey, Casey O'Connor, and Karumbu Nathan. Evaluating the performance and reliability of embedded computer systems for use in industrial and automotive temperature ranges. CALCE Electron. Prod. Syst. Cent. Univ. Md, 1: 62–65, 2001.
- [195] Mark B Wright, David Humphrey, and F Patrick McCluskey. Uprating electronic components for use outside their temperature specification limits. *IEEE Transactions on Components, Packaging, and Manufacturing Technology: Part A*, 20(2): 252–256, 1997.
- [196] Sanjeeb Mishra, Neeraj Kumar Singh, and Vijayakrishnan Rousseau. System on chip interfaces for low power design. Morgan Kaufmann, 2015.
- [197] Prabhat Kumar Dubey. Tunnel fet: Devices and circuits. In Nanoelectronics, pages 3–25. Elsevier, 2019.
- [198] RO Nunes and RL de Orio. Study of the impact of electromigration on integrated circuit performance and reliability at design level. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 76: 75–80, 2017.
- [199] RO Nunes and RL de Orio. Evaluating the impact of electromigration on the integrated circuit performance. In 2017 32nd Symposium on Microelectronics Technology and Devices (SBMicro), pages 1–4. IEEE, 2017.
- [200] RO Nunes, JLR Bohorquez, and RL de Orio. Analysis of vias position on the beol temperature distribution. In 2019 Latin American Electron Devices Conference (LAEDC), volume 1, pages 1–4. IEEE, 2019.
- [201] Diunuge B Wijesinghe, Surangika Ranathunga, and Gihan Dias. Computer representation of venn and euler diagrams. In 2016 Sixteenth International Conference on Advances in ICT for Emerging Regions (ICTer), pages 100–105. IEEE, 2016.

- [202] RE Taylor and RA Finch. The specific heats and resistivities of molybdenum, tantalum, and rhenium. *Journal of the Less Common Metals*, 6(4):283–294, 1964.
- [203] Ki-Don Lee, Ennis T Ogawa, Sean Yoon, Xia Lu, and Paul S Ho. Electromigration threshold for cu/low k interconnects. In *Proceedings of the IEEE 2003 International Interconnect Technology Conference (Cat. No. 03TH8695)*, pages 259–261. IEEE, 2003.
- [204] Rafael O Nunes, Jacobus W Swart, and Roberto L de Orio. Evaluation of interconnects based on electromigration criteria and circuit performance. In 2017 International Caribbean Conference on Devices, Circuits and Systems (ICCDCS), pages 61–64. IEEE, 2017.
- [205] J Ramirez and F Fruett. Bandgap voltage reference generator with improved power supply rejection. In 7th Workshop on Circuits and Systems Design WCAS, 2017.
- [206] Jose Luis Ramirez Bohorquez et al. Sensor hall com geometria octogonal e com cancelamento de offset, preparado para o estudo do efeito piezo-hall= hall plate with octogonal geometry and offset cancelation, designed for piezo-hall measurement. 2015.
- [207] XFAB. 0.6 µm CMOS Process, datasheet, 3rd ed. edition, 2008.
- [208] KN Tu, Yingxia Liu, and Menglu Li. Effect of joule heating and current crowding on electromigration in mobile technology. *Applied Physics Reviews*, 4(1):011101, 2017.
- [209] Jiang Tao, Nathan W Cheung, and Chenming Hu. Electromigration characteristics of tin barrier layer material. *IEEE electron device letters*, 16(6):230–232, 1995.
- [210] Cadence. GPDK 45 nm Mixed Signal Process Specgpdk045 drc manual, revision 1.0 edition, May 2009.
- [211] Cadence. VEAD, Virtuoso Electrically Aware Design Flow Guide, ic6.1.7 edition, 2016.
- [212] Cadence. Virtuoso Simulator Components and Device Models, v. 14.1 edition, Oct. 2014.
- [213] Hon-Sum Wong, Marvin H White, Thomas J Krutsick, and Richard V Booth. Modeling of transconductance degradation and extraction of threshold voltage in thin oxide mosfet's. *Solid-State Electronics*, 30(9):953–968, 1987.

- [214] Weidong Liu, Xiaodong Jin, James Chen, Min-Chie Jeng, Zhihong Liu, Yuhua Cheng, Kai Chen, Mansun Chan, Kelvin Hui, Jianhui Huang, et al. Bsim3v3. 2.2 mosfet model. Users' Manual, 1999.
- [215] M Arabi, A Cros, X Federspiel, C Ndiaye, V Huard, and M Rafik. Modeling selfheating effects in advanced cmos nodes. In 2018 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages P–MR. IEEE, 2018.
- [216] EDA NCSU. Freepdk45, 2011.
- [217] Zeyu Sun, Shuyuan Yu, Han Zhou, Yibo Liu, and Sheldon X-D Tan. Emspice: Physics-based electromigration check using coupled electronic and stress simulation. *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, 20(2):376–389, 2020.
- [218] Takeshi Nogami. Overview of interconnect technology for 7nm node and beyondnew materials and technologies to extend cu and to enable alternative conductors. In 2019 Electron Devices Technology and Manufacturing Conference (EDTM), pages 38–40. IEEE, 2019.
- [219] I-Hsin Tseng, Yu-Jin Li, Benson Lin, Chia-Cheng Chang, and Chih Chen. High electromigration lifetimes of nanotwinned cu redistribution lines. In 2019 IEEE 69th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), pages 1328–1332. IEEE, 2019.
- [220] Stéphane Moreau and Alexandra Fraczkiewicz. Correlation between electromigration-related void volumes and time-to-failure, the high-resolution x-ray tomography's vital support. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 38(4):044004, 2020.
- [221] Chris Auth, C Allen, A Blattner, D Bergstrom, M Brazier, M Bost, M Buehler, V Chikarmane, T Ghani, T Glassman, et al. A 22nm high performance and lowpower cmos technology featuring fully-depleted tri-gate transistors, self-aligned contacts and high density mim capacitors. In 2012 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSIT), pages 131–132. IEEE, 2012.
- [222] C-H Jan, Uddalak Bhattacharya, R Brain, S-J Choi, G Curello, G Gupta, W Hafez, M Jang, M Kang, K Komeyli, et al. A 22nm soc platform technology featuring 3-d tri-gate and high-k/metal gate, optimized for ultra low power, high performance and high density soc applications. In 2012 International Electron Devices Meeting, pages 3–1. IEEE, 2012.

- [223] C Witt, KB Yeap, A Leśniewska, D Wan, N Jordan, I Ciofi, C Wu, and Z Tokei. Testing the limits of tan barrier scaling. In 2018 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conference (IITC), pages 54–56. IEEE, 2018.
- [224] Chun-Li Lo, Kehao Zhang, Joshua A Robinson, and Zhihong Chen. Beol compatible sub-nm diffusion barrier for advanced cu interconnects. In 2018 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Application (VLSI-TSA), pages 1–2. IEEE, 2018.
- [225] Ling Li, Xiangyu Chen, Ching-Hua Wang, Seunghyun Lee, Ji Cao, Susmit Singha Roy, Michael S Arnold, and H-S Philip Wong. Cu diffusion barrier: graphene benchmarked to tan for ultimate interconnect scaling. In 2015 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSI Technology), pages T122–T123. IEEE, 2015.
- [226] Chun-Li Lo, Kirby KH Smithe, Ruchit Mehta, Sunny Chugh, Eric Pop, and Zhihong Chen. Atomically thin diffusion barriers for ultra-scaled cu interconnects implemented by 2d materials. In 2017 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages MR-4. IEEE, 2017.
- [227] K Fischer, M Agostinelli, C Allen, D Bahr, M Bost, P Charvat, V Chikarmane, Q Fu, C Ganpule, M Haran, et al. Low-k interconnect stack with multi-layer air gap and tri-metal-insulator-metal capacitors for 14nm high volume manufacturing. In 2015 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conference and 2015 IEEE Materials for Advanced Metallization Conference (IITC/MAM), pages 5–8. IEEE, 2015.
- [228] D Ingerly, A Agrawal, R Ascazubi, A Blattner, M Buehler, V Chikarmane, B Choudhury, F Cinnor, C Ege, C Ganpule, et al. Low-k interconnect stack with metalinsulator-metal capacitors for 22nm high volume manufacturing. In 2012 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conference, pages 1–3. IEEE, 2012.
- [229] ITRS Road Map 2013 Edition Interconnect. Table intc2 mpu interconnect technology requirements. IEEE, 2013.
- [230] RS Sorbello, A Lodder, and SJ Hoving. Finite-cluster description of electromigration. *Physical Review B*, 25(10):6178, 1982.
- [231] Marian Von Smoluchowski. Zur kinetischen theorie der brownschen molekularbewegung und der suspensionen. Annalen der physik, 326(14):756–780, 1906.
- [232] Convers Herring. Diffusional viscosity of a polycrystalline solid. Journal of applied physics, 21(5):437–445, 1950.

- [233] Azad Naeemi, Chenyun Pan, Ahmet Ceyhan, Rouhollah M Iraei, Vachan Kumar, and Shaloo Rakheja. Beol scaling limits and next generation technology prospects. In 2014 51st ACM/EDAC/IEEE Design Automation Conference (DAC), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2014.
- [234] IEEE. International roadmap for devices and systems executive summary. 1 edition, 2017.
- [235] IEEE. International roadmap for devices and systems 2017 edition more moore. 1 edition, 2017.
- [236] Ivan Ciofi, Antonino Contino, Philippe J Roussel, Rogier Baert, Victor-H Vega-Gonzalez, Kristof Croes, Mustafa Badaroglu, Christopher J Wilson, Praveen Ragha-van, Abdelkarim Mercha, et al. Impact of wire geometry on interconnect rc and circuit delay. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 63(6):2488–2496, 2016.
- [237] Mikhail Baklanov, Paul S Ho, and Ehrenfried Zschech. Advanced interconnects for ULSI technology. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.
- [238] D Zhou, PP Preparata, and SM Kang. Interconnection delay in very high-speed vlsi. Center for Compound Semiconductor Microelectronics contract NSF CDR, 85: 22666, 1991.
- [239] Shibesh Dutta, Kiroubanand Sankaran, Kristof Moors, Geoffrey Pourtois, Sven Van Elshocht, Jürgen Bömmels, Wilfried Vandervorst, Zsolt Tőkei, and Christoph Adelmann. Thickness dependence of the resistivity of platinum-group metal thin films. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 122(2):025107, 2017.
- [240] Wenqi Zhang, Sywert H Brongersma, Olivier Richard, Bert Brijs, Roger Palmans, Ludo Froyen, and Karen Maex. Influence of the electron mean free path on the resistivity of thin metal films. *Microelectronic engineering*, 76(1-4):146–152, 2004.
- [241] Erik Bury, Ben Kaczer, Simon Van Beek, and D Lintern. Experimental extraction of beol composite equivalent thermal conductivities for application in self-heating simulations. In 2018 48th European Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESS-DERC), pages 186–189. IEEE, 2018.
- [242] Ce-Wen Nan, R Birringer, David R Clarke, and H Gleiter. Effective thermal conductivity of particulate composites with interfacial thermal resistance. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 81(10):6692–6699, 1997.
- [243] EW Hart. On the role of dislocations in bulk diffusion. Acta Metallurgica, 5(10): 597, 1957.

APPENDIX A – Resistance Change of a Metal Line due to EM

Figure A.1 shows a Cu interconnect with a TaN barrier under EM. Figure A.1(a) shows a small void nucleated in the metal, while Figure A.1(b)-(d) show the void growth through the metal line. When the void reaches the barrier layer at a time t_1 , as shown in Figure A.1(c), the current is forced to pass through a portion of the barrier layer, l_{EM} . As the void continues to grow the path through the barrier increases. Since the barrier layer has a much higher resistivity then the Cu, the resistance of the interconnect line increases.

The drift velocity of metal atoms is calculated by [115]

$$v_{EM} = \frac{D(T) |Z^*| e\rho(T)j}{kT},$$
 (A.1)



where D(T) is the copper diffusivity, Z^* is the effective valence, e is the electric charge,

Figure A.1 – Void growth in a interconnect. (a) Initial nucleated void. (b), (c), and (d) Void growth through the metal until it reached the barrier layer.

 $\rho(T)$ is the resistivity from line, j is the current density, T is the temperature, and k is the Boltzmann constant.

The drift velocity can be also expressed by

$$v_{EM} = \frac{l_{EM}}{\Delta t},\tag{A.2}$$

where Δt is the time interval at which the current passes through the TaN barrier.

From (A.1) and (A.2) the l_{EM} is given by

$$l_{EM} = \frac{D \left| Z^* \right| e\rho j \Delta t}{kT}.$$
(A.3)

The initial resistance of the Cu line is given by

$$R_0 = \frac{\rho L}{A},\tag{A.4}$$

where L is the length, A is the cross-sectional area and ρ is the resistivity of the line.

After the void reaches the barrier, the resistance and resistance change (ΔR) of the line are calculated by

$$R = \frac{\rho L}{A} + \Delta R,\tag{A.5}$$

and

$$\Delta R(t) = \frac{-\rho l_{EM}(t)}{A} + \frac{\rho_b l_{EM}(t)}{A_b},\tag{A.6}$$

where A and A_b are the Cu and TaN cross-sectional areas and ρ and ρ_b are the resistivities of the Cu and TaN, respectively.

As the TaN resistivity is higher than the Cu resistivity, and the TaN crosssection is significantly smaller than the Cu cross-section, (A.6) can be reduced to

$$\Delta R(t) = \frac{\rho_b l_{EM}(t)}{A_b}.$$
(A.7)

From (A.3) and (A.7), the ΔR of a line due to EM is given by

$$\Delta R(t) = \frac{De\rho \left| Z^* \right| \rho_b j \Delta t}{k A_b T}.$$
(A.8)

From (A.8) and (A.4), the ratio between (ΔR) and the initial resistance (R_0) is calculated by

$$\frac{\Delta R(t)}{R_0} = \frac{De \left| Z^* \right| \rho_b I \Delta t}{k A_b T L}.$$
(A.9)

APPENDIX B – Blech Product

Electromigration is the migration of atoms caused by the electrostatic and the "electron wind" forces on a metal. Figure B.1 illustrates the forces forces in a top view from an interconnect. A direct electrostatic force results from atoms and electrons interactions. The conducting electrons are scattered by the atoms resulting in a momentum transfer called "wind force". The resultant force is given by [230]

$$F = Z_{eff} eE, (B.1)$$

where e the electric charge, E is the electric field, and Z_{eff} is the so-called effective valence corresponding to the forces. The electric field is given by

$$E = \rho j, \tag{B.2}$$

where ρ is the metal resistivity and j is the current density.

The atomic flux resulting from the EM driving forces is given by [177]



$$J_{EM} = N\mu F,\tag{B.3}$$

Figure B.1 – Illustration of electrostatic and "electron wind" forces on a metal.

where N is the atomic density and μ is the mobility of the metal ions according to the Einstein relation [231]

$$\mu = \frac{D_{eff}}{kT},\tag{B.4}$$

where D_{eff} is the effective diffusivity of the metal ions, k is Boltzmann's constant and T is the temperature.

From (B.4) and (B.3) the atomic flux is calculated by

$$J_{EM} = \frac{N \cdot D_{eff}}{kT} Z_{eff} e\rho j, \tag{B.5}$$

where the drift velocity of the ions (v_d) is formulated by

$$v_d = \mu F = \frac{D_{eff}}{kT} Z_{eff} e \rho j. \tag{B.6}$$

Blech observed that the atoms displaced create a stress gradient between the end of the lines causing a back-flux in opposition to the EM-induced flux. Figure B.2(a) shows that the electron flow from the cathode to the anode terminals of the segment leads to a compressive stress at the anode and a tensile stress at the cathode terminal. This effect is commonly referred to as the Blech effect [114, 120]. The back-flux due to the stress gradient is given by [232]

$$J_b = -\frac{ND_{eff}}{kT} \left(\Omega \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\right),\tag{B.7}$$

where Ω is the atomic volume and $\partial \sigma / \partial x$ is the stress gradient along the line.

With the back-flux stress taken into account, the EM-induced flux is given by

$$J_{EM} = \frac{N \cdot D_{eff}}{kT} \left(Z_{eff} e \rho j - \Omega \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x} \right).$$
(B.8)

At steady state, the electromigration and the stress gradient induced fluxes are equal in magnitude, but with opposing signs, which results in

$$Z_{eff}e\rho j = \Omega \frac{\Delta\sigma}{L},\tag{B.9}$$

where $\Delta \sigma$ is the stress difference between the terminals of the segment and L is the length



Figure B.2 – The stress difference $\Delta \sigma$ in a segment of length L. The arrows in the line indicates the tensile stress in the cathode and the compressive stress in the anode. Electron flow direction is from cathode to anode.

of the segment. The stress profile is illustrated in Figure B.2(b). At this condition the total mass ceases and the drift velocity is zero. This effect is observed in short lines and thus is referred to as the short length effect.

The Blech effect is explained by the existence of a maximum stress difference $\Delta \sigma_c$ that can be sustained by the interconnect. This implies that a threshold value for jL exists,

$$(jL)_c = \frac{\Omega \Delta \sigma_c}{Z_{eff} e \rho},\tag{B.10}$$

below which the generated stress is lower than that required one to nucleate a void in the metal. The expression $(jL)_c$ is called the Blech Product. For a given current density, a critical length, or for a given segment length, a critical current density is required to generate the EM damage [114].

From (B.8) and (B.10), the electromigration drift velocity (B.6) is written as

$$v = \frac{D_{eff} Z_{eff} e\rho \left(j - j_c\right)}{kT}.$$
(B.11)

APPENDIX C – ITRS Roadmap

The International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) documents the trends of the semiconductor industry for the development of new technologies, including the interconnects. The ITRS was terminated in 2017 and was succeeded by the IEEE International Roadmap for Devices and Systems (IRDS).

Figure C.1 shows the maximum allowed current density (j_{max}) reported by the ITRS from 2014 to 2024, for the technologies from 16 nm to 3 nm [229]. This estimation indicates that in 10 years the j_{max} increases 2.23 times, from 1.68 MA/cm² to 3.76 MA/cm². Table C.1 shows that for the same period the minimum width, the thickness, and the aspect ratio of the interconnect lines, which is the ratio between the thickness and the width of the line.

Table C.1 – A spect ratio, minimum wire width, and metal thickness of different technologies.

Year	2014	2016	2018	2020	2022	2024
Technology (nm)	16	14	10	7	5	3
Aspect ratio [229]	1.9	2.0	2.0	2.0	2.1	2.1
Minimum width (nm) [233]	24	19	15	12	10	7
Thickness	45.6	38.0	30.0	24.0	21.0	14.7



Figure C.1 – Maximum allowed current density prediction of different technologies [229].



Figure C.2 – Maximum allowed current density prediction converted to design nomenclature [229].

Figure C.2 shows the j_{max} converted to the design nomenclature, i.e., the ratio of the current and the width of the interconnect line. Note that the j_{max} for design reduces with the technology advance, as the thickness reduces by a factor of 2.71, larger than the increase of the j_{max} in Figure C.1.

The IRDS suggests that the technology downscaling will continue beyond the 3nm node to the technologies of 2.1 nm, 1.5 nm, and 1.0 nm [234, 235]. Nevertheless, there are limiting issues that can hinder inviable the scaling below 3 nm, in particular the RC delay. The RC delay corresponds to the signal propagation delay due to the parasitics of the interconnects.

The reduction of the width and the of the inteconnects has resulted a more resistive line and in an increased capacitance between adjacent metal lines, leading to significant increase of the RC delay in the advanced technologies [113, 236–238]. As the scaling has continued, the interconnects have become a bottleneck regarding the performance in most advanced chips.

Figure C.3 shows the effective resistivity of the interconnect metal with the technology advance [229]. For small dimensions, the resistivity of metals is increased due to scattering at interfaces and grain boundaries [239, 240]. Thus, the line resistance per unit length increases even faster than due to geometry reduction.

Figure C.4 shows the evolution of the total length of the interconnects from 2012 to 2026. Figure C.5 shows the evolution of the pitch of the wiring in intermediate layers [229]. From 2020 to 2026 the ITRS estimates an increase of 112% in the intercon-



Figure C.3 – Effective resistivity of the metal lines estimated from 2012 to 2026 [229].



Figure C.4 – Total interconnect length evolution estimated for MPU [229].

nect length in an advanced microprocessor and a reduction of 52% in the pitch of the intermediate interconnect lines. These predictions imply an increase of the resistance and of the capacitance of the interconnects and, consequenty, an increase of the RC delay and of the joule heating.

Figure C.6 shows the thickness of the barrier/cladding estimated by ITRS until 2026 [229]. Such layers are already only 1-3 nm thick and it is very challenging to reduce their thickness further.



Figure C.5 – Pitch evolution of the intermediate lines estimated from 2012 to 2026 [229].



Figure C.6 – Barrier and cladding thickness evolution estimated from 2012 to 2026 [229].

When the wire width becomes thinner than 10 nm, the diffusion barrier occupies a large volume portion of the interconnect, reducing the volume of the main conducting metal. Therefore, the scientists are really looking for materials to replace the barrier or the liner layer. The adhesion with the surronding dielectrics is still an issue. This is not a trivial task since many metals typically show very poor adhesion with dielectrics.

APPENDIX D – Algorithm

% Tool to evaluate the critical lines from an integrated circuit due to the
% EM effects
% Fifth version - 21 february 2020
%%
clear
clc
%=====================================
% Input parameters extracted from the PDK, layout and bibliographies to
% calculate the resistance change from the lines.
%% Extracted from PDK
%%
% Contain 11 metal layers - GPDK 45_nm
Hcontact1=120E-9;% Thickness of the contact between transistors and metal 1
L_int0 = [150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 1000E-9
1000E-9 1400E-9 0 0 0]; % Thickness of the interconnects
L_via0 = [150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 150E-9 1000E-9
1000E-9 0 0 0 0]; % Thickness of the vias
L_total0 = sum(L_via0) + sum(L_int0); % Thickness of interconnects and vias
%n1=size(L_int1,2); % Dimension of the interconnect vector
n0=11;
wmin0=[60E-9 80E-9 80E-9 80E-9 80E-9 80E-9 80E-9 80E-9 80E-9 220E-9 220E-9
0 0 0]; % Minimum width from interconnect of 45 nm.
%% 45 nm technology node
% Contain 10 metal layers - Free PDK45nm
Hcontact1=85E-9;% Thickness of the contact between transistors and metal 1
L_int1 = [130E-9 140E-9 140E-9 280E-9 280E-9 280E-9 800E-9 800E-9 1600E-9
1600E-9 0 0 0 0]; % Thickness of the interconnects

L_via1 = [120E-9 120E-9 120E-9 290E-9 290E-9 290E-9 820E-9 820E-9 2000E-9 0

0 0 0 0]; % Thickness of the vias L_total1 = sum(L_via1) + sum(L_int1); % Thickness of interconnects and vias %n1=size(L_int1,2); % Dimension of the interconnect vector n1=10; wmin1=[65E-9 70E-9 70E-9 140E-9 140E-9 140E-9 400E-9 400E-9 800E-9 0 0 0 0]; % Minimum width from interconnect of 45 nm. % ----- 22 nm technology node -----% % Contain 9 metal layers Hcontact2=76E-9;% Thickness of the contact between transistors and metal 1 L int2 = [76E-9 68E-9 68E-9 110E-9 160E-9 240E-9 310E-9 468E-9 6000E-9 0 0 0 0 0]; % Thickness of the interconnects L via2 = [76E-9 68E-9 68E-9 110E-9 160E-9 240E-9 310E-9 468E-9 0 0 0 0 0]; % Thickness of the vias L total2 = sum(L via2) + sum(L int2); % Thickness of interconnects and vias %n2=size(L_int2,2); % Dimension of the interconnect vector n2=9: wmin2=[45E-9 40E-9 40E-9 55E-9 80E-9 120E-9 163E-9 180E-9 4615E-9 0 0 0 0 0]; % Minimum width from interconnect of 22 nm. % ----- 14 nm technology node -----% % Contain 14 metal layers Hcontact3=56E-9;% Thickness of the contact between transistors and metal 1 L int3 = [40E-9 42E-9 40E-9 37E-9 75E-9 110E-9 180E-9 200E-9 200E-9 260E-9 375E-9 1080E-9 6000E-9 0]; % Thickness of the interconnects L_via3 = [30E-9 39E-9 33E-9 39E-9 70E-9 100E-9 130E-9 180E-9 200E-9 280E-9 300E-9 690E-9 0]; % Thickness of the vias L_total3 = sum(L_via3) + sum(L_int3); % Thickness of interconnects and vias %n3=size(L int3,2); % Dimension of the interconnect vector n3=14; wmin3=[28E-9 35E-9 26E-9 28E-9 39E-9 50E-9 78E-9 80E-9 80E-9 123E-9 125E-9 540E-9 4600E-9 0]; % Minimum width from interconnect of 14 nm. % -----% 10 nm technology node % Contain 13 metal layers Hcontact4=40E-9;% Thickness of the contact between transistors and metal 1 L_int4 = [33E-9 30E-9 37E-9 37E-9 37E-9 43E-9 70E-9 93E-9 93E-9 133E-9 133E-9 900E-9 9167E-9 0]; % Thickness of the interconnects

```
L_via4 = [33E-9 30E-9 37E-9 37E-9 37E-9 43E-9 70E-9 93E-9 93E-9 133E-9 133E-9
900E-9 0 0]; % Thickness of the vias
L_total4 = sum(L_via4) + sum(L_int4); % Thickness of interconnects and vias
%n4=size(L_int4,2); % Dimension of the interconnect vector
n4=13;
wmin4=[60E-9 100E-9 140E-9 180E-9 220E-9 260E-9 300E-9 400E-9 500E-9 600E-9
700E-9 800E-9 900E-9 1000E-9]; % Minimum width from interconnect of 45 nm.
% ------ Extracted from the layout ------%
% Inserir aqui valores obtidos pela ferramenta EDA. ( No caso seria:
%%
% <http://www.mathworks.com MathWorks> load('vdd.mat');
%load('all lines.mat');
jmax = 2000; % A/m Maxima densidade de corrente
j1 = vdd.j*jmax;
                   % A/m - Densidade de corrente
w1 = vdd.w*1E-6;
                 % m - Largura
111 = vdd.l*1E-6; % m - Comprimento dos paths
112 = vdd.eml*1E-6; % m - COmprimento maior caminho com um path
layer = vdd.layer; % Camadas
net1 = vdd.net; % Nome das interconexões
i1=j1.*w1;
                   % Corrente das linhas
% ------ Choose the technology evaluated ------%
% prompt = 'Choose the technology [1]45nm[2]22nm[3]14nm[4]10nm -> ';
% tec = input(prompt);
tec=0;
if tec==0
wmin=wmin0;
L int=L int0;
L_via=L_via0;
L_total=L_total0;
n=n1;
end
if tec==1
wmin=wmin1;
L int=L int1;
L_via=L_via1;
L total=L total1;
```

```
n=n1;
end
if tec==2
wmin=wmin2;
L_int=L_int2;
L_via=L_via2;
L_total=L_total2;
n=n2;
end
if tec==3
wmin=wmin3;
L_int=L_int3;
L_via=L_via3;
L_total=L_total3;
n=n3;
end
if tec==4
wmin=wmin4;
L_int=L_int4;
L_via=L_via4;
L_total=L_total4;
n=n4;
end
for(cont2=1:1:length(layer))
if layer(cont2)==1
t(cont2)=L_int(1);
end
if layer(cont2)==2
t(cont2)=L_int(2);
end
if layer(cont2)==3
t(cont2)=L_int(3);
end
if layer(cont2)==4
t(cont2)=L_int(4);
end
```

```
if layer(cont2)==5
t(cont2)=L_int(5);
end
if layer(cont2)==6
t(cont2)=L_int(6);
end
if layer(cont2)==7
t(cont2)=L_int(7);
end
if layer(cont2)==8
t(cont2)=L int(8);
end
if layer(cont2)==9
t(cont2)=L int(9);
end
if layer(cont2)==10
t(cont2)=L_int(10);
end
if layer(cont2)==11
t(cont2)=L_int(11);
end
if layer(cont2)==12
t(cont2)=L_int(12);
end
if layer(cont2)==13
t(cont2)=L_int(13);
end
if layer(cont2)==14
t(cont2)=L int(14);
end
end
% ========= Cálculo tradicional da densidade de corrente =========%
j11=i1./(w1.*t'); % Representação típica da densidade de corrente
\% Falta inserir o arquivo com os dados do leiaute
% ------% Extracted from the layout
% Data to calculate the temperature change in the interconnects
```

```
km = 401;
                              % Thermal conductivity from metal - Wm/K
                            % Thermal conductivity from insulator - Wm/K
ki = 1.4;
Vint=[0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 \ 0.3 
% Interconnect fraction volume (Pode ser calculado)
% Via fraction volume (Pode ser calculado)
PT=230;
                                 % Power dissipated by the transistors
N11=0; N12=0; N13=0; N14=0; N15=0; N16=0; N17=0; N18=0; N19=0; N110=0; N111=0;
N112=0; N113=0; N114=0; % Número de interconexões para cad metal
11=0; 12=0; 13=0; 14=0; 15=0; 16=0; 17=0; 18=0; 19=0; 110=0; 111=0; 112=0;
113=0; 114=0:
for cont3=1:1:length(112)
if layer(cont3)==1
l1=l1+ll2(cont3); % Length of Metal 1 lines
Nl1=Nl1+1; % Number of Metal 1 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==2
12=12+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 2 lines
N12=N12+1; % Number of Metal 2 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==3
13=13+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 3 lines
N13=N13+1; % Number of Metal 3 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==4
14=14+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 4 lines
N14=N14+1; % Number of Metal 4 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==5
15=15+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 5 lines
```

```
N15=N15+1; % Number of Metal 5 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==6
16=16+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 6 lines
N16=N16+1; % Number of Metal 6 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==7
17=17+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 7 lines
N17=N17+1; % Number of Metal 7 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==8
18=18+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 8 lines
N18=N18+1; % Number of Metal 8 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==9
19=19+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 9 lines
N19=N19+1; % Number of Metal 9 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==10
l10=l10+ll2(cont3); % Length of Metal 10 lines
Nl10=Nl10+1; % Number of Metal 10 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==11
l11=l11+ll2(cont3); % Length of Metal 11 lines
Nl11=Nl11+1; % Number of Metal 11 lines
end
if layer(cont3)==12
112=112+112(cont3); % Length of Metal 12 lines
Nl12=Nl12+1; % Number of Metal 12 lines
end
```

if layer(cont3)==13
l13=l13+ll2(cont3); % Length of Metal 13 lines
Nl13=Nl13+1; % Number of Metal 13 lines
end

if layer(cont3)==14
l14=l14+ll2(cont3); % Length of Metal 14 lines
Nl14=Nl14+1; % Number of Metal 14 lines
end

end

% Average length of the interconnect lines

```
ar_1=(11/N11)/L_int(1); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_2=(12/N12)/L_int(2); %ar -> % Metal 2 average length.
ar_3=(13/N13)/L_int(3); %ar -> % Metal 3 average length.
ar_4=(14/N14)/L_int(4); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_5=(15/N15)/L_int(5); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_6=(16/N16)/L_int(6); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_7=(17/N17)/L_int(7); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_8=(18/N18)/L_int(8); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_9=(19/N19)/L_int(9); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_11=(111/N110)/L_int(10); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_12=(112/N112)/L_int(11); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_13=(113/N113)/L_int(13); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
ar_14=(114/N114)/L_int(14); %ar -> % Metal 1 average length.
```

ar=[ar_1 ar_2 ar_3 ar_4 ar_5 ar_6 ar_7 ar_8 ar_9 ar_10 ar_11 ar_12 ar_13 ar_14];
% Aspect ratio from all the interconnects

```
Bxy(cont4)=(km-ki)/(ki+L11(cont4)*(km-ki)); % Bxy of the layers
alfa(cont4)=Bxy(cont4)*(1-L11(cont4)); % Alpha of the layers
beta(cont4)=Bxy(cont4)*L11(cont4); % Beta of the layers
keffInt(cont4)=beta(cont4)*ki*((1+alfa(cont4)*Vint(cont4))/(1-Vint(cont4)));
%keffInt of the layers
keffVia(cont4)=km*Vvia(cont4)+ki*(1-Vvia(cont4)); % keffVia of the layers
a(cont4)=L_int(cont4)/keffInt(cont4); % a is the first term of the Keff_BEOL
b(cont4)=L_via(cont4)/keffVia(cont4); % b is the second term of the Keff_BEOL
end
L total=750E-9;
Keff BEOL=((sum(a, 'omitnan')+sum(b, 'omitnan'))^-1)*L total;
%-----%
% ------ Metal position calculation ------%
% Cálculo da altura em cada camada metálica
hmetal1=[Hcontact1;Hcontact2;Hcontact3;Hcontact4]; % Thickness of the contact
%L_total=[L_total1 L_total2 L_total3 L_total4];
% ------ Temperatura em cada camada ------%
zo=0;
for camada=1:1:n
zo=zo+L_int(camada);
Delta_T(camada)=-(PT/(2*pi*Keff_BEOL))*log(zo/(2*L_total-zo))
end
%Initial temperature in K;
T_metal=300 +(Delta_T) %Temperature in the interconnect lines
% ------ Resistance change of the lines -------%
% ------ Parameters to obtain thre resistance change ------%
w b=3E-9; % Barrier width
t b=3E-9;
T = T_metal; % Temperature changed with power dissipated
A=w1.*t'; \% m<sup>2</sup> - metal area
```

```
A_b=2*w_b*t'+t_b*w1+2*w_b*t_b; % Barrier area
rho_b=60E-8; % Metal resistivity
Do=3.1E-5; % Cu diffusivity
k=8.61733E-5; % Boltzman constant
Ea=1.0; % Activation energy
e=1.6E-19; % electron charge
Z=1; % Number of valence
ZB=1.38E-23; % Boltzman constant
dia=24*60*60; % days
ano = 365*dia; % years
% ======== Diffusivity and Temperature by layer =============%
for count =1:1:length(layer)
if
   layer(count)==1
T(count)=T metal(1);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(1)))); % Diffusivity
end
   layer(count)==2
if
T(count)=T_metal(2);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(2)))); % Diffusivity
end
   layer(count)==3
if
T(count)=T_metal(3);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(3)))); % Diffusivity
end
if layer(count)==4
T(count)=T_metal(4);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T metal(4)))); % Diffusivity
end
if
    layer(count)==5
T(count)=T metal(5);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T metal(5)))); % Diffusivity
end
   layer(count)==6
if
T(count)=T metal(6);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(6)))); % Diffusivity
end
```

```
layer(count)==7
if
T(count)=T_metal(7);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(7)))); % Diffusivity
end
if
   layer(count)==8
T(count)=T_metal(8);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(8)))); % Diffusivity
end
    layer(count)==9
if
T(count)=T metal(9);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T metal(9)))); % Diffusivity
end
if
    layer(count)==10
T(count)=T metal(10);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T metal(10)))); % Diffusivity
end
if
   layer(count)==11
T(count)=T metal(11);
D=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(11)))); % Diffusivity
end
   layer(count)==12
if
T(count)=T metal(12);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(12)))); % Diffusivity
end
    layer(count)==13
if
T(count)=T_metal(13);
D=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(13)))); % Diffusivity
end
   layer(count)==14
if
T(count)=T metal(14);
D(count)=Do*(exp(-Ea/(k*T_metal(14)))); % Diffusivity
end
% Resistance change calculation
deltaR_Ro(count)=((A(count).*j11(count)*rho_b*D(count)*e*Z*1*ano)./
(A b(count).*ll2(count)*ZB*T(count)));
% Percentual Resistance change calculation
deltaR_Ro_porcentagem(count)=100*((A(count).*j11(count)*rho_b*D(count))
*e*Z*2*ano)./(A b(count).*ll2(count)*ZB*T(count)));
```

end

nb = nb + 1;

```
deltaR_Ro= deltaR_Ro'; % Matriz transposed
deltaR_Ro_porcentagem=deltaR_Ro_porcentagem'; % Matriz transposed
max(100*deltaR_Ro); % Maximum resistance change
min(100*deltaR_Ro); % Minimum resistance change
%%%%%%%%%%%%% Evaluation of the interconnect %%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%%
%Table with the interconnect data
dados3b = table(net1,layer,ll1,w1,i1,j1,deltaR_Ro,deltaR_Ro_porcentagem) %
% -----
                   Evaluation of the critical lines
                                                    _____%
% ------ CRITERION 1: Comparation with the Jmax ------%
nj = 0; % Number of critical interconnects due to current density criterion
%jmax=2E10;
jmax=2E3 % Ampere por metro;
for c=1:1:length(layer)
if (j1(c)>(1*jmax))
condicao_j(c) = 1;
nj = nj + 1;
else
condicao_j(c) = 0;
end
end
% ----- CRITERION 2: Comparation with the Blech Product------%
nb = 0;
%JLmax=1E5; % Ampere per meter - Aluminum
JLmax=3.7E5; % Ampere per meter - Cooper
for d=1:1:length(layer)
if (j11(d)*112(d)>(JLmax))
condicao_b(d) = 1;
```

```
else
condicao_b(d) = 0;
end
end
% ----- Two criteria above
                                               -----%
njb0 =0;
margem=1.0;
for cf=1:1:length(layer)
if ((j1(cf)>(margem*jmax))||(j11(cf)*ll2(cf)>margem*(JLmax)))
condicao jb0(cf) = 1;
njb0 = njb0 + 1;
else
condicao_jb0(cf) = 0;
end
end
g=0;
% ----- Lines Prone to Failure
                                                 -----%
njb =0;
margem=1.0;
for cf=1:1:length(layer)
if ((j1(cf)>(margem*jmax))||(j11(cf)*ll2(cf)>margem*(JLmax)))
condicao_jb(cf) = 1;
njb = njb + 1;
else
condicao_jb(cf) = 0;
end
end
% ----- CRITERION 3: Comparation with the delta_R_critico-----%
nr = 0;
delta_R_critical=0.1;
for c=1:1:length(layer)
if (deltaR_Ro(c)>delta_R_critical)
```

```
condicao_r(c) = 1;
nr = nr + 1;
else
condicao_r(c) = 0;
end
end
% ------ Critical based on the 3 criteria------%
for g=1:1:length(layer)
% Critical for the 3 criteria
A1(g)= condicao_j(g)*condicao_b(g)*condicao_r(g);
% Critical for the jmax and resistance change criteria
B1(g)= condicao j(g)*condicao r(g)-A1(g);
% Critical for the resistance change and Blech criteria
C1(g) = condicao b(g)*condicao r(g)-A1(g);
% Critical for the jmax and Blech criteria
D1(g) = condicao_b(g)*condicao_j(g)-A1(g);
end
% Number of critical lines for each criterion
A1=sum(A1); B1=sum(B1); C1=sum(C1); D1=sum(D1);
E1 = nr - A1 - B1 - C1;
F1 = nj - A1 - B1 - D1;
G1 = nb - A1 - C1 - D1;
% -----
                                            -----%
                             REPORT
report1=table(net1,condicao_j',condicao_r', condicao_b');
% ------ Width of the lines based on the EM criteria ------%
a=1;
aa=1;
```

```
njbr=0;
tempo=2*ano;
for ddd=1:1:length(layer)
% Width based on the Jmax (nm)
w_j(ddd)=i1(ddd)/jmax;
% Width based on the Blech (nm)
w bl(ddd)=((i1(ddd)*112(ddd))/t(ddd))/JLmax;
% Width based on the resistance change (nm)
alfa(ddd)=((Z*e*rho_b*D(ddd)*i1(ddd)*tempo)/(T(ddd)*112(ddd)*ZB*t_b))
*delta R critical;
beta(ddd) = -2*w b*(1+t(ddd)/t b)
w r(ddd)=alfa(ddd)-beta(ddd);
% Width based on the jmax and Blech (nm)
w m1(ddd)=max(w j(a),w bl(a))
% Width based on the jmax, Blech and resistance change (nm)
w_m(ddd) = max(w_m1(a), w_r(a))
% Width recommended based EM criteria (nm)
if ((condicao_j(ddd)||condicao_r(ddd))||condicao_b(ddd) )
situacao(ddd)=1;
net_critica(a)=net1(ddd);
w_rec1(a)=max(w_j(ddd),w_bl(ddd))
w_rec(a)=1E9*max(w_rec1(a),w_r(ddd))
njbr=njbr+1;
else
situacao(ddd)=0;
end
if (condicao j(ddd)||condicao b(ddd) )
aa=aa+1;
end
a=a+1;
end
```
```
% ----- Report of the interconnect dimensions
                                                      -----%
report2=table( net1, w_j'*1E9, w_bl'*1E9, w_r'*1E9,w_m'*1E9);
report2.Properties.VariableNames = {'Critical_net' 'w_j_nm' 'w_bl_nm'
'w_r_nm' 'recommended_w_nm'}
% ------ Design to mantain the expected circuit lifetime
                                                           -----%
% ------ DeltaR/Ro = delta_R_critical ------%
h=L int(1);
for ddd=1:1:length(layer)
% -----
           Design to mantain the expected circuit lifetime ------%
% -----%
tempo=1*ano;
alfa(ddd)=((Z*e*rho b*D(ddd)*i1(ddd)*tempo)/(T(ddd)*112(ddd)*ZB*t b))
*delta R critical;
beta(ddd) = -2*w_b*(1+t(ddd)/t_b)
w_em_1(ddd)=1E9*(alfa(ddd)-beta(ddd)); % Largura em nano
if w_{em_1(ddd)} < 60
w em 1(ddd)=60;
end
% -----% 2 years -----%
tempo=2*ano;
alfa(ddd)=((Z*e*rho_b*D(ddd)*i1(ddd)*tempo)/(T(ddd)*112(ddd)*ZB*t_b))
*delta_R_critical;
beta(ddd) = -2*w_b*(1+t(ddd)/t_b)
w em 2(ddd)=1E9*(alfa(ddd)-beta(ddd)); % Largura em nano
if w_em_2(ddd) < 60
w_em_2(ddd)=60;
end
% -----% 5 years -----%
tempo=5*ano;
alfa(ddd)=((Z*e*rho b*D(ddd)*i1(ddd)*tempo)/(T(ddd)*ll2(ddd)*ZB*t b))
*delta R critical;
beta(ddd) = -2*w_b*(1+t(ddd)/t_b)
w em 5(ddd)=1E9*(alfa(ddd)-beta(ddd)); % Largura em nano
```

```
if w_{em_5(ddd) < 60}
w_em_5(ddd)=60;
end
end
report3=table( net1, w_em_1', w_em_2', w_em_5');
report3.Properties.VariableNames = {'Critical_net' 'one_year'
'two_years' 'five_years'}
% ======= Evaluate if the line is oversized or undersized ========%
% -----
                                                                      ----%
           Compare the width as the designed with the suggested
h=L_int(1);
cont under=0;
cont over=0;
cont normal=0;
for ddd=1:1:length(layer)
if (w m(ddd) > w1(ddd))
undersized(ddd) = 1;
normal(ddd)=0;
cont_under=cont_under+1;
end
if (w_m(ddd) < w1(ddd))
undersized(ddd) = 0;
oversized(ddd) = 1;
cont_over=cont_over+1;
normal(ddd)=0;
end
if(w_m(ddd) == w1(ddd))
undersized(ddd) = 0;
oversized(ddd) = 0;
normal(ddd)=1;
cont normal=cont normal+1;
end
end
```

%labels={'Non-critical', 'Critical'};

```
% -----
                                              -----%
                          Width suggested
margem=1.0;
line_over=0;
line under=0;
for cf=1:1:length(layer)
if condicao_jb(cf)*condicao_r(cf) == 1
w_recom2(cf)=max(w_j(cf), w_bl(cf));
w_recom1(cf)=max(w_recom2(cf), w_r(cf));
w_recom(cf)=max(w_recom1(cf), wmin(1));
line over=1+line over;
elseif condicao jb(cf)*condicao r(cf) == 0
w_recom1(cf)=max(w_j(cf), w_bl(cf));
w_recom(cf)=max(w_recom1(cf), wmin(1));
line under=line under+1;
end
end
% ------ Report with the widths ------%
dados_resultados.Properties.VariableNames =
{'net' 'l_um' 'w_um' 'i_uA' 'Jmax' 'R_RO' 'Bl' 'Crit' 'w1_um' 'w2_um'
'w5_um' 'under'}
createfigure2
net_critica'
"number of critical interconnects = "
cut=[1 0];
figure(1);
% Número de linhas críticas devido ao critério da densidade de corrente
%labels={'Non-critical', 'Critical'};
ax1=subplot(2,3,1);
X1 = [length(layer)-nj nj];
pie(ax1,X1,cut);
% Create textbox
%annotation('textbox', [0.2 0.47 0.06 0.26],'String', {'J_m_a_x criterion'},
'LineStyle', 'none');
% Número de linhas críticas devido a um dos critérios
```

```
183
```

```
ax2=subplot(2,3,2);
X2 = [length(layer)-nb nb];
pie(ax2,X2,cut);
% Número de linhas críticas devido ao critério do produto de Blech
%labels={'Non-critical', 'Critical'};
ax3=subplot(2,3,3);
X3 = [length(layer)-njb0 njb0];
pie(ax3,X3,cut);
% Número de linhas críticas devido ao critério da resistência crítica
%labels={'Non-critical', 'Critical'};
ax4=subplot(2,3,4);
X4 = [length(layer)-njb njb];
pie(ax4,X4,cut);
% Número de linhas oversized
%labels={'Non-critical', 'Critical'};
ax5=subplot(2,3,5);
X5 = [length(layer)-nr nr];
pie(ax5,X5,cut);
% Número de linhas críticas devido a densidade de corrente
%labels={'Non-critical', 'Critical'};
ax6=subplot(2,3,6);
X6 = [length(layer)-njbr njbr];
pie(ax6,X6,cut);
"number of undersized interconnects = "
cont_under
figure(2);
venn([4,4,4], [1 1 1 1])
lgd = legend({'J_m_a_x', 'Blech product', '\DeltaR/R_0'}, 'FontSize',24,
'TextColor', 'black')
axis off
```

```
text(0.65,1.7,num2str(E1),'Color',[1 1 1],'FontSize',40)
% Plotar o número de criticas devido a jmax
text(-0.4,-0.5,num2str(F1),'Color',[1 1 1],'FontSize',40)
% Plotar o número dr criticas devido ao produto de Blech
text(1.7,-0.5,num2str(G1),'Color',[1 1 1],'FontSize',40)
% Interseção de dois pontos_blech_jmax
text(0.6,-0.2,num2str(D1),'Color',[1 1 1],'FontSize',40)
% Interseção de dois pontos_deltaR_jmax
text(0.0,0.7,num2str(B1),'Color',[1 1 1],'FontSize',40)
% Interseção de dois pontos deltaR blech
text(1.1,0.7,num2str(C1),'Color',[1 1 1],'FontSize',40)
% Interseção de três pontos
text(0.6,0.4,num2str(A1),'Color',[1 1 1],'FontSize',40)
% Plotar o número total de linhas
text(-2,2.0,'N = ','Color',[0 0 0],'FontSize',32)
text(-1.7,2.0,num2str(length(layer)),'Color',[0 0 0],'FontSize',32)
% Plotar o número total de linhas criticas devido aos três critérios
text(-2,1.6,'Nc = ','Color',[0 0 0],'FontSize',32)
text(-1.6,1.6,num2str(length(layer)-sum(situacao)),'Color',[0 0 0],
'FontSize',32)
under_1b=0;
for count=1:1:length(layer)
if w1(count)<0.95*w m(count)
under 1b=under 1b+1;
v_a(count)=2;
elseif w1(count)>1.05*w m(count)
over_1b=under_1b+1;
v a(count)=1;
```

else v_a(count)=0; end end

APPENDIX E – Dual-Damascene Fabrication Process

The copper interconnects introduced by IBM with the assistance from Motorola in 1997 required the introduction of barrier metal layers to isolate the silicon from the copper atoms, since diffusion of copper into silicon forms deep-level traps.

In a damascene process the dielectric is first deposited onto the substrate, which is then patterned and filled by metal deposition. The dual-damascene process is characterized by patterning the vias and trenches, in such a way that the metal deposition fills both at the same time [4,6]. Figure E.1 depicts the process steps for fabricating a typical copper dual-damascene interconnect.

A new technique named Dual damascene was created to reproduce interconnect structures based on conductive copper metal lines inlaid into an oxide or low dielectric constant nonconductive layer. In this process, the underlying insulating layer is patterned with open trenches, as illustrated in Figure E.1(a). This is followed by the deposition of a diffusion barrier which is typically a Ta-based layer, Figure E.1(b). After the deposition of the diffusion barrier, a thin Cu seed is deposited by physical vapor deposition (PVD) followed by the electroplating of Cu, which fills the via and trench. The excess Cu is removed by a chemical mechanical polishing process (CMP) and an etch stop layer (also called capping layer), typically SiN based, is deposited. In this way, the complete interconnect structure can be produced by repeating these process steps for each level of metallization. With successive layers of insulator and copper, a multilayer interconnect structure is created.



Figure E.1 – Cooper dual-damascene process: nucleation in (a) via and trench patterning,
(b) barrier layer deposition, (c) Cu electroplating and excess removal by CMP, and (d) capping layer deposition.

APPENDIX F – η and β for ΔT_{PT}

The transistors' self-heating in the FEOL results in a non-uniform temperature distribution in the metallic layers of the BEOL. The temperature change in each metallic layer is given by [133]

$$\Delta T_{PT} = \frac{P_T}{2\pi k_{eff}^{beol}} ln\left(\frac{z}{2h_0 - z}\right),\tag{F.1}$$

where P_T is the power dissipated by transistors, z is the distance from heat source, h_0 is the BEOL thickness, and k_{eff}^{beol} is the effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL given by [133]

$$k_{eff}^{beol} = \left[\sum_{n=1}^{m} \left(\frac{L_n^{via}}{k_{eff_n}^{via}} + \frac{L_n^{int}}{k_{eff_n}^{int}}\right)\right]^{-1} \cdot h_0, \tag{F.2}$$

where m is the total number of interconnect layers, L_n^{via} and L_n^{int} are the height of the vias and interconnects for a particular layer, k_{eff}^{via} and k_{eff}^{int} are the thermal conductivities of the via and the metallic layers, respectively.

Eq. F.1 represents a one-dimensional (1D) model which considers the heat flow through the various parts of a chip, including the silicon substrate, the FEOL, and the BEOL. The model was validated by three-dimensional (3D) finite element simulations and also through comparison with experimental data [133]. The results show a reasonable agreement of the temperature in the metallic layers for regions which are not very close to the heat sources. Eq. F.1 has a lower accuracy in regions close to the heat sources [133], where the 3D nature of the heat flow problem becomes more evident. Here, 3D models are more accurate, but they are too time-consuming and cannot be easily integrated in the design flow, mainly for IC technologies below 45 nm with structures that involves more than 10 layers.

It should be pointed out that, although F.1 is essentially an 1D model, as previously mentioned, the effect of the substrate, the FEOL, and the BEOL have been considered. The heat flows mainly through the substrate, while a fraction considerably smaller flow through the BEOL [131, 241].

The thermal conductivities of the via and the interconnects layers depend on the fraction volume of vias (V_{via}) and lines (V_{int}) , respectively, relative to the complete volume of the specific layer. The k_{eff}^{via} , given by F.3, varies with the thermal conductivity of the metal (k_m) and insulating (k_i) materials as [242]

$$k_{eff}^{via} = k_m V_{via} + k_i (1 - V_{via}).$$
(F.3)

The thermal conductivity of the interconnects is given by

$$k_{eff}^{int} = \beta k_i \frac{1 + \eta V_{int}}{1 - V_{int}},\tag{F.4}$$

where β and η are related to the thermal conductivities of the materials through [133]

$$\beta = \frac{L_{11}(k_m - k_i)}{k_i + L_{11}(k_m - k_i)},\tag{F.5}$$

$$\eta = \beta \left(\frac{1}{L_{11}} - 1\right),\tag{F.6}$$

with

$$L_{11} = \frac{a_r^2}{2(a_r^2 - 1)} - \frac{a_r}{2(a_r^2 - 1)^{3/2}} \cosh^{-1}a_r,$$
(F.7)

which depends on the average aspect ratio a_r of the wire, i.e. the ratio between the length and the height of the wire [133, 243].

Fig. F.1 shows η and β as a function of the a_r . Considering the Metal 1 layer from a 45 nm technology, a line with a height of 130 nm and a length of 10 μ m has an a_r equal to 76.9. This value gives an η and β of 0.99. Short lines, with length smaller than 2.5 μ m, exhibit a_r inferior to 20. Below this value, the η and β curves show a significant difference. In this work the dimensionless parameters η and β are approximated to 1 for interconnect lines with dimensions above 10 μ m [133].

Fig. F.2 shows the effective thermal conductivity of the Metal 1 layer as a function of a_r with the metal volume fraction (V_{int}) as a parameter. As expected from the previous curves, the k_{eff}^{int} is constant for a_r values superior to 20. The thermal conductivity of the Metal 1 layer increases as the fraction volume of the lines change from 20% to 40%. With a V_{int} of 20% and a_r of 20, the k_{eff}^{int} is 2.08. The k_{eff}^{int} increases to 3.24, for a V_{int} of 40%, a variation of 55.7%. This demonstrates that the V_{int} has a more significant influence on the thermal conductivity than the a_r parameter.

Fig. F.3 shows the effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL (k_{eff}^{beol}) as a function of a_r and V_{int} . A k_{eff}^{beol} of 3.29 W/K.m is obtained for a V_{int} of 20%. The conductivity increases to 3.99 for V_{int} of 30%, a change of 21.3%. As before, increasing the fraction volume of the lines results in a larger thermal conductivity for the BEOL.



Figure F.1 – Parameters β and η as a function of the average aspect ratio a_r .



Figure F.2 – Effective thermal conductivity of the Metal 1 layer as a function of the average aspect ratio (a_r) for $h_0 = 11720$ nm and $L_1^{int} = 130$ nm.

Fig. F.4 shows the temperature variation (ΔT_{PT}) of the Metal 1, Metal 2, and Metal 3 layer as a function of k_{eff}^{int} for a power dissipation of 500 W/m. As expected, being closer to the FEOL, the power dissipations source, the Metal 1 layer exhibits the highest temperature. Observe that the k_{eff}^{int} can affect significantly the temperature of the layers. For a Metal 1 with k_{eff}^{int} of 40% its temperature is reduced by 34 K, a reduction of 33.3%. As the electromigration is more critical for lines under elevated temperatures and current densities, the lines with reduced k_{eff}^{int} and near the heat source are more susceptible to high temperatures and, thus potentially critical regarding EM failures.



Figure F.3 – Effective thermal conductivity of the BEOL as a function of the average aspect ratio (a_r) with L_n^{int} and L_n^{via} dimensions from a 45 nm technology.



Figure F.4 – Temperature variation in the Metal1, Metal2 and Metal 3 layers, as a function of the fraction volume of lines (k_{eff}^{int}) .

The importance of studying the temperature distribution on the BEOL becomes more evident for the newer technologies, for which the metallic layers have smaller thicknesses. For example, the 10 nm Intel technology has a Metal 1 layer thickness of 36 nm, 3.6 times smaller than the thickness of the Metal 1 from GPDK 45 nm. This indicates that new technologies have a reduced distance between the metal layers and the transistors. Consequently, the BEOL is more affected by temperature changes due the self-heating from the transistors.

APPENDIX G – Interconnects of the Opamp

The list of the interconnect paths for the operational amplifier of Section 5.3 is shown in Tables G.1 to G.4.

Path	Layer	W (μ m)	L (µm)	J/j _{max}	R (ohm)
'outm'	2	0.4	22.395	1.478	0.3296
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	1.419	0.1419
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	1.301	0.1419
'AVDD'	3	0.5	14.05	1.447	1.697
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	1.182	0.1419
'AVDD'	2	1.7	4.825	1.232	0.3487
'AVDD'	2	1.7	4.075	1.232	0.1448
'AVDD'	2	1.7	3.988	1.12	0.135
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	1.064	0.1419
'outm'	3	0.6	13.69	0.982	1.378
'outm'	3	0.6	14.24	0.982	1.433
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	0.9459	0.1419
'net044'	1	0.25	7.425	0.3241	2.186
'net044'	1	0.25	9.605	0.3241	2.839
'net044'	1	0.25	4.835	0.3241	1.423
'outp'	3	0.5	14.24	1.18	1.72
'outp'	3	0.5	13.68	1.18	1.671
'AVSS'	2	1.6	0.9365	1.098	0.1084
'AVSS'	2	1.6	12.848	1.098	0.4849
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	1.052	0.06568
'AVDD'	2	0.69	19.115	1.046	0.1668
'net044'	2	0.25	6.77	0.2971	1.634
'net044'	2	0.25	5.175	0.2971	1.249
'net044'	2	0.25	5.175	0.2971	1.314
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	0.8277	0.1419
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.9615	0.06568
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.978	0.08228
'outp'	2	0.4	2.575	0.9771	0.3816
'outm'	2	0.4	2.585	0.9771	0.3829
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.8706	0.06568
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.9098	0.08228
'AVDD'	2	1.7	2.515	0.6965	0.08936
'AVDD'	1	0.18	0.8455	0.926	0.3218

Table G.1 – EDA data of the Opamp paths.

Path	Layer	W (μ m)	L (µm)	J/j _{max}	R (ohm)
'AVDD'	1	0.18	6.395	0.926	2.529
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	0.7094	0.1419
'AVDD'	3	0.5	14.14	0.913	1.708
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.6911	0.0405
'outp'	2	0.665	2.269	0.8855	0.2057
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.7797	0.06568
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.8415	0.08228
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.85	0.08538
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.6804	0.0405
'net 044 '	2	0.25	1.14	0.2228	0.2754
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.6696	0.0405
'net 019 '	2	0.25	1.1	0.3156	0.2658
'net019'	2	0.25	1.13	0.3156	0.273
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.7792	0.08538
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.718	0.06568
'net 044 '	1	0.06	0.375	0.08899	0.2879
'net 044 '	1	0.06	0.375	0.08899	0.2879
' $net044$ '	1	0.06	0.375	0.08899	0.2879
'net 044 '	1	0.06	0.375	0.08899	0.2879
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.332	0.954
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.332	0.954
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.332	0.954
'net22'	1	0.4	7.435	0.1762	1.367
' $net22$ '	1	0.4	9.605	0.1762	1.767
'net22'	1	0.4	4.845	0.1762	0.8906
' $net14$ '	2	0.08	1.54	0.3253	0.954
'net14'	2	0.08	1.54	0.3253	0.954
' $net14$ '	2	0.08	1.54	0.3253	0.954
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.3182	0.06568
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	0.2365	0.1419
'net044'	1	0.25	1.145	0.08104	0.333
'net019'	1	0.12	0.835	0.1217	0.5167
'net019'	1	0.12	0.835	0.1217	0.5343
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.2832	0.0405
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.2955	0.08228
'AVDD'	2	0.65	0.94	0.2661	0.08735
'AVDD'	1	0.1	0.295	0.2848	0.1873
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.2833	0.08538
'net044'	2	0.25	1.14	0.07428	0.2754
'net019'	2	0.25	0.94	0.1114	0.2271
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.2724	0.0405
'net019'	2	0.25	0.94	0	0.2271
'AVDD'	2	1.7	3.136	0.267	0.1114
'net019'	2	0.25	0.94	0.1114	0.2271
'net019'	2	0.25	1.74	0.1052	0.4204
'AVDD'	1	0.18	8.82	0.2518	3.455

Table G.2 – EDA data of the Opamp paths.

Path	Layer	W (μ m)	$L (\mu m)$	J/j_{max}	R (ohm)
'AVDD'	1	0.18	6.395	0.926	2.529
'AVDD'	1	0.18	17.605	0.2518	6.931
'AVDD'	1	0.18	17.605	0.2518	6.931
'AVDD'	1	0.18	7.275	0.2518	2.857
'AVDD'	1	0.18	5.995	0.2518	2.353
'AVDD'	2	0.65	0.94	0.1936	0.08735
'outp'	2	0.4	1.74	0.2443	0.2627
'outm'	2	0.4	1.74	0.2443	0.2627
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.2273	0.06568
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.2272	0.08228
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.2236	0.954
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.2236	0.954
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.2236	0.954
'net14'	1	0.25	11.41	0.2193	3.359
'net14'	2	0.08	1.54	0.2169	0.954
'net14'	2	0.08	1.54	0.2169	0.954
'net14'	2	0.08	1.54	0.2169	0.9853
'net019'	2	0.25	0.94	0.2166	0.2271
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.2125	0.08538
' $net22$ '	2	0.25	1.14	0.1114	0.2754
'net019'	1	0.12	2.1	0.06085	1.236
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.7733	0.08228
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	0.5912	0.1419
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.6588	0.0405
'outp'	2	0.4	17.405	0.7328	0.2627
'outm'	2	0.4	1.745	0.7328	0.2635
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.648	0.0405
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.7084	0.08538
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.705	0.08228
'AVDD'	2	0.65	2.508	0.701	0.2328
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.71	0.6856	0.06455
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.6373	0.0405
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.6258	0.0405
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.6137	0.0405
' $net14$ '	1	0.25	7.205	0.6579	2.121
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.64	0.06568
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.6375	0.08538
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.6368	0.08228
'AVDD'	2	0.65	0.94	0.6285	0.08735
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.5755	0.0405
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	0.473	0.1419
'net14'	2	0.25	0.29	0.6031	0.07006
'net14'	2	0.25	3.735	0.6031	0.9024
'outm'	2	0.65	0.02	0.599	0.001858
, AVDD,	2	0.69	0.94	0.5685	0.08228

Table G.3 – EDA data of the Opamp paths.

Path	Layer	W (μ m)	$L (\mu m)$	J/j _{max}	R (ohm)
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.5667	0.08538
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.5112	0.0405
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.549	0.06568
'net044'	2	0.25	1.14	0.1486	0.2754
'AVDD'	2	0.65	0.94	0.556	0.08735
'AVDD'	1	0.18	6.395	0.926	2.529
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.45	0.5556	0.8894
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.45	0.5556	0.8894
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.45	0.5556	0.9287
'AVDD'	1	0.18	11.41	0.5334	4.499
'net019'	2	0.25	1.74	0.2104	0.4204
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.5003	0.08228
'AVDD'	2	1.7	1.14	0.4469	0.0405
'outp'	2	0.665	0.94	0.4959	0.08538
'outp'	2	0.4	17.405	0.4886	0.2627
'outm'	2	0.4	1.73	0.4886	0.2612
'net22'	2	0.25	6.77	0.26	1.636
'net22'	2	0.25	10.35	0.26	2.499
'AVDD'	2	0.65	0.94	0.4835	0.08735
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1.74	0.4579	0.06568
'outm'	2	0.4	0.94	0.3547	0.1419
'net019'	2	0.25	0.94	0.2166	0.2271
'net044'	1	0.06	0.225	0.1187	0.1804
'net044'	1	0.06	0.225	0.1187	0.1934
'net044'	1	0.06	0.1875	0.1187	0.1407
'AVDD'	$\overline{2}$	0.08	1.54	0.4405	0.954
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.4405	0.954
'AVDD'	2	0.08	1.54	0.4405	0.954
'net14'	1	0.25	11.41	0 4386	3.359
'net14'	2	0.08	2.525	0 4338	1 57
'net14'	$\frac{-}{2}$	0.08	2.525	0.4338	1.57
'net14'	2	0.08	2.525	0 4338	1.57
'AVDD'	$\frac{-}{2}$	1.7	1.14	0.3826	0.0405
'AVDD'	2	0.69	0.94	0.432	0.08228
'outp'	$\frac{-}{2}$	0.665	0.94	0.425	0.08538
'net14'	1	0.1	2.505	0.4215	1.602
'AVDD'	2	0.65	0.94	0.411	0.08735
'AVDD'	2	17	1 14	0.3444	0.0405
'AVDD'	$\frac{1}{2}$	1.7	1.11	0.3323	0.0405
AVDD,	2	1.7	1.11	0.3263	0.0405
'Ibias'	1	0.08	11 41	0.3200	8.398
'AVSS'	2	1.6	1 74	0.3961	0.05568
AVDD'	$\frac{2}{2}$	1.0 1.7	1 1/	0.3155	0.00000
'net010'	2 1	0.13	2.105	0.0100 0.05274	1 105
'Ibiae'	1 9	0.10	2.100 1.65	0.00214	0.0066
101as	2	0.00	0.04	0.3033 0 3637	0.9900
, AVSS,	$\frac{2}{2}$	1.6	1.74	0.0007	0.06455
TINNN	4	1.0	T 1 1 T	0.0001	0.00400

Table G.4 – EDA data of the Opamp paths.